Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.
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ANNUAL RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 AND
RESUMPTION OF TRADING

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

. Revenue for the Year was approximately HK$72,557,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 45.5% over last year.

. Gross profit for the Year was approximately HK$10,641,000, representing a
decrease of approximately 47.9% over last year.

. Loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$127,733,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 29.4% over last year.

. Basic and diluted loss per share amounted to HK$0.41.

AUDITED ANNUAL RESULTS

Reference was made to the announcements of the Company dated 2 April 2024 and 8
April 2024 respectively (the “Announcements”) in relation to, among others, the delay in
publication of 2023 Annual Results and Annual Report, and the suspension of trading in the
shares of the Company (the “Shares”) on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange pending
the publication of the 2023 Annual Results and Annual Report. Unless otherwise specified,
capitalized terms used in this announcement shall have the same meanings given to them in
the Announcements.



The board (“Board”) of directors (‘“Directors”) of Imperium Technology Group Limited
(“Company”) are pleased to announce the audited consolidated results of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Year”),
together with the comparative audited figures for the year ended 31 December 2022 which
have been audited by and agreed with HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited and reviewed by
the audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”). The audited annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the full text of the annual report enclosed
hereto.

RESUMPTION OF TRADING

At the request of the Company, trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange
has been suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 2 April 2024, pending the release of the
2023 Annual Results and Annual Report of the Company contained in this announcement.
Application has been made to the Stock Exchange for the resumption of trading in shares of
the Company on the Stock Exchange with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 2 May 2024.

By Order of the Board
Imperium Technology Group Limited
Cheng Ting Kong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 April 2024

As at the date of this announcement, the executive Directors are Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, Ms. Yeung So Mui,
Mr. Lin Junwei and Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry; and the independent non-executive Directors are Mr. Fung
Tze Wa, Mr. Ting Wong Kacee, Mr. Tse Ting Kwan and Mr. Hui Ka Lung.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BERE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NF —E-EF T =E== —s=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT BT BT
Results E¥
Revenue U 25 233,567 186,364 161,124 133,101 72,557
Loss for the year ARaEEA
attributable to owners of EIRFERNERE
the Company (77,937) (80,215) (99,031) (180,884) (127,733)
Assets and Liabilities ZBERE&®E
Total assets BEE 225,660 223,770 288,494 246,422 100,929
Total liabilities =N 209,307 268,959 300,935 374,734 353,744
Equity attributable ZN/NGIEZ SN
to owners of JRE {i % 2=
the Company 18,591 (48,746) (14,647) (124,014) (252,577)
Loss per share BRER
Basic HARK 0.27) (0.28) (0.33) (0.58) (0.41)
Diluted g (0.27) (0.28) (0.33) (0.58) (0.41)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEEHR
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Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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In Hong Kong:
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The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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Bank of China
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CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited

P.O. Box 1093, Boundary Hall, Cricket Square
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Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE
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STOCK CODE
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

For other information relating to the Company,

please contact Corporate Communications Department
website: www.776.hk

e-mail: ir@776.hk

4 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2023

A RER

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman lIslands

BEEAMEERTELERME

ERENEHEIE

75 8 3818157 One Harbour Square 261802%=
FEFTRETT

TEEAE:

R@IRIT

EELESEZRITAERAR

EPHE:

REERTT

MR IT AR 2 B R A A

FEREITEROVBFERE

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited

P.O. Box 1093, Boundary Hall, Cricket Square
Grand Cayman, KY1-1102

Cayman lIslands

BEEROBFERTIE

BEEBEELABRAA
5B

B R E165%
RESBPOTE

R 40 1K 5%
0776

REEBR

BRARRINEMER -
57 Bt 4% 1B 2 AL BT

4B - www.776.hk
ET A ir@776.hk



TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the Board (“Board) of Director (“Directors”) of Imperium
Technology Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) and its audited financial results for the financial year
ended 31 December 2023.

In 2023, the economy of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
continued to recover steadily, and its economic development
maintained its leading position in the world. The GDP of the PRC
grew at an annual rate of 5.2%, outperforming market expectations.

During the year, while the global unstable business environment
posed challenges to various industries, the technological industry
develops well and the Group will invest resources in technology-
related businesses to seize market opportunities. In view of the
development of current technological industrial trend, the Group
has tapped into the blockchain games enabling the Group to
remain competitive in the technology influenced online game and
esports business segments, which in turn will broaden the Group’s
source of revenue and maximise the return of the shareholders of
the Company.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of board, | would like to express our sincere appreciation
to all our investors, customers, partners and shareholders for their
ongoing support, | would also like to thank my colleagues for their
invaluable contributions throughout the year.

Cheng Ting Kong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 April 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR D

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2023, geopolitics and inflation have brought uncertainties to the
global economy. In the World Economic Outlook Report published
by the International Monetary Fund, the global economic growth
rate was lowered to 3.0% in 2023, and the risks to the economic
outlook is expected to increase tremendously. However, the global
epidemic has brought huge home economy opportunities to the
gaming industry. According to the marketing report issued by
NewZoo, the total revenue in the global game market is expected to
reach US$184.0 billion in 2023, and the number of global gamers is
expected to reach 3.38 billion. It is also anticipated that the game
market will continue to grow in the next few years, and is expected
to reach US$205.7 billion in 2026, with a CAGR of 4.7% from 2021
to 2026.

The Group considers that the long-term development prospect
of the game market is positive and spurs the particularly strong
development momentum of blockchain games. The Group
will continue to seize corresponding market opportunities and
aggressively explore the game publishing business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, the Group’s total revenue decreased by approximately
45.5% to approximately HK$72,557,000 (2022: HK$133,101,000),
mainly due to decrease in sales from household segment and
esports segment. Loss attributable to shareholders of the
Company for the year was approximately HK$127,733,000 (2022:
HK$180,884,000). The Group’s Metasens project continue to
develop during the year and will continue to diversify its businesses,

especially in the game publishing and esports sectors.

Online Game business

Over the past year, our Group has continued to drive the operation
and development of mobile games and Web 3.0 games. In
response to changes in the broader environment and player
habits arising from the sharp fluctuations in the NFT market, we
have ceased the operation of “MetaSnake,” which was launched
last year. Meanwhile, the publicatiobn of “PetaRush” was also
terminated.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Nevertheless, our Metasens-related development project is making
ongoing progress. The focus of such project is to create the most
realistic virtual personas and social activities, allowing players to
experience unique role-playing and a wide range of interactive
features within the gaming space. Our goal is to provide a strong
immersive experience, and our development team will continue
to monitor the latest market trends to ensure our products meet
the latest hardware and user demands. Participants can create
unigue game characters, in-game items, digital collectibles, land,
and equipment. They can also own and decorate their virtual
spaces, like building their virtual homes, interact with other players,
experience scenes or games created by others, and engage in
various challenges and interactions within the game, thereby
creating their own virtual world. Since no significant improvement
has been seen in the business environment of the Group as well as
in the market, there are uncertainties in the fundings for completing
and publishing this project.

Moreover, with the mobile gaming market becoming more
casual and fragmented, leisure competitive games have gained
unprecedented popularity in the market. As a result, our team has
recruited a new studio this year specifically for developing casual
games. This studio is projected to launch its first casual game by
the end of this year or the first quarter of next year. The game will
be promoted in regions including Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macau,
Southeast Asia, and South America. We hope this will open a new
sector in the mobile gaming market for our Group.

In view of the current development trend of the technology industry,
the Group has tapped into the blockchain games sector since 2022.
The revenue from game publishing business of the Group was
approximately HK$20,796,000 (2022: HK$29,083,000); the segment
loss was approximately HK$71,649,000 (2022: HK$48,148,000).

Esports business

The revenue from esports business of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 was approximately HK$24,860,000 (2022:
HK$57,017,000), representing a decrease of approximately 56.4%,
mainly due to decrease in prize from esport game; the segment
loss was approximately HK$13,352,000 (segment profit of 2022:
HK$1,604,000). This includes provisions for relevant assets of
approximately HK$4,330,000.

NOVA Esports (Peacekeeper Elite) and NOVA Esports (League of
Legends: Wildrift) has achieved remarkable result during the year.
“NOVA-Paraboy” under NOVA Esports (Peacekeeper Elite) officially
became a player of the PRC e-sports national team’s of PEL, and
our team, representing the PRC e-sports national team, has won
the gold medal in Hangzhou Asian Games e-sports event. Our
team was also awarded the title of the sole representative sponsor
of China Division of the “PUBG Mobile Global Open 2024” World
Championship in the first quarter of 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR D

Also the Group has set up some new esports team to participate in
esports game “JREFEEIE”, ‘S LM and “EE 4" to diversify
our sources of income and strive for better performance in esports
business.

Cloud computing and data storage business

The revenue from cloud computing and data storage business
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$5,292,000 (2022: HK$12,447,000), representing
a year-on-year decrease of approximately 57.5%. The segment loss
was approximately HK$20,439,000 (2022: HK$51,626,000), mainly
due to increase in market value of Filecoin and Chia coins as well
as no impairment loss recognised on mining machines.

The Group will continue to negotiate with existing and potential
customers of the Group to the change in the uses of the Filecoin
and Chia mining machines. The Group may sell Filecoin and Chia in
market in order to increase capital inflow.

Household products business

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue from
household products business of the Group was approximately
HK$18,292,000 (2022: HK$32,424,000), representing a decrease
of 43.58% as compared with the corresponding period last year,
mainly attributable to the decrease in market demand due to the
continuing tension between China and the U.S.. The segment
profit was approximately HK$23,959,000 (segment loss of 2022:
HK$309,000). The Group will take initiatives to increase revenue
and reduce costs.

On 30 June 2023, the Company has entered into a sales and
purchase agreement with an independent third party, pursuant
to which the Company has agreed to sell, and the purchaser
has agreed to purchase 100% of the issued share capital of
JF Household Furnishings (Asia) Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Target Group”) for a consideration of HK$1. The
gain on disposal of subsidiaries is approximately HK$21,107,000
including approximately HK$16,677,000 from release of foreign
currency translation reserve. Also the purchaser assumed the
contingent liabilities associated with the economic compensation
payable in accordance with the relevant labour law of PRC
amounting to approximately HK$5,164,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Property investment business

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue from
property investment business was approximately HK$1,642,000
(2022: HK$1,332,000), mainly due to increase in rental income. The
segment loss was approximately HK$95,000 (segment profit of
2022: HK$798,000).

Money lending business

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue from
money lending business was approximately HK$1,673,000 (2022:
HK$798,000), mainly due to the increase in interest income from
customers. The segment loss was approximately HK$2,903,000
(2022: HK$1,684,000).

The Group’s money lending business was conducted through
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Best Gold Corporation Limited, to
grant loans including secured and unsecured to individuals and
enterprises. Whilst the Group has not granted any new loans during
the year, it strived to adhere to a set of comprehensive policy and
procedural manual in respect of loan approval, loan renewal, loan
recovery, loan compliance, monitoring and anti-money laundering
as disclosed previously.

The Group manages credit risk through review and credit approval
and post-transaction monitoring processes which are performed
by management. Before the loans were granted, an independent
assessment has been performed. The independent assessment
included but was not limited to background checking, such as
the identity documents (identity card, address proof, business
registration certificate, latest annual return), income or asset proof
of the borrower and guarantor, such as share certificates, bank
statements and security statements, the evaluation of the value
of collateral and verification of the authenticity of the information
provided, to ensure the recovery ability of the loan. Furthermore,
the Group will perform public search towards the borrowers to
ensure compliance with anti-money laundering and counterterrorist
financing ordinance. After the loan is granted, the Group will
still conduct the checks on the repayment history and results of
public search towards the borrower periodically to assess the
recoverability of loan, compliance with anti-money laundering and
counter-terrorist financing ordinance and possibility of loan renewal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had loans receivable with
outstanding principal amount of approximately HK$Nil (2022:
HK$3.4 million). The Group recorded interest income from loans
receivable of approximately HK$1.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: HK$0.8 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the management had reviewed the
historical accounting information to estimate the default risk. In
determining the default risk, factors including but not limited to,
the ageing analysis of the receivables, historical and forecast
occurrence of event of default, existence and valuation of the
collaterals. According to above ECL assessment, there is an
impairment loss of approximately HK$4.6 million incurred during
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$2.5 million) as the
borrower has only made limited repayments during the period.

Future Prospects

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to invest resources to
further explore the blockchain game and gradually build a large-
scale amusement park — Metasens with unique game facilities,
including real-time strategy games, role-playing games, simulation
and sports games, shooting games, action and adventure
games, by using future Web3.0 internet technology incorporating
blockchain technology, the Internet of Things, artificial intelligence,
and 3D images.

In addition, the Group will regularly evaluate the allocation of
resources among business segments to promote business
diversification and drive sustainable growth of the Group.
Furthermore, we will continue to adopt suitable cost saving
measures and evaluate the business operations to enhance the
financial position of the Group as well as maximize returns to our
shareholders.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group reported a
revenue of approximately HK$72,557,000 (2022: approximately
HK$133,101,000), representing a decrease of 45.5% from that of
the year 2022. The decrease in revenue is mainly due to decrease
of revenue from household products business in the PRC and
esports business.

Gross profit margin decreased from 15.3% in 2022 to 14.7% in 2023
due to the decrease of gross profit margin of esports business and
cloud computing and data storage business during the year ended
31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other income decreased from approximately HK$5,874,000 in 2022
to approximately HK$1,405,000 in 2023, mainly due to the decrease
in government grant and the decrease in bank interest income
and gain on disposal of esports players during the year ended 31
December 2023.

Distribution costs decreased from approximately HK$13,247,000 in
2022 to approximately HK$3,295,000 in 2023 due to the decrease
in marketing expenses for online game business during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Administrative expenses decreased from approximately
HK$132,005,000 in 2022 to approximately HK$90,056,000 in 2023,
mainly due to the decrease in share-based payment, staff costs
and legal and professional fee incurred.

Impairment on non-financial assets decreased from approximately
HK$43,963,000 in 2022 to approximately HK$33,458,000 in 2023.
Impairment on non-financial assets in 2023 was attributable to
impairment of the following intangible assets:

(i) impairment of intangible assets relating to the Esports
segment due to reduction in projected revenue resulting from
its poor performance during the year.

(if) certain online games terminated during the year, resulting
in the written off of relevant intangible assets, as the sharp
fluctuation on the NFT market in early 2023 has seriously
affected its sustainability.

(iii) impairment of games that have yet to be launched because
the Group has not demonstrated availability to sufficient
fundings to launch the games as previously forecasted.

Impairment of non-financial assets in 2022 was primarily due
to impairment loss recognised on mining machines for the
cryptocurrencies.

As the cryptocurrencies market stabilised during the year, the
Group recorded reversal of impairment on cryptocurrencies of
approximately HK$2,725,000.

Finance costs increased from approximately HK$12,203,000 in
2022 to approximately HK$16,793,000 in 2023, attributable to the
increase in loans from related parties during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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12 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR D

Income tax expense increased to approximately HK$590,000 in
2023 (2022: income tax credit of HK$254,000), mainly arising from
deferred tax charged during the year ended 31 December 2023.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FUNDING

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$10,189,000 (2022: HK$42,764,000) and
net current liabilities of approximately HK$208,024,000 (2022:
HK$71,295,000), the increase in net current liabilities is mainly due
to the reclassification of loan from related parties to non-current
position. Excluding current portion of the loans from related parties
of approximately HK$208,563,000 (2022: HK$78,270,000), there
was resulted in net current assets of approximately HK$539,000
(2022: HK$6,975,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had current liabilities
of approximately HK$258,755,000 (2022: approximately
HK$180,349,000). The increase in current liabilities was mainly
due to the reclassification of loan from related parties to non-
current position. Excluding current portions of loans from related
parties of approximately HK$208,563,000 (2022: HK$78,270,000),
current liabilities decreased to approximately HK$50,192,000 (2022:
HK$102,079,000).

The Group had no bank borrowings as at 31 December 2023 and
31 December 2022. The Group had loans from related parties of
approximately HK$299,387,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$266,623,000). The loans from related parties carried interest at
fixed rate and repayable within two years.

As at 31 December 2023, the ultimate controlling party of the
Company committed to provide unutilised loan facilities to
approximately HK$5,000,000.

Nevertheless, the Group will further seek for other financial
resources as alternative means to meet working capital
requirement.

BANK BORROWINGS

No bank borrowings as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2022.

Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GEARING RATIO

The Group’s gearing ratio, which was derived from loan from
related companies to total assets, increased from 108.2% in 2022
10 298.0% in 2023, as a result of the increase in loans from related
parties.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023 the Group had capital commitments
of approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$2,192,000), attributable to
acquisition of licensing right of online games.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had contingent liabilities
amounted approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$5,339,000) for the
economic compensation payable by a subsidiary in accordance
with the relevant labour law for the PRC.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND RELATED HEDGES

All transactions of the Group are denominated in RMB, HKD,
and USD, MYR, SGD and THB. The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk with respect to the fluctuation of RMB which may
affect the Group’s performance and assets. The Group has not
entered into any derivative contract to hedged against the risk.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed approximately 177
staffs. The Group’s remuneration to employees, including Directors’
emoluments, decreased by approximately HK$72,520,000 to
approximately HK$52,595,000 for the fiscal year of 2022 mainly due
to decrease in amortisation of share options granted in 2023 and
2022.

The Group reviews employee remuneration annually and rewards
its employees with reference to the length of services and
performance. The Group also has the liberty to grant share options
and bonuses to employees of the Group at the discretion of the
Directors based on the financial performance of the Group.

TREASURY POLICIES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and
funding policies, with a focus on risk management and transactions
that are directly related to the underlying business of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGNEBABZFHABE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, aged 49, who has been appointed as an
executive Director and the chairman of the board of directors on
21 September 2012 and 5 October 2012 respectively. Mr. Cheng
is the chairman of the board of directors and executive director of
Imperium Financial Group Limited (stock code: 8029) (“Imperium
Financial”), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
from 5 July 2013. Mr. Cheng’s wife, Ms. Yeung So Mui is an
executive Director of the Company.

Ms. Yeung So Mui, aged 48, who has been appointed as an
executive Director and vice chairlady of the board of directors on 1
September 2016. Ms. Yeung is the founder and a director of Sparkle
Life Charity Fund Limited. Ms. Yeung was appointed as a director of
Yan Oi Tong Limited on 1 April 2013. Ms. Yeung is experienced in
corporate management. Ms. Yeung was an executive director of Let
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 13883), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from 5 October 2010 to 20
July 2017. Ms. Yeung was an executive director of Times Universal
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2310), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from 10 October 2019 to 31
March 2022.

Mr. Lin Junwei, aged 28, obtained a Bachelor of Science
Degree in Accounting and Finance from the University of East
Anglia in 2018. Mr. Lin is currently the chief financial officer of
Imperium Green Power Limited and his primary responsibilities
includes the planning, implementation, managing and running of
all the finance activities, including business planning, budgeting,
forecasting and negotiations. Mr. Lin was an executive director
of Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2310), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and the
issued shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited from 10 October 2019 to 10 June 2022. Mr. Lin is
the nephew of Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, an executive Director and a
controlling shareholder of the Company, and Ms. Yeung So Mui, an
executive Director.

Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry, aged 33, holds a bachelor’s degree
in Science (Business and Management Studies) from University of
Sussex, England and a master’s degree in Science (International
Marketing) from University of Surrey, England. Mr. Yeung has been
investing in blockchain company since 2018 and has cofounded
EchoX which is an NFT related platform in early 2021, where he is
responsible for the implementation and supervision of corporate
budgeting and project operation. He has also been consulting
different blockchain projects for past few years and assisting
traditional companies to complete their digital transformation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Tze Wa, aged 67. He is a certified public accountant
and a director of an accounting firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Fung has
various years of experience in auditing, taxation and company
secretarial practice in Hong Kong. He obtained a master degree
in professional accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2000. He is a member of the HKICPA, the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants, the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong and the Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. From
April 2004, to September 2020, he had also been appointed as
the independent non- executive director of Citychamp Watch &
Jewellery Group Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and the issued shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
0256), and from September 2004 to September 2013, he was an
independent non-executive director of Jiwa Bio-Pharm Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability
and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2327). From April 2004 to March
2012, he was an independent non-executive director of New
Capital International Investment Limited, a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and the issued shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 1062). From January 2017 to September 2021, he was an
independent non-executive director of Freeman Fintech Corporation
Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 279). From May
2018 to June 2020, he was an independent non-executive director
of Shen Yuan Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the
Bermuda with limited liability and the issued shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 851).
From May 2020 to December 2020, he was an independent non-
executive director of China Wood International Holding Co., Limited,
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1822). Since August 2022, he was
an independent non-executive director of Shimao Group Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 813).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGNEBABZFHABE

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee, aged 48. He holds a Master of Laws
and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from City University of Hong
Kong. He is currently a member of The Hong Kong Bar Association.
He is interested in various issues of social concerns and he has
been an active pro bono adviser in the last 10 years. In 2020, the
Chief Executive of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region has
awarded the honour of Chief Executive’s Commendation Public
Service to him in recognition of his contribution to the society. From
10 October 2019 to 31 March 2022, he was an independent non-
executive director of Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2310), a Company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tse Ting Kwan, aged 48. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Business Administration. He is currently a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the HKICPA. Mr. Tse has over 10 years of experience
in auditing, finance and accounting. From December 2006 to
September 2020, he was the financial controller of Chinese People
Holdings Company Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 0681). Since
September 2015, he was an independent non-executive director
of Thelloy Development Group Limited, a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and the issued shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 1546). Since 1 June 2022, he was an independent
non-executive Director of Superactive Group Company Limited, a
company incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability and the
issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 0176).

Mr. Hui Ka Lung, aged 28, obtained a degree of bachelor
of science from University of East Anglia, Norwich, the United
Kingdom, in July 2016. He has been working as a business
manager in Television Broadcasts Limited, a company listed on
the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 511), where he is responsible
for market research and analysis and devising marketing plan for
clients, since February 2020. From November 2016 to June 2019,
he worked as a key account manager in Hyperion International
Group Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Li Tingting, holds a bachelor’'s degree in Chinese language
studies from Shandong Normal University. Ms. Li has been serving
as the chief executive officer of & 1B & M IS B A R A F (Wanhui
Suzhou Digital Technology Co., Ltd.*) (“Wanhui Suzhou”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since September 2020.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Li was employed by it & 45 % B
EHEREIMAER AR @M D 2AF (Beijing Changyou Space-Time
Software Technology Company Limited Fuzhou Branch®), a
company principally engaged in the operation of an online games’
platform and publishing of online games business, from 2003 to
2013 with her last position as the general manager of the sales
department. She served as the vice president of &M B & & E17
4% 8] F B2 2 7] (Guangzhou Okidea Marketing Planning Company
Limited*) from May 2014 to July 2016 and was mainly responsible
for the online game advertising agency business and media
relations. She has been serving as the chief operating officer of &
EAMBEEEBR AR (Fujian Tianshang Network Technology
Company Limited*) since July 2016 and is mainly responsible for
media operations and advertising for virtual reality games. She is
the founder of the esports team YQLZE 5 {E 4430 (YQL Esports
Club®) in July 2017. Ms. Li has extensive experience in the online
games industry, block chain technology applications and cloud
operation services.

Mr. Louis Kan has been serving as the Chief Creative Officer of
the Company since January 2022 and Deputy Operations Manager
of seven senses game company limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, since July 2021. He is responsible
for operation, project planning, arts and music of games. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Kan was employed by Geo Security Limited
from 2018 to 2021 with his last position as the Chief Operating
Officer. He served as Chief Operating Officer of Magnus Pro Hong
Kong from 2015 to 2018. Mr. Kan also served as Chief Executive
Officer of Golden Power Motor Service Limited from since 2014 to
2017.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGNEBABZFHABE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Luk Wai Keung, was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer
with effect from 30 April 2021. He obtained a Master Degree in
Business Administration from the Australian Graduate School of
Management of the University of New South Wales and a Bachelor
of Science in Engineering from the University of Hong Kong. He
has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and a Chartered Financial Analyst at
the Association for Investment Management and Research. Mr. Luk
has over 18 years of experience in the accounting and finance area.
He worked for an international accounting firm and held senior
positions in a number of listed companies in Hong Kong. He was
an executive director of the Company from 1 August 2016 to 30
April 2021.

Mr. Ip Ka Ki, was appointed as the company secretary with
effect from 31 March 2017. He obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Business Administration (Honours) in Accountancy from the Lingnan
University in 2003. He is a fellow member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He has over 15 years of
experience in accounting, auditing and finance. Since December
2017, he was an independent non-executive director of Vicon
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3878).
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The Board are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 19 January 2005 under
the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are
set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of financial position of this annual report respectively.

The Board do not recommend payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for cash
distribution amounted to approximately HK$42,967,000. Under
the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in
a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the financial year is as follows:

BEME
AEBFREEDENEDFBH NG AT ER
M aE19 o

% 7K
ARRFABRANEHFBRREATBRE
B 5E34 -

FEEFRMHER

RAFHRERERN TEFEFPREREDAMAEARE
EHEERRBENERDNT

Percentage of the Group’s
total Sales/Purchases

EREEHEE
KBHEE
The largest customer S PNEY S 19.0%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFEE 43.2%
The largest supplier A ERE 64.1%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate ARHEFER 94.8%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
of the Company (who or which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5.0% of the share capital of the Company) has any
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers and
five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Ting Kong (Chairman)

Ms. Yeung So Mui

Mr. Lin Junwei

Mr. Yau Chak Fung (resigned on 29 August 2023)
Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Fung Tze Wa

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee

Mr. Tse Ting Kwan

Mr. Hui Ka Lung (appointed on 1 December 2023)
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page 14 to
page 17 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
ROTATION

The appointment of each Director is subject to retirement by
rotation and, being eligible, offers themselves for re-election in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association. All of the
independent non-executive Directors has entered a service contract
with the Company for a term of 3 years and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company and the Corporate Government Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry, and
Mr. Hui Ka Lung will retire from office by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (“AGM”).

Mr. Lin Junwei and Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry has entered a
service contract with the Company, save as disclosed above, none
of the Directors has entered or has proposed to enter into any
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not expiring or determinable by the employing company within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in
Note 12 to consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received written confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors of their independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and both the Board and
the Nomination Committee considered that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (the “Associated
Corporations”) as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

EERAQAREMRBEZENRSD - A
BARORBEZTHEZRXE

T =F+ZA=+—H ESRKRFEMTH
S RARNRI R EEAEBER(EEREFHFKH
RBIEXVED ([ ER DM RG - BERG R
%#%Emﬁ %&% S Pl EXVEETR F
8O WAEAMG AR BRI RAE (B
BEREE %&%fh%%ﬁﬁhxw YE R
RAEEBNEERERAR)NBEESFRBEKH
%%MW$QTM%TEZXEMW%£ﬁ AR &
THBTAESETESRINEZETR(IRE
FRIDAMERARRRBRAMEELABWT

$WM|

/IITH\UHLV>5’§

Percentage of
aggregate interests
to total number of

Personal Family Shares in issue
Name of Director interests interests Corporate interests Total (Note )
EEng BAER RikEE AR @t A
HERTRH
BYZEAL
(h1i25)
Mr. Cheng Ting Kong - - 214,428,488 (L) 214,428,488 (L) 68.94%
BTHEE (Note 2) (Note 1)
(Hii2) (Hi1)
Ms. Yeung So Mui - - 214,428,488 (L) 214,428,488 (L) 68.94%
BEELL (Note 3)
(B #t3)
Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry — — 1,900,000 (L) 1,900,000 (L) 0.61%
BRREE (Note 4)
(K 4)
Notes: B 5
1. The letter “L” represents the Director’s interests in the Shares and underlying 1. FRILIRKREZSAARB K E BB EB RN RAEBE

Shares or, as the case may be, the equity interest of the Company or its
associated corporations.

2. This represents interests held by Mr. Cheng Ting Kong through Diamond
State Holdings Limited (“Diamond State”), which holds 214,428,488 Shares.
As Mr. Cheng Ting Kong has 100% interest in Diamond State, he is deemed
to be interested in 214,428,488 Shares.

3. Ms. Yeung So Mui is the spouse of Mr. Cheng Ting Kong. Ms. Yeung So Mui

is deemed to be interested in all shares held by Diamond State under part XV
of the SFO.
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4. This represents interest held by Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry through
Bluemount investment Fund SPC (“Bluemount Investment”), which holds
1,900,000 Shares of the Company. As Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry has 100%
interest in Bluemount Investment, he is deemed to be interested in 1,900,000
Shares.

5" The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number of Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2023 (i.e. 311,086,000 Shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of
the Directors or chief executives of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in register referred to therein, or which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company
had not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company
had not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significant to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year under review or any time during the year under review save
and except for the transactions disclosed as connected and/or
related party transactions in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, the Chairman of the Board and an executive
Director, (i) is a director and a beneficial owner of Imperium
Financial Limited (“IFL"), a company incorporated in Hong
Kong and a licensed money lender engaged in money lending
business under the MLO; and (ii) is a director and a substantial
shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) of Imperium
Financial which engages in money lending business through its
subsidiary, Imperium International Credit Limited (“lICL”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and a licensed money lender under
MLO.
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IFL and IICL competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

The Board considers that, having considered the facts that:

(i) Mr. Cheng is fully aware of his fiduciary duty to the Group
and he will abstain from voting on any matter when there is
or may be a conflict of interest;

(ii) The Group is a capable of, and does carry on its business
independently of, and on an arm’s length basis with the
competing business of IFL and IICL;

(iii) An executive committee will be informed to ensure business
opportunities and the performance of Best Gold Corporation
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company will be
independently assessed and reviewed from time to time;

(iv) Mr. Cheng will abstain from voting on any matter where there
is or may be a conflict of interest in accordance with the
requirements of the articles of association of the Company;
and

(v) Mr. Cheng will allow Best Gold Corporation Limited to remain
as an independent operating entity with its own management
team and distribution network and will not involve in its daily
management.

Since (i) all the major and important corporate actions of the
Company are and will be fully deliberated and determined by the
Board; and (i) any director(s) who is/are or deemed to be interested
in any proposed transaction(s) will have his/their interest fully
disclosed and will abstain from voting at the relevant resolution(s)
in accordance with the applicable requirements of the articles of
association of the Company, the Board is of the view that each
of the Relevant Directors does not, by himself or in an individual
capacity, competes with the Company and/or the business of the
Group. The Group’s interest is adequately safeguarded.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

Except of the above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
directors, the management shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or the substantial shareholders of the Company, or any
of their respective associates, has engaged in any business that
competes or may compete with the businesses of the Group or has
any other conflict of interests with the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, there was sufficiency
of public float of the Company’s securities as required under the
Listing Rules up to the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws in the Cayman Islands.

SHARE OPTION

On 29 June 2018, a resolution was passed in the 2018 annual
general meeting of the Company to adopt a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”).

The Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange has granted the
listing of, and permission to deal in the shares of the Company
which may fall to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options
which was granted and/or may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme subsequently.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme.

Share Option Scheme
Purpose

To provide an incentive or a reward to eligible persons for their
contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group.
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Participants

Eligible participants include:

Any directors or employees, consultants and/or advisers, the
eligible participants also include any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives, suppliers,
producers or licensors, licensees (including sub-licensee) or
distributors, of the Group or any person who, in the sole discretion
of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group.

Exercise price

Determined by the Board and shall not be less than the higher of:

(@) the closing price of (1) one share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets at the offer date, which
must be a business day;

(b) the average closing price of (1) one share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the (5) five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(c) the nominal value of the share on the offer date, provided
that in case of fractional prices, the exercise price per share
shall be rounded upwards to the nearest whole cents.

Total number of share options available for grant

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of share options
available for grant under the Share Option Scheme was 31,103,600.
The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options
granted under all share option schemes during the year divided by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the
year is 0.1.
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Total number of shares available for issue and
the percentage of the issued share capital that it
represents as at the date of this annual report

35,836,032 shares, being approximately 11.52% of the issued
shares of the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Not exceed 1% of the shares in issue in any 12-month period.

Period within which the securities must be taken up
under the option

Subject to the discretion by the Board and, in the absence of
which, from the date of acceptance to the earlier of the date on
which such option lapses and 10 years from the date of offer.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Subject to the discretion by the Board.

Acceptance of the option

Acceptance of the option must be made within 30 days after the
date of offer and HK$1.00 must be paid as a consideration for the
grant of option.

Amount payable on acceptance

HK$1.00 payable upon acceptance of the offer.

Remaining life of the scheme

The scheme will be valid and effective until 28 June 2028, after
which no further options will be granted but the provisions of the
scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other respects.
Options complying with the provisions of the Listing Rules which
are granted during the duration of the scheme and remain
unexercised immediately prior to 28 June 2028 shall continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant, notwithstanding
the expiry of the scheme.
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Employees and other eligible participants

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share

options during the periods ended 31 December 2023:
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BEREMEEKRBHEANL

2T

AIEREEHEIMT:

=FE+ZA=+—RHIEHEAA - XA

. Closing price
Number of share options of the Shares
BEEHA immediately
Lapsed/ before the date
Granted  Exercised  cancelled on which the
Exercise Outstanding  during the  duringthe  during the Outstanding at Share Options
Name Date of grant price Exercisable period at 1.1.2023 year year year 31.12.2023  were granted
R-B==f RZB-=F REBRER
-A-H FER&M/ T-A=t-R HAHARG
i1 Rt RS TEE TS i K AT FREE FERTHR B i A AT W E
HKS
B
Executive director
HIES
Yau Chak Fung 28.9.2021 11.04 1,555,180 options 3,110,360 - - (3,110,360) 11.04
(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
)22 —E--f 1,555,18017 %
AEZFTNE (ZEZZFNAZtN\BHE
ZER=-FAAZttA)
1,555,180 options
(28.3.2023 to 27.9.2031)
1,555,18013 1 I 12
(ZBZ=(=A-tN\BZE
ZEE-FAAZTHA)
Lin Junwei 28.9.2021 11.04 155,518 options 311,036 - - - 311,036 11.04
(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
Wig e —E--F 155,51817) B fh 1
AAZTNB (ZBZZ#AAZTNR
EZZ=-FAA=ttH)
155,518 options
(28.3.2023 t0 27.9.2031)
155,51817 B8 k18
(ZE-Z#ZF=t/)\RZE
ZE=-§AAZTLAH)
Yeung Tong Seng Terry 18.1.2022 17.14 1,555,180 options 3,110,360 - - - 3,110,360 17.02

BRK

—E-CF
—-A+NA

(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
1,555,18017 B8 IR 12

(ZE-ZFAA=TNH

EE=-FEAA-1tA)
1,555,180 options

(28.3.2023 t0 27.9.2031)
1,555,18017 & i 1

(Z2-=%=A-t/\RBRZE

“E=-FAAZT+A)

FENREEARAR

2023 £ 29



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHRE

Closing price
Number of share options of the Shares
RREHEA immediately
Lapsed/ before the date
Granted  Exercised  cancelled on which the
Exercise Outstanding  during the  during the  during the Outstanding at Share Options
Name Date of grant price Exercisable period at 1.1.2023 year year year 31.12.2023  were granted
R=BzZ% RZIBZ=F BEERER
-A-H ER%¥/ T-B=t+-A HAHARHG
#e RiEAH ke &S H RAT B EREH ERf BH H RAT B WHE
HKS
BT
Senior management
BRERE
Li Ting Ting 28.9.2021 11.04 500,000 options 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000 11.04
(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
EXy “Z--%nA 500,000 i ik 78
ZtAH (ZBZZ#AAZTN\BZE
ZE=-fAAZttA)
500,000 options
(28.3.2023 t0 27.9.2031)
500,00017 & i &
(ZE-Z#ZF=t)\RZE
ZE=-§AAZTLAH)
Luk Wai Keung 28.9.2021 11.04 155,518 options 311,036 - - - 311,036 11.04
(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
BER% it S2 155,518(7 B AR 1
AAZTNE (ZZZZFNAZtNHE
ZE=-§AAZTLA)
155,518 options
(28.3.2023 to 27.9.2031)
155,518(7 B R 1
(ZE-Zf5=R=-ft/NBE
ZR=-FAAZttA)
7,842,792 = - (3,110,360) 4,732,432




The fair value of the share options were calculated using the
Binomial Model (the “Model”). The inputs into the Model were as

follows:
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Share options with an
exercisable period from
28.9.2022 to 27.9.2031
BREZTESHH
“E__FAA=ZTNEE
—E=—fFhA=++tH

EEERE

BREZAREBDERAZEAER((EEDFE -

Share options with an
exercisable period from
28.9.2022 to 27.9.2031
BREZITESRS
—E-__FhA=+NHE
—E=—FhA=++tH

Share price at date of grant R BB E
Exercise price TEE

Expected volatility (per annum) & Hf S5 18 (5 &)
Expected life of share options & % # 78 Hi 4F Hf

BHRE X
= b A X
BREZANE

Expected dividend yield
Risk-free rate
Fair value of share option

HK$17.027% 7T
HK$17.147% 7T
81.16%

10 years4F

0.00%

1.61%
HK$35,360,8215 7T

HK$11.047% 7T
HK$11.047% 7T
78.61%

10 years4F

0.00%

1.43%
HK$34,456,2547% 7T

Fair values of the share options were with reference to the valuation
carried out by an independent firm of professional valuers.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price. The expected life used in the model
has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The risk free interest rate was estimated based on the yield of
5-year exchange fund note issued by the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority as of the grant date.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value
of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group maintains a mandatory provident fund (“MPF Scheme”)
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s and
employee’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on 5%
of the relevant income of the relevant employee (up to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000) and in accordance with the
requirements of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
and related regulations.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC,
the Group participates in defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes (“Schemes”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities in Yuyao, the PRC whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Schemes at the rate of 26% of the
eligible employees’ salaries. The local government authorities are
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees.

The Group has defined benefit obligations arising from one of its
subsidiaries, Cubinet (Thailand) Co., Ltd. Details of which are set
out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statement.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group has the following continuing connected
transactions (the “Connected Transactions”) and the Company
has fully complied with the announcement, reporting and/or
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules (where applicable):

1 On 10 August 2021, Seven Elements entered into the Second
Lease Agreement with Mr. Cheng pursuant to which Seven
Elements agreed to lease the certain Filecoin equipment,
storage facilities and auxiliary parts, which can generate up
to 8 pebibytes of effective storage mining power, under the
Second Lease Agreement to Mr. Cheng for the provision of
cloud computing and data storage services and mining of
Filecoin from 1 October 2021 to 30 September 2024.
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As Mr. Cheng is an executive Director and a controlling
shareholder of the Company, Mr. Cheng is a connected
person of the Company. Accordingly, the Second Lease
Agreement constitute a continuing connected transaction on
the part of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Financial year/period
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Second Caps

MBREE BH F-ER
From 1 October 2021 to 31 December 2021 —E-_—F+A-BEE—F+-A=+-— HK$6,000,0007% 7T
From 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 TR F-R—HEZE-_F+ZA=1+— HK$24,000,0007% 7T
From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 TR =f—-PB—HEZE-=F+R=+— E HK$16,000,0007% 7T
From 1 January 2024 to 30 September 2024 “E-NMF-A-BEE-_WFEANAZ=T+H HK$7,000,0007% 7T

On 3 July 2020, Seven Senses Game Company Limited
(“Seven Senses”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into the MOE License Agreement
with Imperium Entertainment Interactive Limited (“Imperium
Entertainment”) pursuant to which Seven Senses is authorised
to act as an exclusive agent in the designated places for the
operation and marketing of the Myth of Empires Game for the
period from 3 July 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 23 June 2021, Seven Senses entered into the MOE
Supplemental Agreement with Imperium Entertainment
pursuant to which Seven Senses and Imperium Entertainment
agreed to amend the terms of the MOE License Agreement to
the effect that the aggregate annual cap for the transactions
under the MOE License Agreement and the IC License
Agreement for each of two years ending 31 December 2022
shall be revised to HK$9,950,000.

On 28 December 2022, Seven Senses entered into the
MOE Supplemental Agreement with Imperium Entertainment
pursuant to which Seven Senses and Imperium Entertainment
agreed to amend the terms of the MOE License Agreement
to the effect that the aggregate annual cap for the License
Agreement for the year ending 31 December 2023 shall be
revised to HK$2,500,000.

As Imperium Entertainment is wholly-owned by Mr. Cheng,
Imperium Entertainment is a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the MOE License Agreement and
the MOE Supplemental Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions on the part of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

RZEZEFLA=-H ARANEE2E
MBAR Lt TREBARAR(LITE]) R
Imperium Entertainment Interactive Limited
(lImperium Entertainment]) &7 37 % B4 4 &% 5F
CRE A tﬁ%iﬁ?ﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁbiﬂtﬁ
NERRE B_T_ZTF+-A=ZHEZE

T _F+__A=+—HILHHEE E&Mfﬁ
B 4 5E BE K -

RZEBEZ—FAAA=+=H £t TtxH
Imperium Entertainment ] 3 75 B8 44 3% # 7t 1
# o Bt T = MlImperium Entertainment
A EER] HRMEFA R 2GR BwE
BHETAHERANEFEFABRETRIN
HE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—BLMAFE
BEFENFE LRARRIEE /59,950,000 7T °

RZZE-_F+-A-1+N\B  txHRFITE
MR T % 0 Bimperium Entertainment[d]
BT HEMEDT A RE 2BRK - HEH
ERBE_ZE_=F+-A=1+—HLLEFE
B FE LR #FE 5] 52,500,000 7T °

B 7 Imperium Entertainment (8 28 5 4 & & %
A ' Imperium Entertainment & &2 7] 2 4 18
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On 6 December 2019, Cubinet Interactive, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
License Agreement with Imperium Entertainment pursuant
to which Cubinet Interactive was authorised to act as an
exclusive agent in the designated places for the operation and
marketing of the Iron Conflict Game for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 21 August, 2020, Imperium Entertainment, Cubinet
Interactive Int’l Co., Itd and Seven Senses entered into the
novation agreement pursuant to which (i) Seven Senses
undertook to observe, perform, discharge and be bound
by the terms, conditions and covenants of the IC License
Agreement as if Seven Senses were, and had originally been,
a party to the IC License Agreement in place of Cubinet
Interactive; and (ii) Cubinet Interactive agreed to assign to
Seven Senses all it rights, title and interests in the IC License
Agreement.

On 23 June 2021, Seven Senses entered into the IC
Supplemental Agreement with Imperium Entertainment
pursuant to which Seven Senses and Imperium Entertainment
agreed to amend the terms of the IC License Agreement to
the effect that the aggregate annual cap for the transactions
under the IC License Agreement and the MOE License
Agreement for each of the two years ending 31 December
2022 shall be revised to HK$9,950,000.

On 28 December 2022, Seven Senses entered into the
IC Supplemental Agreement with Imperium Entertainment
pursuant to which Seven Senses and Imperium Entertainment
agreed to amend the terms of the IC License Agreement to
the effect that the aggregate annual cap for the transactions
under the IC License Agreement for the year ending 31
December 2023 shall be revised to HK$450,000.

As Imperium Entertainment is wholly-owned by Mr. Cheng,
Imperium Entertainment is a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the IC License Agreement and the IC
Supplemental Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions on the part of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

RZZE—AFE+—AXEB ARAFHEES
& [ff & /A &) Cubinet Interactive B2 Imperium
Entertainment] 32 #F Al i &% - #& It - Cubinet
Interactive E X HEE BN IEE H 77 & B &
HAWABBHEBNBRRE  BBH=F " 8
—TE_TF-A-BREE__F+_A
= — e

RZZE_ZFN A=+ — B Imperium
Entertainment ~ Cubinet Interactive Int’l Co.
TR ERITVEEWRSE Bt )t xEEH
BT UITRBITRIABSRT R 2 650
BHEERRBELTXENR BT ERR
RAERUNEEFAIBEN —T7 - ARK
Cubinet Interactive : } (ii) Cubinet Interactive
RIEGERUNBEFFrIE THERN - B
ERMERTHEETLLE -

WR—_ZE-_—F<XA-+=ZH £t xtxH
Imperium Entertainments] 37 24 A 8 55 #8 75 13
& It + 7T = Mimperium Entertainment
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TZA=T—BLEFENFE LREBEEE]
/3450,000/% 7T °
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Details of 1 of the Connected Transactions are set out in the
announcement and circular of the Company dated 10 August 2021
and 17 September 2021 respectively. Details of item 2 and 3 of the
Connected Transactions are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 23 June 2021.

The transaction amount and cap amount of the Connected
Transactions for the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:
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Maximum
Cap of the
Connected
Transactions for Actual Amount
Status of Connected Transactions 2023 Incurred in 2023
BEXS
R-EZ-= R-sE=-=
BEX S MRE WEELR EENERSE
HKD HKD
BT & T
1 Second Lease Agreement with Mr. Cheng 16,000,000 438,943
HEEETVNE _—_HHAEHZ
2 MOE License Agreement and MOE Supplemental Agreement with Imperium
Entertainment 2,500,000 25,279
EdImperium Entertainment &) 32 & 75 B 1% 5 57 Al 1 52 I 5 B 18 5 1 A 1 ik
3 IC License Agreement and IC Supplemental Agreement with Imperium
Entertainment 450,000 979

EdImperium Entertainment ] (2 892U A B B Er Al e R 2L A E S @ T &

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of

BEEEK

the whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the Year.

AUDITORS

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as auditor of the Company
on 18 October 2022 following the resignation of RSM Hong Kong
on 10 October 2022.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited was appointed as auditor of
the Company on 28 November 2023 following the resignation of
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited on 16 November 2023.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will retire as the Company’s
auditors at the end of the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
appointment, the resolution will be submitted to the annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited, as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Cheng Ting Kong
Chairman

30 April 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

The Group is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance and business practices. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG
Code”), amended from time to time, contained in Appendix C1
of the Listing Rules. As far as the CG Code is concerned, during
the year and up to the date of this announcement, the Company
complies with all aspect of the Code Provisions except disclosed
below:

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The role of chief executive officer
was shared among the members of the Board during the reporting
period. There is no time schedule to change this structure, as
the Directors consider that this structure provides the Group with
consistent leadership in the Company’s decision making process
and operational efficiency. The Board shall review this arrangement
from time to time to ensure appropriate and timely action is taken
to meet changing circumstances.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have fully
complied with the required standard set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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THE BOARD

The Board has a balance of skill and experience and a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive Directors and is
responsible for oversight of the management of the Company’s
business and affairs. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
responsibility to the executive Directors and senior management of
the Company. The Board does not delegate matters to Executive
Directors or management team to an extent that would significantly
hinder or reduce the ability of the Board as a whole to perform its
functions. The Company formalises the functions reserved to the
Board and those delegated to management, and management are
aware of the matters needed to report back and obtain prior Board
approval before making decisions or entering into any commitments
on the Group’s behalf. The Board would review those arrangements
from time to time to ensure that they remain appropriate to the
Group’s needs.

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprised of eight members,
namely the Chairman and three other executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors (the biographical details and
relationships between the Directors are set out on page 14 to page
17).

The Board considers that its diversity, including gender diversity, is
a vital asset to the business. The Board adopted a Board diversity
policy for better transparency and governance. Board appointments
are based on merit and candidates are considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service.

The Board oversees the Group’s strategic development and the
overall management of the Group. The Board also monitors the
financial performance and internal controls of the Group. The
Board members have a broad access to business documents and
information about the Group. Three Board committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee have been established to oversee particular aspects
of the Group’s affairs. The Board meets regularly to review the
financial and operating performance of the Group and to approve
future plans and development.
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All the Directors have actively participated in the review and
monitoring of the Company’s business. The Board meets regularly
and at least 4 times a year. Between scheduled meetings,
the senior management of the Group provides information to
the Directors on a regular basis regarding the activities and
development in the businesses of the Group. The Directors have full
access to information on the Group and independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will
be given written notice of the meeting at least 14 days in advance
and an agenda with supporting Board papers no less than 3 days
prior to the meeting. For other meetings, the Directors are given as
much notice as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting. All minutes
of Board and Board committee meetings are kept by the company
secretary to record in sufficient details the matters considered and
decisions reached by the Board or Board committee, including any
concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by any Director.
These minutes are available for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by any Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a total number of six
(6) Board meetings, three (3) Audit Committee meetings, two
(2) Remuneration Committee meeting and two (2) Nomination
Committee meeting were held. Minutes of these meetings are
kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection by the Directors.

The Directors are able, upon reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide
separate appropriate independent professional advice to the
Directors to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all existing independent non-executive Directors and considers
them independent.
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The Directors except for the independent non-executive Directors,
have no fixed terms of appointment but are subject to re-election at
the AGM of the Company in accordance with the Company’s article
of association. All of the independent non-executive Directors
has entered a service contract with the Company for a term of 3
years and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company and
the Corporate Government Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5, all directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Up to the date of this
report, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by attending training course or
reading materials on the topics related to corporate governance
and regulations or the Company’s business or their duties and
responsibilities.

Mr. Hui Ka Lung has obtained legal advice from Hong Kong legal
advisers on 12 December 2023 , as required under Rule 3.09D of
the Listing Rules and confirmed he understood his obligations as
a director of the Company upon his appointment as an INED on 1
December 2023.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year
ended 31 December 2023 is summarised below:

Name of Directors

EXEBEUATEFRINVEEBREREFH -
HARARB ZABERMADURKNAR R RBE
AREEREME -MABYERTESFHEERLRR
AR AHBFENRBEHN  AARBEARAK
ABERAR R AES T ARRMERCITE
MEXERTAWRESRIREEEE -

EEHA

BRETRGEXFEACLE  MEEER2EBESR
XBER G BRUTHEMBLZRE  ARFREHE
BEABEEEARYAMBEZERATHESS
FHEBM BEEAREAHL FAEEHEBL
HEERITEREEE ARMBARINEZIRE
FHEBARAAEBXREBEMBEREERN
TAMSEGENREZXEREY -

RIELETRAESODHENRE  FFRELER
RZE_=ZF+_A+-_HRABBEZEZBEMIG
ERER BAREHAR-_E_=F+"_A—H
BZERBUNFNTEZREEAARAEENE
£ o

REBE_ZT_=F+-_A=+T-HLFEARARE
EREZEI 2@ SR IT

Attending seminar(s)/
programme(s)/reading
relevant materials in
relation to the business
or directors’ duties

HEEEERESREEABEZ
EEgE BERE HEMEBEER
Mr. Cheng Ting Kong BT AL A& Yes &
Ms. Yeung So Mui BEBRZT Yes &
Mr. Lin Junwei MEIEEE Yes &
Mr. Yau Chak Fung Ef 2t Yes =&
Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry BRKSTE Yes 52
Mr. Fung Tze Wa HFESLE Yes =&
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee TREE Yes =&
Mr. Tse Ting Kwan HEHTE Yes 52
Mr. Hui Ka Lung TEELEE Yes 52
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the
Board. The Company embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

Pursuant to the Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve
Board diversity through the consideration of a number of aspects,
including, but not limited to, gender, age, culture and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
industry and regional experience.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates to serve as a
director of the Company, the nomination committee would consider
the above criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy
and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendations to the Board.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time
to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.

The Board currently has one female Directors out of 8 Directors,
and is committed to improving gender diversity as and when
suitable candidates are identified. As at 31 December 2023, the
gender ratio of the Group’s workforce was approximately 76%
male to 24% female. The Company’s hiring is merit-based and
non-discriminatory. The Board is satisfied that the Company has
achieved gender diversity in its workforce.

During the Reporting Period, the Board, through the Nomination
Committee, has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Diversity Policy and confirm that the Board has an appropriate
mix of skills and experience to deliver the Company’s strategy.

The nomination committee will review the Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group for the relevant accounting periods under
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of operations and
cash flows of the Group. In preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023, suitable accounting policies
have been adopted and applied consistently. Save as disclosed in
the section “Material Uncertainty Related to the Going Concern” in
the Independent Auditor’'s Report, the Directors are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The individual attendance records of each Director, on a
named basis, at the meetings of the Board, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out below:

ESHUBHRRNEM

EERERBEANZEZEREEERGEAKE

REBSAHEANMBERER EEAFHERA
SENEHBRL £EXERRTRE - RER

BHE_Z_=F+_A=+-BLEFENTBER
AE CCERMRARERAENETERE - K
BUGBMBEPERFECENERTHEEN]
—HiREEIN  EFUTABABAEMEERL
ERZEBRTHEN  JREHAKRENFEL
ERENBREKRER -

RBEE-Z-_=F+_A=+-BHULFE &S
ARt FRESTE BERZES FHZEGRE
HEBEMERLEARHIIWMT

Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend

bEE/EREEEENAH
Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Name of Director Board  Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting!
SRR Ezg ERZBE HFMZEE  REZEE RARAEAE
Number of Meetings EEYS § 3 2 2 1
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Cheng Ting Kong (Chairman) ITRAE(ZE) 6/6 - - - 1/
Ms. Yeung So Mui (Vice Chairtacl) BEERL(EE) 6/6 - = = 1
Mr. Lin Junwei WEEEE 6/6 - - - il
Mr. Yau Chak Fung BEEEE
(resigned on 29 August 2023) (R=F-ZFN\A-THREM) 44 - - - 11
Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry BRREE 6/6 - - - 17
Indepencient Non-executive Directors BUFHTEE
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BFELE 6/6 313 2/2 212 il
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee TEXE 6/6 3/3 2/2 2/2 17
Mr. Tse Ting Kwan HEGRE 6/6 33 9 9/ 11
Mr. Hui Ka Lung TEELE
(appointed on 1 December 2023) (RZBZZF+-A-REZf) 00 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
Note: B 5 -
1. 2023 Annual General Meeting held on 30 June 2023. 1. CECCEFERRBFAER-_E_=ZFRA=THET -
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring that the
Company has formal and transparent procedures for developing
and overseeing its policies on the remuneration of the Directors and
senior management. The committee’s authorities and duties are
set out in written terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee
comprises the following three members, all independent non-
executive Directors:

(i) Mr. Ting Wong Kacee, Chairman of Remuneration Committee

(if) Mr. Fung Tze Wa

(ifi) Mr. Tse Ting Kwan

(iv) Mr. Lin Junwei

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in
compliance with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Given below are main
duties of the Remuneration Committee:

(i) to make recommendations on the Company’s policies and
structure for all the remuneration of Directors;

(if) to propose the specific remuneration packages of the
executive Directors, and to make recommendations on the
remuneration of the non-executive Directors for the Board’s
approval;

(iii) to review and propose performance-based remuneration
for executive Directors by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;

(iv) to administer and make determinations with regard to the
Company’s share option scheme; and

(v) to review matters relating to share schemes under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.
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During the financial year, the Remuneration Committee performed,
considered and/or resolved the following matters:

Review the remuneration package of the Executive Director
and senior management for year ended 31 December 2023;

Recommend the remuneration package of Mr. Hui Ka Lung
as an Executive Director to the Board for approval.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written

terms of reference in compliance with the Code on Corporate

Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing

Rules. The Audit Committee comprises the following three

members, all independent non-executive Directors:

(i)

(i

(i)

Mr. Fung Tze Wa, Chairman of Audit Committee

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee

Mr. Tse Ting Kwan

Given below are the main duties of the Audit Committee:

(i)

(i)

(iil)

44 mperium Technology Group Limited

to make recommendations with respect to the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the Company’s external
auditor, and to evaluate their independence, objectivity and
effectiveness of the audit process;

to review and monitor the interim and annual financial
statements, reports and accounts of the Company, and to
review significant and judgemental financial reporting issues
contained therein;

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems; and

to discuss with the management the system of internal
controls, and to ensure that the management has discharged
its duties and responsibilities in implementing an effective
internal control system.

Annual Report 2023
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During the financial year, the Audit Committee performed,
considered and/or resolved the following matters:

Considering the annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 for the approval by the Board;

Considering the interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2023 for the approval by the Board;

Approval of external auditor’s scope, plan and fees of the
annual audit and the interim review;

Meeting with the external auditor and discussing their major
findings in the annual audit and the interim review;

Review the reports prepared by the external auditor relating
to the annual audit and the interim review;

Considering the effectiveness the external auditor, giving due
consideration to the quality and contents of their reports to
the committee, feedback from management and compliance
with relevant regulatory, professional requirements and their
independence;

Considering the safeguard of external auditor’s objectivity
and independence in proposed engagement in respect of
audit-related and permissible non-audit services; and

Assessment of the resign of existing auditor and appointment
of new auditor.

Review the basis for disclaimer of opinion of the Auditors
and address of effect on the Disclaimer Opinion.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules. The Nomination Committee comprises the following three
members, all independent non-executive Directors:

(i) Mr. Tse Ting Kwan, Chairman of Nomination Committee
(ii) Mr. Fung Tze Wa

(iii) Mr. Ting Wong Kacee

(iv) Mr. Lin Junwei

Given below are main duties of the Nomination Committee:

(i) to review the structure, size and composition (by taking into
account the criteria as set out in the Board diversity policy
adopted by the Company from time to time) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

(if) to review the Board diversity policy regularly (including
any measurable objectives that the Board has set for
implementing the Board diversity policy and the progress
on achieving those objectives); and make disclosure of its
review results in the corporate governance report of the
Company annually;

(iii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;

(iv) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

(v) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors in particular the
chairman and the president (chief executive officer).
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During the financial year, the Nomination Committee performed,
considered and/or resolved the following matters:

° Annual review on structure, size and diversity of the Board;

° Review the existing nomination policy and Board diversity
policy, and the implementations;

° Assessment on the independence of Independent
Non-Executive Directors and review of the annual
confirmation on the independence;

° Review of re-appointment of Directors who retired from
office by rotation at the past AGM and offered themselves
for re-election; and

° Recommendation of the appointment of Mr. Hui Ka Lung
as an Independent Non-Executive Director to the Board for
approval.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the fees paid/payable to
auditor of the Company for the provision of audit services and non-
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in the CG Code. Given below are the main duties of
the Corporate Governance Functions:

(@ to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e) to review the issuer’'s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility to maintain and oversee an
effective risk management and internal control system on
an ongoing basis in order to protect the Group’s assets and
shareholder’s interests. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are implemented to minimize risks to which
the Group is exposed. The systems can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses.

The internal control system includes a well established
corporate structure and organisation with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Each department is responsible
for its daily operations, and is also required to implement and
monitor the strategies and polices adopted by the Board and
effective employment of the resources of the Company, in order
to avoid misappropriation of resources and damages made to the
Company’s assets, and prevent against errors and fraud.
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The risk management framework includes identify significant risk
in the Group’s operation environment and evaluate the impact of
those risks on the Group’s business, develop necessary measure
to manage those risks and monitor and review the effectiveness of
such measures.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Board and management, with the assistance of the external
consultants, are responsible for designing, implementing and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarized as follows:

Risk identification

° Identifies the risk through discussion with the management
and directors of subsidiaries of the Company. Risk
identification and management questionnaire are used
to document the risks identified by the management and
directors of subsidiaries of the Company.

Risk Response

° Categories the risks into low risk, medium and high risk;
° Determines the strategy to handle the risk; and
° Develops the risk register and internal control audit plan and

determines the frequency of review and control testing on
key controls.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° On-going communication of monitoring results to the Board
which enables it to assess control the Group and the
effectiveness of risk management during the Year;

° risk questionnaires completed by the management, risk
register and internal control audit plan; and
° fact finding report with recommendations on the review and

testing of internal control on certain operating cycles and
areas.
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Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the
management of the Company, including analyzing and appraising
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. For the enhancement of the quality of
the internal audit, the Company has engaged an external consultant
to execute a certain scope of internal audit function to:

° facilitate the management’s process to perform the risk
assessment and evaluation; and

° conduct various agreed upon reviews on certain selected
operating cycles and areas in accordance with the
Company’s internal control audit plan.

During the year, the Board conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board concluded that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Company were adequate and
effective during the year.

INSIDER INFORMATION

The Company is fully aware of its obligations under the new Part
XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 and
the Listing Rules. The Board has adopted procedure and internal
control policy which contains the guideline to the Directors and
officers of the Company to ensure that the inside information of the
Company is to be disseminated to public in an equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.
Such policy provides guidance on the Company conducting its
affairs with close regard to the disclosure requirements under the
Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong in June 2012.

COMPANY SECRETARY’S TRAINING

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Ip has received no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to refresh his
skills and knowledge.
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WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

A Whistle-blowing Policy was put into effect for all levels and
operations in the Group to show zero tolerance towards corruption
and assist individual employees to disclosed malpractice or
impropriety within the Group. All employees must fully comply
with relevant local laws and regulations as well as the Group’s
own policies on the prevention of corruption. All employees have
a responsibility to raise concerns, confidence, about possible
improprieties such as misconduct and malpractice in any matter
related to the Group and report any suspected violations to
a supervisor or senior management. Such policy also aims at
protecting whistle-blowers from unfair dismissal, victimisation and
unwarranted disciplinary actions.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company has in place an anti-corruption policy within all its
employees, which forms part of the Company’s employees staff
manual. Employees are required to act with integrity and to report
any suspected bribery, corruptions and money laundering cases to
management or the Audit Committee.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going
dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings. At the forthcoming
annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate)
will be available to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

Having considered the implementation and effectiveness of
multiple channels of communication in place, the Board is satisfied
that the shareholders’ communication policy has been properly
implemented during the year and is effective.

Details of the Last General Meetings

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to
communicate directly with the Shareholders. Under Revised Code
Provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of the shareholders.
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Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, a special general meeting may be convened by the
Board upon requisition by any shareholder holding not less than
one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall
make a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
of the Company, specifying the transaction of any business in such
requisition.

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within two
(2) months after the receipt of such written requisition. Pursuant
to the Article 59 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Company shall serve requisite notice of the general meeting,
including the time, place of meeting and particulars of resolutions
to be considered at the meeting and the general nature of the
business.

If within twenty one (21) days of the receipt of such written
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene such special
general meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner,
and; all the reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the head office address
of the Company, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she
intends to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified
transaction/business and its supporting documents.

Annual Report 2023
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to the Company’s head office in Hong Kong
at Room 02, 26/F., One Harbour Square, No. 181 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company ensures that fair and transparent disclosure is
made for its business and financial performance through a
variety of formal communication channels. Information regarding
the Company will be published in its website: www.776.hk.
Interim and annual reports, circulars and notices of the Group
will be despatched to Shareholders in due course. The website
of the Company provides information such as e-mail address,
correspondence address, telephone numbers etc. for inquiries, and
provides information on business activities of the Company.

The Company’s AGM of Shareholders is a good opportunity for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. Notice of
AGM and related documents will be sent to Shareholders pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules, and will be published on
the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Company will also meet with the investment community and
respond to their inquiries about the status of the Company from
time to time, so as to strengthen the contacts and communication
between the Company and its investors.

Constitutional Documents

During the year under review, there were no significant changes in
the Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws save
for those amendments approved at the Annual General Meeting of
the Company held on 30 June 2023 by special resolution, relating
principally to the alignment with the core shareholder protection
standards set out in Appendix Al (formerly known as Appendix
3) to the Listing Rules. An up-to-date version of the Company’s
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws is available on the
websites of the Company and HKEX.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON AUDITORS’
DISCLAIMER OF OPINION AND THE
COMPANY'’S VIEW AND MEASURES TO
ADDRESS THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

As explained in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss and operating cash outflow of
approximately HK$123,449,000 and HK$51,427,000 respectively
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the
Group was in net current liabilities and net liabilities position of
approximately HK$208,024,000 and HK$252,815,000 respectively.
In addition, the Group had loans from related parties with a
total principal amount of HK$310,000,000 due to the controlling
shareholder of the Company and the companies which are
beneficially owned and controlled by him.

The conditions referred to above, along with other matters as
described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The Board wishes to draw the attention of the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) to the section headed “Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion” as contained in the Independent Auditors’
Report dated 30 April 2024 issued by the Company’s auditors, HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (the “Auditors”), contained in pages
100 and 103 of this report. In respect of the basis for disclaimer
of opinion as disclosed in the independent auditors’ report for the
year ended 31 December 2023 relating to the appropriateness of
the assumption regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern (the “Disclaimer Opinion”), the Group has prepared
a forecast covering a period of not less than twelve months from
the end of the reporting period taking into account of a number of
measures undertaking to improve its liquidity and financial position
including but not limited to:

the Directors will consider other financing arrangements
and fund-raising alternatives with a view to increasing the
Group’s capitalisation/equity and supporting the continuing
growth of the Group;

Il the Directors will continue to implement stronger measures
aiming at improving the working capital and cash flows of the
Group, including closely monitoring its operating expenses,
improving current business performance and seeking new
business development; and
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. the Directors will continue negotiations for the extension of
its loan from related parties.

Taking into account the successful and continued implementation
of such measures, the Directors are of the opinion that the Group
will have sufficient working capital and hence it is appropriate to
prepare the Group’s consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis, the validity of which is dependent on the
outcomes of these measures, which are inherently uncertain and
subject to multiple uncertainties, including (i) whether the Group’s
debtors will timely settle their debts according to the agreed
settlement schedules; (ii) whether the Group can successfully
implement measures for cost control and business strategies to
improve its business operations; and (iii) whether the Group can
successfully negotiate with its creditors for extension of its debts
when they fall due and successfully obtain additional new sources
of financing as and when needed. As at the date of this report, the
eventual outcome of these measures cannot be ascertained with
reasonable certainty.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements and
we were unable to determine whether such adjustments might have
been found necessary.

For the avoidance of doubt, in accordance with the applicable
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing, the auditors need to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence and to consider, based on the
audit evidence to be obtained, whether material uncertainty exists
regarding the Group’s ability to continue as going concern.

As such, assuming the successful implementation of the
abovementioned plans and measure in time with sufficient and
appropriate audit evidence can be provided, the disclaimer of
opinion is expected to be removed in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ending 31 December 2024.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEW ON THE
DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
had critically reviewed the basis for disclaimer of opinion of the
Auditors. The Audit Committee had also discussed with the
Auditors regarding the financial position of the Group, the measures
are taken and to be taken by the Group, and considered the
Auditors’ rationale and understood their consideration in arriving at
the Disclaimer Opinion. The Audit Committee is in agreement with
the management with respect to the Disclaimer Opinion and the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and in particular
the actions or measures to be implemented by the Group. The
Audit Committee’s views are based on (i) a critical review of the
action plans to address the Disclaimer Opinion, (i) discussions
between the Audit Committee, the Auditors and the management
regarding the Disclaimer Opinion and the proposed measures and
action plans together with the timeline stated therein to address
the Disclaimer Opinion. The Audit Committee requested the
management to take all necessary actions to address the effect on
the Disclaimer Opinion to procure no such disclaimer of opinion to
be made in the next financial year.

Annual Report 2023
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1.2.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

OUR REPORT
OVERVIEW

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(hereinafter referred to as the “Report”) is the 2023 Report
published by Imperium Technology Group Limited (the
“Company”,

It systematically reviews the Group’s performance and

together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”).

inadequacies in fulfilling its social responsibilities and
formulating a sustainable development strategy. We
strongly believe that offering a summary of the sustainable
development disclosure of the Group to stakeholders is
conducive to enhancing our sustainable development
performance.

This Report provides information on the corporate social
responsibility performance of the Group in terms of the
environment, society and governance during the year from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2023. This Report complies
with the “comply or explain” provisions of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide and contains all
disclosures as recommended in the Guide.

SCOPE OF REPORTING

The scope of this Report includes all areas of the Group’s
business over which the Group has financial significance
and operational influence and those of ESG significance to
the Group and its stakeholders. This environmental, social
and governance Report mainly covers our core business!,

including:

° Household products business: JF A.C.R. Equipment
Supplies Co., Ltd.

° Game publishing business: Cubinet Interactive
(Thailand) Co., Ltd., Cubinet Interactive (MSC) Sdn.
Bhd. and Hong Kong Seven Senses

During the Reporting Year, the Group reviewed its core business and revised
the scope of the Report with reference to all areas of the Group’s business
over which the Group has financial significance and operational influence
and those of ESG significance to the Group and its stakeholders. Game
publishing business: Hong Kong Seven Senses (& /& £ Jt %) replaced
Phoenix Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd. (Bl Bl 8t i #2 £ &5 R 2 7)) and
Seven Senses Game Company Limited; Cloud computing and data storage
business: Seven Elements Interactive Digital Technology Limited replaced
Fujian Qiyuan Interactive Information Technology Co., Ltd.
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o Esports business: Wanhui (Suzhou) Digital Science

Investment Co., Ltd.

° Cloud computing and data storage business: Seven
Elements Interactive Digital Technology Limited

The above business operations account for over 90% of the

Group’s earnings.

Unless otherwise indicated, all key performance indicators
herein only cover the data of our household products
business, game business, esports business, and cloud

computing and data storage business.

1.3. REPORTING PRINCIPLES

We have considered the following reporting principles in

preparing this Report:

58 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Materiality: the Group determines the impact of
environmental, social and governance issues on the
Group’s operations through management interviews
and surveys of internal and external stakeholders.
For more information, please refer to the Materiality
Assessment section.

Quantification: the data in the Report is collected and
analysed in accordance with relevant guidelines and
standards, and the relevant standards, approaches,
assumptions and/or calculation methods are set out
where appropriate.

Balance: our Report is based on the actual operations
of the Group without any false or biased information,
and gives an objective view of the Group’s overall
sustainability performance for stakeholders.

Consistency: we have followed the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide issued by
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) for reporting since 2017. Where
there are any changes that may affect the comparison
with previous reports, the Group has added notes to
the corresponding content of this Report.

Annual Report 2023
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FEEDBACK MECHANISM

This Report is prepared mainly in accordance with the
Group’s internal statistics, various archive documents and
estimations. Should you have any feedback on this Report,
please send an email to ir@776.hk so that we can further
improve our policies in relation to sustainable development.

ESG STATEMENT OF THE BOARD

The Board of Directors of the Group (the “Board”) is
pleased to release the 2023 ESG Report, which sets out the
Group’s institutional building and performance in fulfilling
its environmental and social responsibilities in 2023 (the
“Reporting Year”) to address stakeholders’ concerns and
expectations regarding the Group’s sustainable development
management and information disclosure.

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY

The management of the Group firmly believes that effective
and excellent environmental, social and governance (ESG)
management can help enhance its corporate brand image
and reduce energy consumption, thereby reducing operating
costs. We are committed to incorporating the concept of
social responsibility into the Company’s decision-making
management and business operations, and seizing every

opportunity for sustainable development.

The Group’s sustainability strategy is based on four
core areas of sustainable development, which are the
environment, employees, business and community. These
core areas underpin our commitment to creating value
for our stakeholders and enable us to deliver on our
commitment systematically.

Our Sustainable Development Goals:
EMNIRERRAS:

1.4.

2.1.
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Ethics and Governance

— Comply with the policies and codes developed by Imperium Technology Group. Conduct

transparent reporting and take remedial measures if necessary

operational framework

Operate in good faith and comply with all applicable laws and regulations within the

Maintain a high standard of corporate governance, a superior board of directors, sound

internal control, increased transparency and accountability to all stakeholders
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Our Sustainable Development Goals:

EMNIEERRAE:

Environmental Environmental — Regularly monitor environmental parameters and review production plans to reduce
Management environmental impact

RE REER - THERZBRB2HRRTEENR RERLSHBNREYE

Employees
8T

Social

e

The Group will continue to review its internal sustainability
governance strategy and refine relevant policies and
measures. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to strengthen
communication with stakeholders to further enhance its
environmental and social performance and create value for

Climate Change Strategy

FRB I HER

Employee Care
BEET
Personnel Training

BEAM
Diversity and Inclusion

H>}

EZ A
Occupational Safety
eIk

Community Investment
HEBRE

Product Safety

ERZZ:

Responsible Procurement

BEARE

Review the Group’s policy on climate change and develop a sustainability plan to identify

and address related physical and transition risks and opportunities
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Provide adequate support for employees and strengthen good relations with employees

REIRHARYE MRESTIMRHAR

Create a continuous learning environment and encourage employees to develop their

careers within the Company

BEREEENERE ISBDESECENERSER

Respect the labour rights and human rights of all employees, maintain high ethical

standards, clearly define human resource management policies, and promote an inclusive

culture in the Company

Eiﬁﬁglm S TN R AR
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Promote a healthy and safe work environment

Achieve zero fatal accidents in the workplace

RERRZ2NIERE

ETESHERTHGEN

Work with local charities to support the underprivileged and the needy

Provide job and training opportunities for young people

EAMEERBEEXEREHBERATEAL

REEARBIEREIRE

Improve quality, safety and environmental/health performance through innovative product

design, so as to give users a better user experience

Comply with all applicable data protection and cybersecurity regulations and reduce the risk

of business interruption from cyber attacks

BRAFHNERRHRESEE T2UNRE /BENE GTRAFEENFTHRER

BIMAEANEBRENBRLENEANSEREXBIBELETETNER

Require suppliers to comply with the Group’s environmental standards in all aspects,

covering workflows, products or services, child labour, basic human rights, working

conditions, compensation, occupational health and safety, and business ethics

The Group only cooperates with suppliers and business partners who meet our

requirements

ERREHETAEEZSTENRERE  BREIERE
TEGH FH BERRER?2 UARBXEER

SERERETRMERNHEEANRBEEHAE

ERRERRE YREITRANEREERE Y&

EmIRYE EL EAAE-

AEEEHEEARMATNTHEERR
EVRRRES  RTEEBHBRRNER - R
AEBETEEMNRERNERR £—F
RAAEERRRFELENRT BAE
BoEREFOE/MERENEE-

our shareholders and stakeholders in the long run.
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2.2. GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE AND RISK

MANAGEMENT
Governance Structure

The Group’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) assumes
the role of leadership and supervision in the Group.
The Board reviews and manages ESG issues and risks
every year, ensures that they are incorporated into the
Company’s strategy, and leads the Group to develop and
achieve long-term strategies and goals. The management
of the Group is responsible for monitoring sustainability
performance and targets, reviewing the feedback from
stakeholders, collecting ESG data and information to prepare
the Group’s annual ESG report, and reporting to the Board
for approval. This Report was approved by the Board on 31

March 2024 after being confirmed by the management.

RIS - 4ERERHE

22 EREBEREARER
E/n;'}g%
SENEEFE EUXRBEAZEEEER

ERNAGR EFEEFEHRGERERER
B oMAEgkEAMHEZERRR  WE
REMARRKRE TEAEEH TR
ERREXBREABE AEBESEBER
E BEERUBEZERANEE &
BHEOHENER KERE HEREA
MEBEEREH UREEENFERE -
HERERRE YRMEFSER UM
HEH ABREKLEEERRE R-T
THME=F=+—H(TBOEEZZ=E@A -

Sustainability Governance Structure of Imperium Technology Group

FENMREENUTEERRELRE

Exg

Board of Directors

Audit Committee

The Management

EREES
e Assist the Board in overseeing financial
reporting, risk management and
internal control, and report to the Board
on the appointment of external auditors
and their audit work

s MBEFRSEEMKER RRE
B NEEE - URMBEINERE
B EERTIFAEESER

* Responsible for special matters

assigned by the Board from time to
time

s BEMESETERRIRZFRIER

BREBNEEE

¢ Responsible for monitoring sustainability
performance and targets, reviewing the
feedback from stakeholders, and
collecting ESG data and information

s AEERTRKBERRREMBRE  BEE

MENBR - WERRE - LS RERNE
EREM

FENREEARAR
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Internal Control and Risk Management

To ensure that climate-related issues are integrated into our
strategy, the terms of reference of the standing committees
of the Board have been expanded to cover ESG issues. For
example, the Audit Committee regularly monitors ESG risks
and reviews our sustainability policy in public disclosures.

The Board is responsible for continuously monitoring
and reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HEREREHE

R BB & 12 K R e B HE

RERRIRERRZEE QAL RORE
FREZESENTIHFHBENTBAZERERE
HekERHEREE il EREEE
EEHERERE delkERAERR
VEHBMECHABEFAREZRRNT
gt -

EFEeRAREEREARITAREE RN
MEZASRNARMUENEE MRTELH

BEFREBE EFREERER
ERNBBTEEALEBD Y BB
BIRFEARBETHEZROMB -

internal control systems. In order to better support the
decision-making process, the Board will engage external
independent professionals if necessary to help identify and
evaluate the sustainability risks facing the Group through

interviews.
Risk Category Risk Description Countermeasures
[ B aE A B B 5 FE ¥ # i
Energy With the increasing awareness of energy With an emphasis on energy conservation, the

Conservation use in society, a sound energy conservation Group strives to reduce unnecessary energy

policy will help the Group avoid risks related to  consumption and introduce energy-saving

environmental laws and regulations, and facilitate equipment. Employees are required to turn off

in-house discussions and planning. all computers, monitors, lighting, etc. after work
and this requirement is stipulated in the Code of
Conduct for Employees which all must follow, so
as to reduce energy consumption. In addition,
the lighting equipment in the office is gradually
replaced with LED energy-efficient lighting to
improve energy efficiency.

BECSARERERER TE2WHNER SESREOER BRI TBENRER -

BRER/REBBLAZEBARNRREZBERNE URHMEHERS RARETIKHBERAE

R BEMRERAMOTmERS - fg - BUREs  RAKES  IMACETIITAR
) MABIXWAKRBZRE LR DR -
BN MR ERRAREINE S E R KLEDED
BEEE  RIABERMEA -

o
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Risk Category
[ i
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Risk Description

| B 4 it

RIS - 4ERERHE

Countermeasures

FE ¥ 15 ie

Occupational Safety With the tightening of legislation on occupational
and Health

BEL2RER

2.3.

safety and health of enterprises in many
countries globally, in the event of non-
compliance with such requirements, the Group
may be exposed to legal and indemnification
risks.

ERZEBRRICERILZE2RBENEESR
HUBHE  —BEATEER REAER
EZAEMEERR

With the increasing interest of regulatory institutions and
investors in sustainability issues and addressing related
risks, looking ahead, the Group will continue to refine
its sustainability governance, intensify the functions of
its ESG management, and enhance risk identification
and assessment, thus enabling the Group to deal with
sustainability issues more effectively and respond to
stakeholders’ concerns.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group’s overall sustainability policy is closely related
to stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment.
We believe that a thorough understanding of stakeholder
concerns and the sustainability challenges we face will help
us adjust our sustainability strategy to achieve maximal
positive impact and reduce the negative impact on social
and environmental issues while fulfilling our corporate
responsibility. Accordingly, we strive to build trust with all
stakeholders through transparent and open communication
channels, including annual reports, ESG reports,
questionnaire surveys, regular dialogues and meetings, etc.

2.3.

The Group strictly adheres to all relevant laws
and regulations, including but not limited to
the Production Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Fire Control Law

of the People’s Republic of China, so as to
create a safe, healthy and comfortable working
environment for our employees. Our household
furnishings factories under the Group have
developed a series of comprehensive policies
to manage occupational health and safety
issues, including the Occupational Health and
Safety Policy, the Indoor Air Quality Policy and
the Fire Fighting Policy, in order to comply with
relevant regulatory requirements and meet the
development needs of the Group.

RETRMFRE  @F FENTERR &
B-ENRERETHBIEELR  B8FEAT
BRCREARKMBR24EER) (PEAR
KMBEE)E - REBETHRERMAFN
BET-RITENBEREALZE2BRER
HEMEE  BR(BEREZEZ2BR) (ER
ZREERRIECEHER)F U AHEHE
ERTE TIEKEXTNERTE -

BEEERBRREEHUSEERERH
REGHEBARROITEERBEITI BREX
X SEBEEEARBERRERTE
BHENRICRE HEREBTHEERE
I hnok fE B Bl Ko 5EAL - EMEASEEE
ERRBAFKEERFENMNOERSHEN
BT E -

EEMFM

AEENERUSEERDHERSHEN
S2ENEEEFNGHEESERE - HMABEEE
BMTESENDENEEMBAMENHELER
FHEEOKE  BHABRRMOAIFE
BREE  HEBRTEERAREENHRE -
EEHHEMNRERNBENEIAZE %
Eamzgg At RABNEBEAR
AFEMBREE  BREFH ESGHE -
MeRAE THHELREZE ERMARDND
ERMIETRRE -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HEREREHE

During the year, in order to better understand the ESG
awareness and vision of stakeholders, the Group engaged
an independent consultancy firm to carry out stakeholder
communication activities and materiality assessment,

FA RETHRENDEERE HERER
TEHNRBENES AKEZREELER
REETHNRAENBREIREL MU
b EhEE - EEE LR ARFENE

including: questionnaire surveys of the management and BESEEE

internal and external stakeholders.

We take three steps to conduct a materiality assessment:

Step 1
|dentify material issues

Step 2
Determine material issues

—%
=ETEEEAE

ot

Step 3
Confirm and review

F=4
R &M
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BMPERN=EAFBAEHBEE LT &

We identify potential material issues that can reflect the economic, environmental and social impact of
the Group’s business or affect stakeholders’ assessment of and decision-making on the Group with
reference to the HKEX Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide and based on factors
such as corporate development strategy, industry development trends, regulatory and capital market
requirements, etc.

2EEFBXHM(RE - HERERABRERDNEARAAEREE TXERBY EEREAT
GERERT LKE RE & BEAREAELE  ZHEARRAKEXEELNLE
BENHERYE I ERSAHAREFENRRNEEERZE -

We collect feedback from internal and external stakeholders of the Company through online surveys to
understand the priority issues concerning stakeholders, and rank the issues based on the impact on
the Group’s ESG development and the impact on stakeholders to form a materiality assessment matrix.

ZMBERLABRERAABRIINARNERBER UTHERZAMBINELEZE IR
BHAKREESCERYENHES AT EMEA T BATHF BUEBEUIEREEE -

The management and the ESG Reporting Working Group review and confirm the assessment results.

ERERESGHRETIFNEAEHLHRAFMEER -
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BRI HERERBRE

Materiality Assessment Matrix

BEMLEREE
Moderately important issues o Highly important issues
HEEMERE 20 BEEMHE
&
)
o @ °
o 21 |
£ 1 @ 13
o el 1
© IﬁM 10 o
) “IEH e 16 0
E =2 ° 9 2 12
§ ﬁél ° 14
i % 1
O Hx 17 22 °
-
= 1=
% D) 8 5 ‘ 1 3 4
:0: 5
©
=
] '
©
Less important issues
REEMZHE
Materiality to the Imperium’s Development
HEREERRNEEY
Air Pollutant/GHG Emission Management 12 Employee Training and Development

ERERN/ REREHNER

Sewage Discharge Management

FEKHERE

Waste Management

BENER

Energy Conservation

B 40 B2 IR

Water Conservation

B 4 K

Use Efficiency of Other Resources

H A B R AR

Impact of Management and Operations on the Environment
and Natural Resources
EREEURBRARERERNNTE
Strengthening Climate Adaptability and Resilience
Bt RIEEENEI I

Employment System

EEHE

Anti-discrimination, Equality and Diverse Employment
Environment

RE® - FENZTIERERE

Occupational Safety and Health

BEZE2REE

BEBIEER

13 Labour Standards
BITER

14 Environmental and Social Risks in the Supply Chain
HEENRZERULGEAR

15 Quality Control of Production Materials
EEMHOE S 2

16 Customer Health and Safety
EPHRRERS

17 Product Recall System
7 o B I

18 Customer Complaint Handling and Response Mechanism

RPRFRRIE RS

19 Protection of Customers’ and Business Partners’ Interests
REEPREBAEBHNTE

20 Prevention of Bribery, Extortion, Fraud and Money Laundering
BILRER BR - MFRAERE

21 Community Needs and Interests
HEFZMHM &=

22 Community Investment

HREE

FERNKEEERAR 2023 5% 65
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RIR - HEREREHE

Analysed by the materiality assessment matrix, the Group’s 22
relevant issues are as follows, in descending order of importance:

Highly important issues °
EEEEAA .
L[]
Moderately important issues o
HEEZEA .
L]
L]
L]
L]
L]
L]
L]
L]
°
L]
L]
Less important issues .
BEEEZE .

66 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Occupational Safety and Health
Prevention of Bribery, Extortion, Fraud and
Money Laundering

Labour Standards

Employee Training and Development
Employment System

Use Efficiency of Other Resources

Customer Complaint Handling and Response
Mechanism

Community Needs and Interests
Anti-discrimination, Equality and Diverse
Employment Environment

Customer Health and Safety

Environmental and Social Risks in the Supply
Chain

Energy Conservation

Protection of Customers’ and Business
Partners’ Interests

Quality Control of Production Materials
Waste Management

Water Conservation

Community Investment

Air Pollutant/GHG Emission Management
Product Recall System

Sewage Discharge Management

Impact of Management and Operations on the
Environment and Natural Resources
Strengthening Climate Adaptability and
Resilience

Annual Report 2023

BRERUENHEER DN
mET REER

HREREFHSIT

BEZEREE
BLLRERE BR  HERARE

ST A

EEEIEER
AR

H At B R0 AR
EPRAFEIE K &Y #

HRFE
RIBAR

M &
FEMZTRERER

EFHRRFERELZ 2
HERORERL AR

# 4 B
REEPREBAIERHOMNE

EEVHOEERS
BEERYER

# 4 F K

ﬁﬁ&ﬁ

H /’57&%// TR
%uu@”&%M;
BEKBERE B

REHEMER

EREEHRBENRAABRENNTY

BILRIREE N R

 NEEE221AH



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL PROSPERITY
Management guidelines and policies

The Group always upholds the concept of sustainable
development. We are aware of the possible environmental
impact of our business operations, identify the key
environmental risks we face, and put into practice the
concept of green operation. We review major business
processes to reduce the negative impact of business
operations on the environment, enhance environmental
protection capabilities, and improve overall environmental
performance, in an effort to create a sustainable future for
our next generation.

For emission and waste management, the Group aims to
fully comply with regulatory requirements and strictly abide
by all applicable environmental laws and regulations, such as
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China. During the reporting period, the Group had no
violation of relevant regulations.

Directional targets on environmental
protection

To take up its corporate social responsibility, the Group
takes an active role in incorporating environmental protection
concepts into its daily operations to ensure that its
operations are environmentally responsible, prevent pollution
and reduce resource consumption and has established
the following targets to manage the environmental impacts
caused by its operations.

R 4ERERWRE

ARFBEEREEERAARMBTAFHE
HRMNED HMABHIEBSXHEER
R AIBEERIRIREE - BB RMAE
mMNEIZREER BEUTXEEZER -
BMERIEXBRE BREXHKETY
REERNBETE  RATERRE
BEBERREXR  HHAKRMANT K
BlE—E R EBRERARK -

AEBNBEREBENERNTENEER
EXRBAR BRETHAEEANRRKZE
FIAER - PP EARAMBERERE
) BEMALARBRHENER -

RERENERTE

RETEEHGET AEEEELRR
ESBANCXAREE BREELRE
HRFEAE  DESEARBIERNFER:
YHETINEFEAEREERHREME
RE & -

FENREEARAR
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RIR - HEREREHE

Environmental targets  Directional statements

REER 73 16 4 B9 R

Measures taken during the year

A5 [ Fi SR R 4B e

Energy use efficiency Reduction of unnecessary energy
consumption

Introduction of energy-saving equipment

HILE

68 Imperium Technology Group Limited

ﬁ'FL
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Employees are required to turn off all computers,
monitors, lighting, etc. after work and this
requirement is stipulated in the Code of Conduct for
Employees which all must follow

The printers are switched to energy-saving mode
automatically when not in use to reduce energy
usage

Air-conditioned room temperature is kept at 25°C.
Use of air conditioners is minimised and limited
within office hours

The Human Resources Department conducts
regular inspections of the office of cloud computing
and data storage business, to see if the air
conditioners are turned off during off hours in
summer, and if the lights in the office area are
turned off properly. Any computer that is on after
work will be turned off and a photo will be taken to
remind the employee concerned

RETHRKHEBRASHE  BRE  RAESE  UH
MEITRRE) MAESIYUAKEZRE
THREERACANBEATES BRI AEHEA
BT B ERE N EE
REEAZRABRSE UKW TEREAR
e AN REPAZEREREHZEANEARR
Eu#&%ﬁﬁT¥%M%“* AZ1TIREDFT
SHATRKAENARE A EEEZTIRA -
BMEERAER: WRERETIREHBAER - H1
RIBEZET ¥ RERR: AREREERRAR
KR
Use of LED energy-efficient lighting in offices
engaging in esports business and cloud computing
and data storage business to improve energy
efficiency
Installation of energy-efficient office equipment or
giving priority to purchasing products with energy
efficiency labels
EEEETHRRREAERBBEREEROPRRE
Y FALEDE LB E - RIT R R R
REMENARBAELEBRGRRARZED
Em



Environmental targets
REEE
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Directional statements

73 16 1 B9 Bt

RIS - dERERTHE

Measures taken during the year

A5 Fi 5RO 4B e

Emission reduction

Waste reduction

D REEY

Use of energy-efficient equipment and
thereby reducing energy indirect emissions
(Scope 2) GHG emissions from purchased
electricity

RABERE LT INBENFE L
RMERN BE) WA RRSENE

Use of equipment that can reduce direct
emissions (Scope 1) GHG emissions

AT RE R AR (BE-)EERR
Bl

Waste reduction at the source and reduction
of disposables

R SRR RE - W VBN E A

Waste recycling

@ e 7 R =

e Reduction of indirect GHG emissions from power
consumption through the above-mentioned
measures to improve energy efficiency (switching
off power, configuring to power-saving mode, using
LED energy-efficient lighting, etc.)

e Regular review and analysis of monthly electricity
bills as well as actual electricity usage to develop
improvement measures

s FRILARALRCAUENERE(FERER 8
BmEBERA  HALEDEREES) AMRLEE
i EEMNREERE

s THRBNONMBATEERM UKRERAER
R AHIEBLHE

e Regular promotion of low-carbon green mobility
by encouraging employees to use electric vehicles
and bike hire services to travel, thereby reducing
direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions from conventional
vehicles on the road, such as carbon dioxide

s THEFERRGEHT BBMEICAEHHEEH
AEERT  ROEREREREFEREEER (8
B)RERE W4

e Advocating employees to use reusable tableware
and utensils to reduce waste caused by disposables

¢ Reduced use of benzene-containing solvent at the
source to avoid hazardous waste

s REEIGVEXGEAEAEMBA HINEAM
if 4 B BO BB 2 1)

o WRERBRIGERAERAUER BEELATEER
)

e Having technical specifications in place for all
packaging materials, e.g. new 100% virgin plastics
are not allowed to be used as packaging materials

e Recycling of electrical appliances and waste

e Placing multi-sort recycling bins in the office, such
as paper recycling bins and food waste bins to help
staff cultivate good recycling habits

s RAEBMXAREBAAEREREMH W BEMH
TRAFEREHEI100%RELER

o HERRBEHETOWENA

o TEMARAEANMED LA - I 40 4LAR = 45 46 A0 B
iR ARETIEERKNTEE
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RIE - -HERER

Environmental targets
REEE

wE

Directional statements

73 16 4 B9 R

Measures taken during the year

A5 [ Fi SR R 4B e

Water use efficiency

R &

Using environment-friendly
materials

RRARGEYOH

Reduction of paper waste

7
=2
IR
M
Vi
F

Enhanced water-saving efficiency

Supporting the sustainable development of

forests

XBHRMARERR
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e  Strengthening electronic operation and file
management to reduce paper consumption

e Communicating online and handling approval
processes electronically to achieve paperless office

e Encouraging employees to use less paper, use
double-sided printing as much as possible, and
recycle waste paper

s MBEFLMEERERER BILRNAE

e BEIAMLER BEREURENEFEKH

N

e ZBBEIVAM HZECALEIEN URESR
(= 4% 1| 73

e Replacement of equipment by more water-efficient
ones to enhance water use efficiency

e Regular monitoring of water equipment to monitor
water-saving efficiency

e Regularly educating employees to raise awareness
of water conservation

e Displaying an eye-catching notice at the water-
use locations reminding employees to reduce
unnecessary water consumption

e Regularly reviewing the monthly water bills as well
as actual usage to analyse and improve water
efficiency

o ﬁfé*m R RIAKY S

. HAES B AR R4 - DA BRI & KR s

. E%ﬁﬁlkﬁﬂg RITE A FKEE B

o HERAKURMRREENZE UNRESIHIT
W% ZH K

s THRBBAKEERM URBEREAEBER
T RRFE K

e Using paper with PEFC/FCS or China Environmental
Labelling certification in the office to contribute to
the sustainable development of forests

o #J#”*Fﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬁ‘?EJ%PEFC/FCSY‘I'EaEFB F - RR

ERMAFERRL -
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EMISSIONS
Exhaust emissions

Exhaust gas is inevitably generated during the production of
the Group’s household products, and the exhaust emissions,
if not up to standard, may affect the environment. In view of
this, we have formulated the Measures for the Management
of Exhaust Emissions for our household products business to
reduce the pollution of the surrounding environment caused
by exhaust emissions generated during production and
operations. We arrange for the person in charge of safety
management to take charge of the testing of exhaust gas
conducted on a yearly basis with reference to the Exhaust
Emission Standards issued by the state, and the production
department is responsible for the control of exhaust gas
generation in each post and the inspection, maintenance
and management of exhaust gas emission and absorption
facilities.

No exhaust gas is generated from our game publishing
business, esports business, and cloud computing and data
storage business due to their business nature.

Carbon emissions

In line with national policies, we have formulated a series
of measures and set up a task force for our household
products business. Each year, the task force identifies
carbon emission sources, calculates and assesses carbon
emissions, reviews the assessment results and sets carbon
reduction targets for the coming year. On this basis, we
develop relevant resource management targets. In addition,
the Group actively follows the requirements of the Stock
Exchange for disclosure of greenhouse gas emissions to
calculate the total amount of greenhouse gas emissions as
comprehensively as possible.

The source of carbon emissions from our game publishing
business, esports business, and cloud computing and data
storage business is the use of electricity, so we will continue
to aim to reduce the consumption of electricity.

3.1.

RIS - dERERTHE
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During the reporting period, the Group’s total greenhouse

E#&iﬁﬁﬁﬂ%lﬁ’]/ EREBAEBERR
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As the control of waste has become increasingly stringent
in China, it is critical for the Company to take a step
forward, making its manufacturing process greener and
cleaner. In order to enhance employees’ awareness of
waste disposal, the Group also provides training on waste
identification, management and classification. We will follow
the management strategy of waste recycling, reduction and
harmlessness to reduce environmental pollution in order to

fulfil our commitment to waste management.

Annual Report 2023

gas emissions in the tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent: ZatRE R
Cloud
computing
Household Game and data
products publishing Esports storage
business  business  business  business
e
g} REE
Unit FERARER  RUER ESTREER  BEER
Total greenhouse gas REREHNEE  1C0p AB-4fikge
emissions 12.25 30.65 40.95 66.17
Direct emissions (Scope 1) E&HM(EE—-)  tCOe AB-4likgs 0.00 0.00 1.66 0.00
Energy indirect emissions &£ R EH R tCO. AB-Elikgs
(Scope 2) (#E ) 12.25 30.65 39.29 66.17
Emission intensity FEHEE tCO peremployee  RM-E(LHEE/BHET 408 090 1.32 348
Notes: o EE
= The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on - ATETSERB R EMORIEEREERIE
Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange, the IPCC BEREES  IPCCEHRBREREFHIEHD -
Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, the IPCC Sixth IPCC & N R AAR # b 7F i 3 & + 1SO14064-1
Assessment Report, 1SO14064-1: Specification with Guidance at the HBENLHBEEREERMERNE/L T
Organisation Level for Quantification and Reporting of Greenhouse WMENBRERED (CERAEREFRZE
Gas Emissions and Removals, Guidelines to Account for and Report T3 0% Hi 3R 5 ¥ R 8 B AR BE (20225 (8 TE )
on Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Power Generation Facilities (2022 (R E2022F] # & ¥ & 7 &) ~ (Energy Policy
Revision), 2022 Sustainability Report of CLP, Energy Policy and and Planning Office (EPPO) Thai Government
Planning Office (EPPO) Thai Government Ministry of Energy, and Ministry of Energy)* LA & {Carbon Footprint
Carbon Footprint Ltd’s GHG Factors for International Grid Electricity Ltd’s GHG Factors for International Grid
(ROW) 2023; Electricity (ROW) 2023) :
- Scope 1 includes emissions from stationary combustion sources of — & E1RIE R AR E E 8B P
natural gas;
= Scope 2 includes energy indirect emissions from the purchase of — HEERIEBEENNEREEZEER AR
electricity; and
= There was no direct comparison between the data for the Reporting - REBEFMEE  WAREFE E—ER
Year and the previous reporting year due to changes in the scope of HEFHNBBEREFEEELR -
reporting.
Waste management BEYEE

TEHEEYNEHEERE BEXAF
HEEBREEZE  EBR - -AEEAM
BRETHREBREZEY I RHE  SETHE
TREEWHR  EEESEE) - KM
TK?E@%%EQ;%(K*»@YE(U3%%%1%’\]
EIRRE BARMIHRENTE MU

BITRMEERYE BN AR -
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In order to comply with the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste, the Pollution Control Standard for
Hazardous Waste Storage and relevant laws and regulations,
the Waste Control and Management Procedures has been
formulated for our household products business to clearly
set out the types and disposal methods of waste. For
the management of non-hazardous waste, the Company
classifies waste in the principle of turning waste into
treasure and reusing it. For some wastes such as discarded
secondary raw materials and parts, where applicable, we
will arrange maintenance, reuse and recycling to reduce
waste, and the non-recyclables will be regularly handed
over to the sanitation bureau for disposal. We are extremely
concerned about generation of hazardous waste, evaluate
on a regular basis the production process to identify the
sources of hazardous waste generation and formulate action
plans to reduce hazardous waste. For example, we reduce
use of benzene-containing solvent products at the source to
avoid harmful waste. For hazardous waste that needs to be
disposed of, we will engage qualified agencies to transport
and dispose of the hazardous waste in accordance with
relevant national laws and regulations. In addition, we refer
to the Hazardous Waste Identification Standards to prepare
training materials, so that employees can effectively identify,
manage and classify various types of waste.

The main source of waste in game publishing business,
esports business and cloud computing and data storage
business is daily trash generated by employees in the
office. Such waste will be collected and disposed of by
cleaners before being processed by the local Sanitation
Bureau. In addition, we promote environmental recycling
by placing multi-sort recycling bins in the office, such as
paper recycling bins and food waste bins, for employees to
use, which encourages employees to cultivate sorting and
recycling habits so that resources can be recycled, reducing
the consumption of global resources and reducing general
waste. We also advocate our employees to use reusable
tableware and utensils to reduce waste at the source caused
by disposables.
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As the business of the Group has continued to shift, the
amount of waste generated by our household products
business has decreased significantly and has no significant
impact on the sustainable development of the Group as a
whole. Therefore, no data are provided.

Wastewater management

In order to comply with the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Water Pollution Prevention and Control and
to meet the sewage discharge standards, we have strictly
implemented rainwater and sewage diversion for our
household products business in Ningbo and have started
such diversion in underground water pipes since 2013. In
order to ensure up-to-standard water quality on a continuous
basis after the diversion, the Company has formulated the
Cleaning Procedures and requires the cleaning records
to be kept properly. According to the environmental
assessment report and the requirements of the sewage
discharge company, sewage must be treated in sewage
treatment facilities before being discharged to ensure that
the discharged sewage meets the statutory standards.
The grease traps of the staff canteen have obtained
environmental certification and are cleaned regularly
according to the Cleaning Procedures. Employees who need
to be exposed to and treat sewage are required to receive
relevant training at least once a year.

MAKING GOOD USE OF RESOURCES

The Company is well aware of the value of resources. In
order to use all resources including energy, water and
other natural resources more effectively and prudently, we
have formulated the Energy Conservation Action Plan, the
Management Procedures of Energy Conservation Projects,
the Energy Conservation Management Procedures and the
Water Management Measures.

Energy saving

Energy use has long been a key issue for global
environmental agencies. Therefore, the Group always strives
to introduce new technologies and equipment which can
not only improve production efficiency but also promote
environmental performance and reduce energy consumption.
During the Reporting Year, we have adopted the following
initiatives to improve the energy efficiency of our operations:
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The household furnishings factory in Ningbo has formulated
the Energy Conservation Action Plan which is aimed at
improving energy efficiency and raising the awareness of the
employees in saving energy to discourage the employees
from wasting energy. Each workshop would list its own
energy saving items and set targets every year, such as
reducing the use of raw materials, electricity, water and fuel.
To reduce the use of fossil fuels, we have also gradually
switched to using solar energy in our factory areas. In
addition, LED energy-efficient lighting has been used in
offices engaging in esports business and cloud computing
and data storage business to improve energy efficiency. The
Human Resources Department conducts regular inspections
of the office of cloud computing and data storage business,
to see if the air conditioners are turned off during off hours
in summer, and if the lights in the office area are turned
off properly. Any computer that is on after work will be
turned off and a photo will be taken to remind the employee
concerned.

A number of targeted energy-saving measures have been
implemented for our game publishing business, esports
business and cloud computing and data storage business,
so as to further reduce energy consumption, which include
the following:

° Employees are required to turn off all computers,
monitors, lighting, etc. when they leave the office after
work and this requirement is stipulated in the Code of
Conduct for Employees which all must follow

° Air-conditioned room temperature is kept at 25°C

o The printers are switched to energy-saving mode
automatically when not in use to reduce energy usage

° Promote the importance of energy, water and
resources savings among our employees and
customers

° Install energy-efficient office equipment or give priority

to purchasing products with energy efficiency labels

° Regularly review and analyse monthly electricity
bills as well as actual electricity usage to develop
improvement measures
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The total energy consumption of the Group in the past year SEBRE—FHNBEREER:
is detailed as follows:

Cloud
computing
Household Game and data
products publishing Esports storage
EXER
Type of energy ERES Unit B FEAR  EHEBT  EFRE  HERE
Total energy consumption BEREE kWh TRE 21,479.00 64,711.00 78,959.80  116,026.41
Total energy consumption ~ # & B EERE kWh per employee TRE/S481
intensity 7,159.67 1,903.26 2,547.09 6,107.65
Direct energy consumption ~ B &R E kWh TRE NATER  NATER 1007100 NATEFR
Direct energy consumption B REEEE  kWh per employee TRE/ 48T
intensity NARER  NATER 32487  NATER
Of which: Hen:
Gas consumption mAEes KWh TRE NATER NATER  10071.00 NATER
Gas consumption intensity A REEZRE KWh per employee TRE/ 48T NATER  NATER 32487  NATER
Indirect energy EEED 3 kWh TRE
consumption 21,479.00 64,711.00 68,888.80  116,026.41
Indirect energy Mg REEERE  kWh per employee TRE/S48T
consumption intensity 7,159.67 1,903.26 2,222.22 6,107.65
Of which: He:
Power consumption ENESE kWh TRE 21,479.00 64,711.00 68,888.80  116,026.41
Power consumption ENREDE kWh per employee TRE/S548T
intensity 7,159.67 1,903.26 2,222.22 6,107.65
Notes: B 5 -
= Energy data are converted to kWh with reference to lower calorific — EREBEL2EZREAEREATER - AR
values. Gas includes natural gas BIERXAR
= No diesel was used as we focused on sales of products during the - HRABREFUERHEEAE MMUEEEA
Reporting Year B
= There was no direct comparison between the data for the Reporting — WMEHERMEE WAREFHE E— @R
Year and the previous reporting year due to changes in the scope of EFNEBREFERELER

reporting
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Water efficiency

To protect the precious water resources, we actively promote
the idea of water conservation among employees and
strengthen the maintenance, inspection and management
of water-consuming equipment to achieve the purpose of
water conservation. According to the Water Management
Measures developed by the household furnishings factory
in Ningbo, we reuse the cooling water from the pipe-making
workshop, and about 50% of the wastewater is recycled to
wheel vibration polishing devices through pumps. We also
carry out inspections of underground fire-fighting water to
eliminate leakage of water pipes and reduce waste of water.
We conduct regular statistics collation and analysis of water
consumption in workshops, and those workshops using
a relatively large amount of water are required to receive
assessment and be equipped with independent electricity
meters to measure their water consumption more accurately.
In addition, we regularly review the monthly water bills as
well as actual usage to analyse and improve water efficiency.

The Group’s total water consumption in the past year is
approximately:

Bk 38 3%

RREDENKER BMABEBRAETH
TTERA K RO BE 2 A0 IN 58 3 A 7K R e B 4
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REBMAEREBRER  ETHTER
oKL RS 2ELEBKEFROBR
ARADRERK EHNAKESEETEH
kot MAKKENERARXE
R MEBEBBLESR AEEEBEETHA

KE - SN
B UAREEREREBR -

BB o

BZMTEEHRREGAKE

7 AR Tt

SEEE—FNRKEARENR:

Water

Water consumption

consumption intensity

FEKE EKERE

m? per

m3 employee

MHEKS

Unit B 3 FK BEBT
Household products business RIERmED 103.60 34.53
Game publishing business TRLBEITER 30.85 0.91
Esports business BB ER 10.74 0.35
Cloud computing and data storage business EERBBERTER 3.58 0.19

Notes:

- Data are not available as the office water consumptions of Hong
Kong Seven Senses and Cubinet Interactive (Thailand) Co., Ltd are
provided by property management companies

— There was no direct comparison between the data for the Reporting
Year and the previous reporting year due to changes in the scope of
reporting

CEE

7 & 78 + 7t & K Cubinet Interactive (Thailand)
Co., LLAMARERAKHBMEETERRM - FIA

REEW & T E

AREHEAMEE ARG FE L —ER

SFENBIBREFEERLR

FENREEARAR
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Using environment-friendly materials

QOur household products business has obtained FSC
certification which proves that the wooden furnishings
produced by the Company, including cupboards and
kitchen cabinets, are made of FSC certified wood and
meet the relevant requirements of FSC certification. We
also require our suppliers to have the FSC certification
for certain materials such as particle boards and bamboo
boards. FSC hopes humans and forests can reach a balance
among the environment, society and economy, and wishes
that businesses will not cause excessive damage to the
forest ecosystem and the species diversity of trees during
timber harvesting. It also lay emphasis on the sustainable
development of forests so that local residents can live
on forests for a long time. FSC has made tremendous
contributions to environmental protection.

As the business of the Group has continued to shift, the
amount of packaging materials used by our household
products business has decreased significantly and has no
significant impact on the sustainable development of the
Group as a whole. Therefore, no data are provided. The
packaging materials and chemicals we choose to use must
meet the national standards; our suppliers are required to
go through Environmental Impact Assessment Registration
or make environmental impact reports; we conduct internal
environmental assessments and regularly review and adjust
existing environmental measures to ensure their feasibility;
we also have technical specifications for all packaging
materials which require that paper packaging materials
should come from sustainable sources and do not allow the
use of new 100% virgin plastics.

No packaging materials are used in our game publishing

business, esports business, and cloud computing and data
storage business due to their business nature.
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PROMOTING GREEN OPERATIONS

The Group integrates environmental responsibility into its
daily business operations. To this end, the Group promotes
green operations and a green procurement policy to reduce
its environmental impact and consumption of natural
resources. Our household products business has obtained
ISO 14001 environmental management system certification,
and the Group regularly conducts internal and external
assessments on the effectiveness of the system to ensure
that the system keeps up with the times.

Raising environmental awareness

As to energy conservation publicity and related training, we
have formulated the Measures for Energy Saving Publicity
and Training, and the Human Resources Department and
Technical Support Department jointly conduct training on
environmental projection for employees in hope of enhancing
their awareness of energy conservation.

In addition, in order to make all employees regard energy
conservation as their duty, we encourage employees to
actively participate in the design of various energy-saving
and consumption-reducing schemes, and will commend
and reward employees who have made special contributions
to energy conservation. In the event of a serious waste
of resources, we will consider imposing punishment as a
warning.

Promoting green procurement

When looking for high-quality products and services, other
than the reasonability of prices, we also have to consider
human health and environmental factors to reduce the
impact on the environment. We use PEFC/FCS certified
paper from sustainable forest resources which prevents
deforestation.
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Advocating green office

We advocate paperless office and promote electronic
communication via the Internet, email, internal workflow
system, etc. We also encourage customers to choose
electronic bills and place electronic orders. The online
collaborative office management platform and the related
mobile app introduced by the Group cover the day-to-day
office management and operations and approval processes
and greatly promote paperless office. The Company also
encourages employees to use double-sided printing as
much as possible and reuse all single-sided printed paper to
reduce the consumption of paper.

Vegetarian Carbon Reduction is an environment-friendly act
advocated by all places and environmental agencies around
the world. As such, we add vegetarian elements to the free
meals for our employees to help them understand that low
carbon diet is an important part of environment-friendly life
and is greatly beneficial to reducing global carbon dioxide
emissions and protecting the ecological environment.

CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group is aware that the impact related to climate change
may bring risks to the Group’s operations. As such, we seek
the best measures to reduce the environmental impact of our
business operations. With reference to the recommendations
of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
(TCFD) of the Financial Stability Board, the Group identifies
operational risks related to climate change and develops
countermeasures based on such risks to mitigate the impact
of climate change.
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The category, description and response measures of risks

related to climate change of the Group during the reporting

period are as follows:

Risk Category
b

Risk Description
[ B 4

RIS - 4ERERHE

AEEREMANREELLHRER B -
[ f st e FE S FE BB AN TS

Risk Response Measures
[ B FE ¥ $5 i

Long-term risk

RHEME R R

Policy and regulatory
risk

R BOE R R

Market risk

™5 & &

Extreme weather events resulting from climate
change may lead to instability in raw material
supply and delay in production processes.

HRRIEZEBESIENBBRREN AR
HRHAEEN I RES Y EHRTFEE -

With the tightening regulatory requirements
related to climate change, businesses are
under greater cost pressures in terms of
operation, products and services, including
rising costs of compliance and product
development.

EER THERRECHBNE SR T BE
B bXRELEE EmMREHEERKB S
BN ARES  ERERJEHRKANE®
PR AR EF -

Customers are increasingly concerned about
climate change, and green products have
become their first choice. In order to satisfy
customers’ demands, enterprises need to
devote more time and resources to developing
green products.
EPHZHEIREE L ZEEDKAMM
BEERENTR - RTREEFTR  v%T
ERAEZKEMERKRAELCERD °

The Group adopts a comprehensive supply
chain management mechanism, including a code
of conduct and a supplier assessment system,
to monitor and assess the quality of suppliers’
products and services and their performance in
environmental and social aspects and business
ethics. Good supply chain operations have a
positive impact on the environment and society.
Accordingly, we work closely with suppliers to
reduce relevant risks.

SERRATE2EMHEREERS - HF

BRISENMEREFGERR  AEEBEMF
BEBRREERMRERE BRRELEURD

XERFIENKRE - RFWHEREFYR
EMteRELIAMTE AR MEHER
EmAak MORBREMEERAR -

The Group adopts multiple measures for energy
conservation and emission reduction in places
where it operates and fully complies with all
environmental laws and regulations. During the
year, the Group also set goals to reduce waste
and conserve electricity and water which are no
less exacting than legal requirements, so as to
mitigate regulatory risks.
SEERELE B IR SR ET AL R HE Bt
WEHEEBTHAERREBENEZD - FR - A&
BIRHIET TR EREY - SORENRAKNER
HEBNERENER  URLEE AR -

The Group practises green procurement to
minimise its impact on the environment and
meet customers’ needs. For example, we use
PEFC/FCS certified paper from sustainable
forest resources in our offices which prevents
deforestation.
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4. PUTTING PEOPLE FIRST 4. LDAAZXK

We invest heavily in our employees, providing extensive BMANEEEETI S L BETARE
opportunities for staff training and development, robust ez AEINER BRANRERLZ S
health and safety measures and competitive remuneration B UEREFEFHOEHMER - 2t
and benefits in order to recruit and retain the best talent. BEMBEREAT - FEEREREF(PE
The Group strictly abides by the Labour Law of the People’s ARKXMBLE L) (PEARLMEL
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s BeRE) (PEARAMBEGSREBOR)
Republic of China, the Social Insurance Law of the People’s BEEHNURBEGD)  AREEM(EBEE
Republic of China, the Employment Ordinance of Hong A s EA I & E B R R R 1R A O
Kong and the Labour Standards Act of Taiwan. During RZEHMER  HEEFEMBENRFE
the reporting period, the Group did not have any cases of £

violation of relevant employment laws and regulations, nor
did it receive any complaints related to recruitment.

Overview of the Group’s employees over the past year is as UTREEBE—FHEESHMNRN
below:
Cloud
computing
Household Game and data

products  publishing Esports storage
business  business  business  business

& EE SRR ENERE

Employee Eg Unit By BREH EGEY ] % BREEE
Total number of employees £ T & AH Number N 3 34 31 19
Age profile FERAMH
18-24 18-24%, Number A 0 0 19 1
25-34 25-345% Number A& 1 12 8 13
35-44 35-445% Number A& 1 15 2 4
45-54 45-545% Number NE 0 5 2 0
55-64 55-6477, Number NE 1 1 0 1
65 or above B655% 30 M £ Number A& 0 1 0 0
Gender profile 1 59 i
Male g Number A 2 20 21 1
Female x Number A& 1 14 10 8
Employment type EREER
Full-time 2% Number NE 3 33 24 18
Part-time R Number NE 0 1 6
Apprentices and interns BHENEELE Number AE 0 0 1
Region profile & 5 o
Chinese Mainland HER Number AH 3 0 29 19
Hong Kong ¥ Number A¥ 0 5 0 0
Taiwan aE Number AH 0 0 2 0
Malaysia SRAR Number AH 0 7 0 0
Thailand % Number A 0 22 0 0
Notes: M‘T EE .
= The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs — HEDERBIMBEMHLEEBEREER
published by the Stock Exchange, data as at 31 December 2023 fE 55| - WA 1L2023F12A31H
- There was no direct comparison between the data for the Reporting — RERBEMETE  HAREFRLE—@E
Year and the previous reporting year due to changes in the scope of MEFHEBEREIFEEELER
reporting
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Overview of the Group’s monthly average employee turnover
over the past year is as below:

RIS - 4ERERHE

UTREEEE—FNEESAFARK
B

Cloud
Household Game computing and
products publishing Esports  data storage
business business business business
EFER
Employee turnover {EEHR% Unit By XERAREE BHBOEE EFHREEE HERFEEK
Turnover rate K & % BOL 0.00 2.45 3.23 3.51
Age profile ERAM
18-24 18-245% % BO 0.00 0.00 2.63 25.00
25-34 25-347% % BOL 0.00 417 6.25 3.21
35-44 35-447, % BAL 0.00 1.67 0.00 0.00
45-54 45-54, % BO 0.00 1.67 0.00 0.00
55-64 55-647% % BAk 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
65 or above e % BOk 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Gender profile ik
Male 3 % BO 0.00 2.08 2.78 0.04
Female I % BOkl 0.00 2.98 417 0.03
Region profile & 5
Chinese Mainland egEp % BAk 0.00 0.00 3.45 3.51
Hong Kong BB % BAlk 0.00 6.67 0.00 0.00
Taiwan = % Bok 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Malaysia BRAEE % BAk 0.00 3.57 0.00 0.00
Thailand & H % BAk 0.00 114 0.00 0.00
Notes: Bt -
= The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs — HEDERBZMEMH LS BREBIER
published by the Stock Exchange, data as at 31 December 2023 fE 55l - WA 1L2023F12A31H
= There was no direct comparison between the data for the Reporting - REGBEFMEE  WAREFE E—ER
Year and the previous reporting year due to changes in the scope of EFHNBBEREFEEELR
reporting
4.1. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 41. FEERE
Management guidelines and policies EEHHRBE

The Group sees employees our greatest assets and the
key driver of our business success. Our businesses have
been working actively to create a working environment that
features mutual respect and harmonious coexistence of
employees and gives priority to safety, to attract the best
people and motivate them with a rewarding career, and to
equip them with the necessary skills and knowledge. We
have a dedicated human resources committee to regularly
review and improve the relevant policies, and we have
developed a written staff manual according to the relevant
laws and industrial standards to govern the recruitment,
promotion, working hours, leave and other benefits of our
employees.
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Equal opportunities and diversity

We are proud of our talented employees and allow them
to achieve with their great potential. To attract and retain
the right talents is always crucial in our people approach.
We care for our people and offer them fair and equal
opportunities and benefits irrespective of their gender, age,
family status, race, religion, nationality, sexual orientation or
disability. Experience, ability and related qualifications are
the primary concerns in talent selection.

As a responsible employer, the Group will handle retirement
formalities for employees who have reached the statutory
retirement age in accordance with the relevant regulations,
and go through any dismissal procedures according to the
relevant labour laws. In the event of a work-related accident,
the Group will make reasonable compensation and handle it
properly in accordance with relevant laws.

Employee compensation

Our businesses give due recognition to employees’
contributions fairly and objectively by implementing equitable
remuneration policies. To offer incentives to our staff, our
remuneration mechanisms are reviewed and re-adjusted
regularly to remain competitive. We determine employee
benefits, rest time and holiday arrangements according
to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour
Standards Act of Taiwan, and applicable regulations in the
places where all business operations are conducted, such
as making contributions to the Five Major Types of Social
Insurance and Housing Provident Fund, Mandatory Provident
Fund, Labour Insurance, Health Insurance and Pension Fund
for employees and participating in the Well-being Mutual Aid
Fund Scheme for the benefit of female employees.
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4.2, OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

Management guidelines and policies

Employees are our most valuable resources. The Group
strictly adheres to all relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Production Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Fire Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, so as to create a safe, healthy and
comfortable working environment for our employees.

We are concerned about the health of our employees. In
order to step up the prevention of COVID-19, our household
products segment quickly developed the Prevention and
Emergency Rescue Plan and the Emergency Response Plan
to regulate personnel management and monitor the physical
condition of employees. It also developed the Prevention
Training Plan for employees to raise their awareness of the
pandemic and hygiene habits. In the game business section,
it distributed preventive kits including disinfectant alcohol
and masks to employees.

Household products business

Our household furnishings factories under the Group have
developed a series of comprehensive policies to manage
occupational health and safety issues, including the
Occupational Health and Safety Policy, the Indoor Air Quality
Policy and the Fire Fighting Policy, in order to comply with
relevant regulatory requirements and meet the development
needs of the Group. We strictly abide by the provisions in the
Compilation of Laws and Regulations on Occupational Safety
and Health Supervision issued by the Ningbo Municipal
Administration of Work Safety.

Our factories arrange dedicated personnel to take charge
of the Company’s occupational health and safety affairs
and regularly review the occupational health and safety
performance. We also provide employees with adequate
training on occupational health and safety and appropriate
protective equipment, with a view to enabling them to
identify high-risk areas in the workplace, work out solutions
to lower work-related risks, prevent accidents in the course
of work and reduce occupational hazards. Each year, the
Group provides physical examinations for employees to
prevent occupational diseases and give them appropriate
health guidance.
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In addition, we carry out assessment of workplace hazards
and detection of occupational hazards on a regular basis,
and engage third-party agencies to review our occupational
health and safety performance. Through such assessment
and review, we aim to ensure the effective implementation of
all occupational safety and health measures.

Game publishing business, esports business
and cloud computing and data storage
business

Due to our business characteristics, employees of game
publishing business, esports business and cloud computing
and data storage business mainly work in the office, and
they are not exposed to dust, radioactive materials and
other toxic and harmful substances at work, so there is
no occupational disease. But due to enduring desk work,
employees may suffer from symptoms such as wrist and
upper limb pain, muscle soreness, eye fatigue and mental
pressure. Therefore, we provide employees with ergonomic
desks and chairs, and regularly make arrange for employees
to participate in annual meetings, community activities, team
building for festivals, staff travel and other activities to help
employees relax, as well as enhance cohesion and a sense
of belonging among employees.

Furthermore, we arrange disaster prevention trainings
to raise employees’ awareness and ensure their safety.
During the year, we held a fire safety training course for all
employees from Fuzhou office of the cloud computing and
data storage business, in order to enhance their knowledge
of accident occurrence and prevention, as well as the
use of fire equipment. The training course was given by
experts from the fire brigade, and it effectively enhanced
employees’ understanding of disaster prevention, accident
response, and fire equipment operation. Moreover, we
regularly participate in fire drills organised by property
management companies, including evacuation and the use
of fire extinguishers, to enhance our ability to deal with fires
and keep employees safe. In addition to employees’ safety
and physical health, we also care about their mental health.
We provide stress management trainings for employees in
high-pressure positions of the esports business to help them
reduce negative emotions and stress.
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During the reporting periods for the last three years, the
Group did not have any cases of work-related accidental
fatalities. No work days were lost due to work injuries in the
past year for various business segments.

Employee communication

The Group welcomes and values the opinions of employees
who can express their opinions through different channels,
such as: the general manager mailbox and the trade union.
We also encourage employees to provide constructive
suggestions on the management measures and methods of
the Company. The Company will grant certain rewards as
appropriate to those whose suggestions are adopted.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
Management guidelines and policies

We firmly believe that continued training and development
for employees will enhance the value of the team and
professional quality of the employees themselves, thus
bringing higher production efficiency for the Group. The
Company has formulated the New Employee Training Policy,
the Employee Guidance Policy and the Vocational Skills
Training Policy to continuously improve the ability and quality
of our workforce. In order to conduct staff training in a more
regulated manner, we establish the staff training system and
incorporate the objectives into the evaluation indicators, so
as to encourage the staff to actively participate in various
work-related internal and external training activities, improve
personal professional skills, keep up with the strategic
development of the Group and strengthen the Group’s
market competitiveness.
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Our training topics include the following: BMHE)IEERRE:
Induction training New employees are provided with induction training which covers the Group’s

background, profile, facilities, employee handbook introduction and corporate social
responsibility, so that new employees can become familiar with the situation about the
Group quickly and gain a sense of belonging

BT AR FEIABERER FZENAEREESS @0 XRE - EIFMHETREEMLS
EAS FHEIHAREREERARMEEEENEER
Action sharing session We invite industry experts, scholars or senior mentors from external training institutions

to carry out special training sessions, so as to improve employees’ skills and
comprehensive capabilities

TN ES BETEER BENENDEIRBEEREMBEREEEY - NIRSE T EA A
MER & B

Technical staff training series The Group adopts a training strategy of “having old employees guide new ones” in hope
of passing on the experience and technical know-how of old employees to new ones.
We also arrange experienced staff to provide orientation and induction training for junior

staff

Bt A B Z5|5E SERABIAZEFINEIRE  HEFCRERMAG -BATSELRHFALRNE
IRMMABEIETHEERTRHEARE

Management efficiency We carry out special training for the management, which deepens management

improvement training personnel’s understanding of corporate culture, hones their management skills,
sharpens their communication skills, and thus raises management efficiency

IR R E R T E I FRAHEREENEREN  MAEEASHCEUENIER  ITEBTERE £ H
RRERBERDT  BAETERX

External training We offer subsidies to our employees for participating in accredited external courses

to equip them with professional knowledge and skills relating to their duties and keep
them abreast of the most cutting-edge developments in the industry

HhEB 5 B BHMETEERANINBFINRE URABIMERUMBBOHZEENZ  REAR
RWITERA B EA

Average training hours of employees
ABFIHEINEH

Cloud

computing

Household Game and data
products publishing Esports storage

business business business business
XERAM EERT EfHE EFERE

Unit B E)d ) £% BREE®
Male s Hours N 0.00 3.80 1.43 1.50
Female Z Hours N 0.00 5.21 1.50 1.50
Senior management 1= AL E 12 [ Hours N 0.00 8.33 1.50 0.00
Middle management A4 &E 2 E Hours N 0.00 913 1.50 0.00
Supervisor FE Hours N 0.00 9.60 0.00 1.50
General staff —RET Hours AN 0.00 017 1.45 1.50
Notes: B 7 -
= The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs — AEDERBRMEMH LS @REBIER
published by the Stock Exchange IE ¥R 45 5l
= here was no direct comparison between the data for the Reporting - REBEFMEE  WAREFE E—ER
Year and the previous reporting year due to changes in the scope of EFENEBREFEEELER

reporting
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Percentage of employees trained
ABEIBERLE

Cloud
computing
Household Game and data
products publishing Esports storage
business business business business
XEAM EERT EFHE EFNERE
Unit By £ ¥ % BRHREEE
Male s % Aot 0.00 63.64 67.74 57.89
Female z % BaL 0.00 36.36 32.26 42,11
Senior management = A & 1R [E % Bt 0.00 18.18 6.45 0.00
Middle management /4% & 12 [ % B 0.00 36.37 3.23 0.00
Supervisor FE % Aot 0.00 18.18 0.00 10.53
General staff —RETL % Bk 0.00 27.27 90.32 89.47
Notes: B 7
- The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs — AEDERBMIMMEMNLEERERER
published by the Stock Exchange I %R 45 5l
- There was no direct comparison between the data for the Reporting — EREHERMEE  MAREFHEE—ER
Year and the previous reporting year due to changes in the scope of EFNBBEREFEELR
reporting
4.4. PROTECTION OF RIGHTS AND INTERESTS 44. EEZRE
Management guidelines and policies EEHHRBE
The Company conducts staff recruitment and management KRB R EB(REARLMBELEE) -
in strict accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s (REARAMBELESHERE) (EIEFEHA
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s BETHT) BAEERBEHN)  82HH
Republic of China and the Regulations on the Prohibition of BEELIKMEEBELE FﬁEl i K 8
Child Labour, the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the MBI EHETEIRENETR  BY

Labour Standards Act of Taiwan, and applicable regulations
in the places where all business operations are conducted.
It is absolutely forbidden to employ any child labour and
any form of forced labour. Once any form of child or forced
labour is noticed, the Company will strictly abide by local
laws and regulations to curb such situations.

The Company considers child labour and forced labour
intolerable, which must be eliminated. The Company has
set up strict recruitment processes to conduct an intensive
examination of identity documents, such as ID card, sign
labour contracts and create the personal file in a fair and
voluntary manner in accordance with legal requirements.
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In accordance with the standard working hours stipulated
by the laws in the places where our business operations are
conducted, the Company makes reasonable arrangement of
working hours for our employees. Leave and benefits, such
as paid leave and sick leave, are provided in accordance
with labour laws. Subject to production requirements,
our production bases arrange overtime work on a
voluntary basis, and it requires negotiation with employee
representatives and employees and approval from the local
labour department, and must not exceed the statutory
working hours. Production bases and sales divisions of the
Company in the PRC and overseas prohibit and disapprove
any forced labour or contractual servitude, corporal
punishment, confinement, violent threat, and forbid collecting
any deposits illegally from employees, withholding identity
documents and battering employees.

During the reporting period, the Company did not have
any material non-compliance incident relating to the labour
standards under relevant laws and regulations.

OPERATIONAL COMMITMENT

In the process of business development, the Group always
keeps in mind that we have to manage our relationships
with our suppliers and customers in a responsible and
sustainable manner. We are dedicated to providing our
customers with the highest quality products and services,
and working with suppliers to create win-win results. To this
end, we implement different plans and measures and provide
safe and reliable products to achieve the vision of creating a
better society.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
Management guidelines and policies

Good supply chain operations have a positive impact on the
environment and society. Accordingly, we work closely with
suppliers to reduce relevant risks and jointly create a better
and greener future. The Group adopts a comprehensive
supply chain management mechanism, including a code of
conduct and a supplier assessment system, to monitor and
assess the quality of suppliers’ products and services and
their performance in environmental and social aspects and
business ethics. The Group is also committed to complying
with all laws and regulations related to its business
operations, and did not violate relevant laws and regulations
during the reporting period.
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Number of

suppliers of

the Group
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Other areas H b i (= Number &
Household products business XEHmEX

We monitor the quality of our suppliers on a monthly basis
to ensure that the products and services provided by
them meet the relevant contractual requirements, so as to
safeguard the quality of the products provided by the Group.
We also conduct standard training for suppliers on a regular
basis to provide suppliers with the opportunity to exchange
ideas and keep abreast of the latest industry developments
for the expansion and sharing of business opportunities.

The Company will strictly require our suppliers and their
own suppliers to comply with minimum requirements
for environmental and social performance and working
conditions when purchasing products, materials and services
and to abide by local laws and regulations, confidentiality
and anti-corruption.

In order to ensure that suppliers effectively honour their
corporate social responsibility at the community and
environmental levels, we appoint a third party to conduct SSI
system audits on suppliers each year.

Game publishing business, esports business
and cloud computing and data storage
business

The Group has developed a standard Supplier Management
Mechanism for its game business. We will give priority
to partners with sustainable development concepts who
undertake corporate social responsibilities. We hope to work
with suppliers on improving the industry’s performance in the
environmental and social aspects, and effectively managing
the environmental and social risks of the supply chain. In
addition, according to the situation, we will classify the green
products purchased or to be purchased and make a list of
green products applicable to the Group for subsequent use.
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5.2.

HIGH QUALITY PRODUCTS
Management guidelines and policies

Providing quality products to our customers is our ultimate
goal. The Group commits itself to establishing, maintaining
and improving the ISO9001 quality system, with a mission
to provide quality products and services to meet customer
needs. In the course of operations, the Group strictly
abides by national laws and regulations and industry quality
standards and constantly improves quality management to
safeguard the basic rights and interests of customers. If a
product needs to be recalled, we will fully implement product
recall procedures in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations of the operating locations and conduct reviews
to ensure product quality.

5.2.
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92 Imperium Technology Group Limited

In terms of household products business, we strive to
provide high-quality products. Each product will be
tested for quality and safety before being packaged as a
finished product. We have a quality control department
to be responsible for testing products, formulating testing
management procedures, and conducting final testing
according to such procedures. During the reporting period,
the Company did not violate any laws and regulations related
to product responsibility, nor did it receive any customer
complaints. The percentage of products recalled for health
or safety reasons was 0%.

In terms of privacy and intellectual property rights, all
information reports, discussions, and written messages of
customers regarding the household products business of the
Group must be kept confidential. In addition, the Company
will never purchase pirated products or use photos or
designs without third-party licensing.
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Game publishing business, esports business
and cloud computing and data storage
business

For marketing and management, the Group strictly controls
the release of marketing information through the Internet,
newspapers, media and other channels to ensure the
compliance of publicity, promotion and advertising releases
in accordance with the requirements of laws and regulations
such as the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Interim Measures for the Administration of
Internet Advertising and the Trade Descriptions Ordinance.
For intellectual property rights, the Group strictly complies
with the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Tort Liability Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Measures for the Administration of Internet Domain Names
of China, the Administrative Measures for Software Products
and other laws and regulations to formulate the Intellectual
Property Management Policy in order to regulate intellectual
property management. We have also signed non-disclosure
agreements with our employees and business partners to
ensure the security of our intellectual property. We take
measures to prevent infringement of the intellectual property
rights of third parties, and conduct frequent monitoring and
review. If any potential infringement risk is found, the legal
department will set up an urgent working team to investigate
the potential infringement, and cease the infringement
activities against third parties through legal actions, while
protecting the legitimate rights and interests of the Group.

In terms of privacy, employees who have access to customer
information and important company information will sign
confidentiality agreements to prevent data leakage.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Management guidelines and policies

The Group requires all employees to comply professionally
with the Group’s policies on conflicts of interest,
intellectual property rights, privacy, confidentiality of
information, prevention of bribery and corruption, and equal
opportunities. The Group’s employment contract requires
employees to abide by the code of business ethics and to
refrain from corruption and bribery.

The Group strictly abides by the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China and, according to its own characteristics
and circumstances, stipulates standard anti-corruption
requirements to strengthen corporate governance and
internal control and standard business practices to
safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of shareholders
and promote the healthy and stable development of the
Company.

The Audit Centre of the Group regularly conducts
group-wide anti-fraud publicity. Specifically, it collects the
latest anti-fraud information, including recent major fraud
events in various industries and the handling measures,
prepares anti-fraud publicity materials after compilation
and analysis based on the characteristics of the Group’s
business, and distributes the materials to all employees of
the Group for self-study, with a view to creating a sound
anti-fraud environment in the Group.

In addition, our esports business provided standard
anti-corruption training for directors and employees
during the reporting period, and formulated relevant
rules for employees to abide by, so as to facilitate the
Group’s strategic development and enhance its market
competitiveness.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group also provides whistle-blowing channels for
stakeholders to report suspicious activities by email,
telephone or fax. The reported cases will be independently
investigated and properly followed up. After the final review
of the investigation report, if it is specified in the handling
plan that the labour contract with any person involved in the
fraud is terminated, the employee dismissal process will be
initiated. For a fraud case that must be referred to the judicial
authority, the Audit Centre will hand over the personnel
involved in the fraud and the related materials to the judicial
authority for handling. We will take remedial measures to
rectify any procedural defects or implementation loopholes
found in any fraud event and follow up on the implementation
of such remedial measures, so as to avoid recurrence of
similar fraud events.

During the reporting period, the Company found no cases of
violation of laws and regulations related to corruption.

GIVING BACK TO SOCIETY

The Group is well aware that our responsibility is not only to
contribute directly to the economy, but also to generate a
positive impact on society as a whole through our business
operations and charity undertakings. Our household
furnishings factory in Ningbo is committed to reducing the
potential environmental impact of production on surrounding
communities. During the reporting period, we not only made
charity donations, but also encouraged employees to take
an active part in community activities such as acting as
volunteers.

Our esports business and cloud computing and data storage
business teams participated in a number of community
service activities during the year, including second-hand
items donations, tree-planting activities, regular participation
in cultural and educational activities and visits to nursing
homes.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - HERERRE

HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX BRXAORE LB RERHREESDES
Chapter
4]

A Environmental

A BE

Aspect A1 Emissions 3.1 Emissions

HEAA 738 3B

Indicator A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data 3.1 Emissions

ERAL BB E AR NEE KRk it

Indicator A.1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, 3.1 Emissions

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
EEAL2 B (BE) R RAE (BE2) RERBHNE U E) R(NER) BE (WAGESEL - 31HRY

SEREHE) -
Indicator A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of 3.1 Emissions
production volume, per facility).

EIRALS EAREREZEVAEUNARER(NERZE(MNEEEEM  BBEREFTE) - KRk it

Indicator A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per 3.1 Emissions
unit of production volume, per facility).

BEAL4 EABREREEDLESCAEE)R(WERBE (WABESEN BERMAHE) - SAHEMY)

Indicator A.1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 3.1 Emissions

EIEALS HRFMTUNEHREEERAENELERMERNTSR CRE37¢)

Indicator A.1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of 3.1 Emissions
reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

BEALS HILREEEREEEEMNA L RERMIVNAEEERAEINELEFEMERS 31HERY
T o
Aspect A.2 Use of Resources 3.2 Making Good Use of
Resources
HHEA2 BEREA 32.EMER
Indicator A.2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in 3.2 Making Good Use of
’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Resources
EIZA21 REAESNERER /FHEER(WE R ARECUTETRRHEREE (WU 32ERER
BESEN BERKIMHE) -
Indicator A.2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). 3.2 Making Good Use of
Resources
EEA22 BRKERTEE(WNGESEN BERBTHE) - 32.EREIR
Indicator A.2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 3.2 Making Good Use of
Resources
BEAL23 HPEI UM RERAYHEERRAEINELAGMRRAF R - 32.EAER
Indicator A.2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water 3.2 Making Good Use of
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Resources
EIZA24 A SREBGERAKR EAIBEMEE  ARMTUMAKNSEERAEINELARMER 32ERER
)2 B o
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R 4ERERWRE

Chapter

B

Indicator A.2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with 3.2 Making Good Use of

reference to per unit produced. Resources
ERA25 AEmBREMHNEE NBEAR)R(MER) BEEEUEE - 32EMER
Aspect A.3 The Environment and Natural Resources 3.3 Promoting Green
Operations
JEA3 RERXAER 33 EHRELE
Indicator A.3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources There were no accidents
and the actions taken to manage them. which have significant

impacts on the environment
and natural resources
during the period

EIRA3 HAEBEHHRERRAERNEAZERCRDNEREHFZ ENTY - BARBHRFERRAE
BHEAYENER

Aspect A4 Climate Change 3.4 Climate Change

HHEA4 RIRZ1 S4REE

Indicator A.4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which 3.4 Climate Change
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

EIRA4I HREERARHEHETAEAZENERRGEBSZE  REHTH - 4. RIEE

B Social

B e

Aspect B.1 Employment 4.1 Equal Employment

FEB1 EfR 41T SRR

Indicator B.1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-or part-time), age group and 4.1 Equal Employment
geographical region.

EZEBAA RIER - ERER(N2BERRE) FRANGRASNES L - 41T SRR

Indicator B.1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 4.1 Equal Employment

EEB1.2 B FRANKMEREDNEERKLE - 41T EER

Aspect B.2 Health and Safety 4.2 Occupational Health

and Safety

FHEB.2 REREZZ 412BEREERD

Indicator B.2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years (including There were no work-
the reporting year). related fatalities in the past

three years (including the

reporting period)
E12B.21 BE=F (BEERFRE)BFRITHMAZRRL X - BEBREPNNBE=F

FAEAITHENH
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Chapter
=]

Indicator B.2.2

#EEB22

Indicator B.2.3

E1ZB.23
Aspect B.3

FHB.3
Indicator B.3.1

E1EB.3.1
Indicator B.3.2

E12B.3.2
Aspect B.4

FHB.4
Indicator B.4.1

E1EB.41
Indicator B.4.2

#E15B.4.2
Aspect B.5

FEB.S
Indicator B.5.1

E1EB.51
Indicator B.5.2

1512B.5.2
Indicator B.5.3

1512B.5.3
Indicator B.5.4

1E1ZB5.4

Lost days due to work injury.

AIGERIERE -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

HEMRANOBEREAZ 2R AREBRTRERTE -

Development and Training

R R

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior

management, middle management).
BRUFIREEEN(WSREEE FREEE)HAINXIEEASLL -
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category.

RUuRNREERANE D  BREEXAZIN TR -

Labour Standards

HITEA

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labour.

Hlma AEEMNBEABRETRRHST -
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

HEEZRERBREBERAEBERRARRNLR

Supply Chain Management

HEgEE

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

iwRE DO EREE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the

practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HAEBREREEENED -
Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply

MEMRTEREONNHERHRE  UAREBRTRERNE -

chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
HEEBRBARERSERDNRERLGARNED  UREBRATRERSE -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services

when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.
HEAEREREARREZARRERRRBEOES  UREERATREETE -

98 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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There were no work days
lost due to work injury
during reporting period
BEBRBERIGREAT
fERE

4.2 Occupational Health
and Safety

2B ERRER S
4.3 Training and
Development

435 1% R

4.3 Training and
Development

43571 %R

4.3 Training and
Development
435 E R

4.4 Protection of Rights and
Interests

44 HRE

4.4 Protection of Rights and
Interests

4AREHRE

There was no violation
during the period
BARBERBR

5.1 Supply Chain
Management

51t EEE R

5.1 Supply Chain
Management

51t EEE R

5.1 Supply Chain
Management
51t E

5.1 Supply Chain
Management

51t EEE R

5.1 Supply Chain
Management

51t EEE R
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RIS - 4ERERHE

Chapter

2z s

BB

Aspect B.6
7 EB.6
Indicator B.6.1

1513861

Indicator B.6.2

#1%B.6.2

Indicator B.6.3
E12B.6.3
Indicator B.6.4
E1EB.6.4
Indicator B.6.5

#E1EB6.5
Aspect B.7
HEB7
Indicator B.7.1

EEB.TA
Indicator B.7.2

H1EB.7.2
Indicator B.7.3
1E1B.7.3
Aspect B.8

7 EB.S8
Indicator B.8.1

E1EB.81
Indicator B.8.2
E12B.8.2

Product Responsibility
EmAf

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.

EEXCEREMEHTRR 2 ERFEEMMARKNAN L -

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt with.

REBRERRRENRFEEAREHTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights.

HrEgERRENZEREHEOE

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HLEERTBRERERTKER -
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented

and monitored.

HHBZEERRERABEE  URABRATREERDE -

Anti-corruption
R&S

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or

its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

REGRBASETARERERETEEANESH
Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

e
A

B BEELRRER ARBERITRERAE -
Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

HAMEERBETRENRERE -

Community Investment

HERE

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs, health,

culture, sport).

frE0 2B R af

EIERERE(NHKE REFE BIZK R X B
Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIEBMBAER(MEBERKR)

I\ 4
o A

Ro

5.2 High Quality Products
52BEEM

There were no products
subject to recall for safety
and health reasons during
the period
BARFEREZ 2 RE
FRI2 i 78 B i

There were no complaints
due to quality problems
during the period
HBAREEMmERBENRK
Eil

5.2 High Quality Products
5.2BEEm

5.2 High Quality Products
5.2BEEm

5.2 High Quality Products

52BEEm

5.3 Corporate Governance
5.3 ¥

There were no corruption
proceedings during the
period
HAREESFDRN

5.3 Corporate Governance

5.3 %818

5.3 Corporate Governance
5.3 ¥

6. Giving Back to Society
6.0 & 1t =

6. Giving Back to Society

6.0 & 1t =
6. Giving Back to Society
6. Bl &
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B A BET R

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
IMPERIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Imperium Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 104 to 248, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements and as to whether the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material uncertainties relating to the going
concern basis

As explained in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss and operating cash outflow of
approximately HK$123,449,000 and HK$51,427,000 respectively
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the
Group was in net current liabilities and net liabilities position of
approximately HK$208,024,000 and HK$252,815,000 respectively.
In addition, the Group had loans from related parties with aggregate
principal amount of HK$310,000,000 due to the controlling
shareholder of the Company and the companies which are
beneficially owned and controlled by him.

Hr &3t F WA A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The conditions referred to above, along with other matters as
described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking certain
measures to improve the liquidity and financial position of the
Group, which are set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which is
dependent on the outcomes of these measures, which are
inherently uncertain and subject to multiple uncertainties, including
() whether the Group’s debtors will timely settle their debts; (ii)
whether the Group can successfully implement measures for
cost control and business strategies to improve its business
operations; and (iii) whether the Group can successfully negotiate
with its creditors for extension of its debts when they fall due and
successfully obtain additional new sources of financing as and
when needed. As at the date of this report, the eventual outcome of
these measures cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty.

We have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves about the appropriateness of the use
of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements because of the lack of detailed
analyses provided by directors of the Company in relation to their
plans and measures for future actions in their going concern
assessment which take into account the uncertainty of the outcome
of these plans and measures and how the variability of the outcome
would affect the future cash flows of the Group.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements and
we were unable to determine whether such adjustments might have
been found necessary.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B A BET R

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on 31 March 2023.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Annual Report 2023

Htt =15

EEEHE T -_—_F+_A=+—HLFERHN
GRAEVBRRDNES B ZEMEBZ 2B EH
MER-—ZE_=F=A=+—HB%XABIT=R -

ESRELZEENGRAMBRMRAX
ENEE

N

RRIEFRERBEE M AS(HFE G
fAg)BmHELNEREEL(ELEYB R

SEADREEARGINBEREREATEE
MARMRREANGETHBHRER - M ERA
=i

7N
EEMEBEENZRTANERARRRESASME
BRETFERARFRERMEBNERBRR

it o

ERBESAVBHRRRE BERAAEFAAR
fl ERENKELERN XEERBRTH
REREKLLEEMNFTE UREAKERLER
BFER RIEZAEH EKEFRIKIL

g AR EEMERNBER TR -
ERZESREEE ESENMBHmERERF-



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditors’ report.
We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. However,
because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Leung King Kit.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung King Kit
Practicing Certificate Number: P08264

Hong Kong, 30 April 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mElERk
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
2023 2022
—E-= —E=-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FE T FAET
REVENUE & 8 72,557 133,101
Cost of sales 85 & AR (61,916) (112,685)
Gross profit EF 10,641 20,416
Other income EH g A 9 1,405 5,874
Other gains and losses H i ug 25 K B8 15a 16,114 (4,318)
Distribution and selling costs 7 85 I 85 & B AR (3,295) (13,247)
Administrative expenses 1T X (90,056) (132,005)
Impairment loss of receivables, net of reversal & U& X T8 Jl (B /&5 18
(FORR @) 150 (7,417) (1,159)
Impairment loss of non-financial assets, FeRMEERESE
net of reversal (nBrEEE) 15b (33,458) (43,963)
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS BREEBR (106,066) (168,402)
Finance costs Bl & A AR 13 (16,793) (12,203)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRB A& 1B (122,859) (180,605)
Income tax (expense)/credit FrEf (AR, #Ee 14 (590) 254
LOSS FOR THE YEAR ERE B 15 (123,449) (180,351)
Attributable to: LURA L FE4L:
Owners of the Company ZN/NCIEZ Z N (127,733) (180,884)
Non-controlling interests IEERRE = 4,284 533
(123,449) (180,351)
LOSS PER SHARE BREE
Basic (HK$) AEROETT) 17 (0.41) (0.58)
Diluted (HK$) #E (BT 17 (0.41) (0.58)

1 04 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEsERkEMEEIER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

2023 2022
—EB-= g
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FE T FAT
Loss for the year FRER (123,449) (180,351)
Other comprehensive loss: Ht2mEEIR:
Iltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss: FAJFEE# S B2 BB -
Exchange differences on translating foreign BMEBIINEBMEE 2
operations & =% (1,468) (2,444)
Reclassification adjustment related to disposal F AN HEEINEKBBEEH
of foreign operations during the year o AR 35 (16,949) =
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FRAEMZ2HEEE
net of tax (BRBi#&) (18,417) (2,444)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREZHEHEBRAE (141,866) (182,795)
Attributable to: LA :
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIEZ Z PN (145,926) (183,328)
Non-controlling interests JEFE AR HE = 4,060 533
(141,866) (182,795)
FEREEEERAE 2023 F 1}
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BEIR LR

At 31 December 2028 R —_E_=F+_-_A=+—H

2023 2022
—==-= —F- =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y2 WENREZE 18 16,120 36,007
Investment properties "EME 19 19,169 20,496
Goodwill B 20 - 2,982
Intangible assets EmEEE 21 7,114 65,185
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments &2 & - H it i U 30 I8 &
TRt FRIE 25 7,795 12,698
50,198 137,368
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 22 202 1,508
Contract costs B KA 2 173
Loan receivables and interest receivables JE I B 2R K e IR B 23 - 3,603
Trade receivables FE W E 5 BR 3K 24 18,165 33,998
Current tax assets BN AR % 18 & B 23 31
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments  #&& - H fit FE Uk 30 I8 &
At R IE 25 5,549 18,775
Cryptocurrencies gk 26a 8,825 6,323
Cryptocurrency deposits and receivables nEEsiEe kBRI
B 26b 7,776 1,879
Cash and bank balances & RIRTT A ER 27 10,189 42,764
50,731 109,054
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables FERTE SR 28 4,859 10,180
Cryptocurrency payables FERINE & % 4 1,045
Lease liabilities HEAR 29 3,449 6,260
Loans from related parties REBE T Z2ER 30 208,563 78,270
Other payables and accruals HibER B R EETIE R 31 41,397 82,669
Contract liabilities aHBE 32 439 1,896
Current tax liabilities BNEAF B & & 44 29
258,755 180,349
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEEFE (208,024) (71,295)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HMEERABARG
LIABILITIES (157,826) 66,073
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e PRI TR

At 31 December 2028 R —E =+ _-_A=+—H

2023 2022
—E=-= —E- =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5 F BT FET
Non-current liabilities RBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 1,686 3,862
Loans from related parties REBE T 2 ER 30 92,204 188,353
Other payables H th & 1 5OIE 31 342 282
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBAEE 33 757 1,888
94,989 194,385
NET LIABILITIES EEFH (252,815) (128,312)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR@EE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  ZANA 7] # B A FE {5 A% 4
Share capital % 7 34 3,110 3,110
Reserves B (255,687) (127,124)
(252,577) (124,014)
Non-controlling interests FERER (238) (4,298)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCY B A (252,815) (128,312)

The consolidated financial statements were approved and eV BRELESEN T _HFNA=1+H
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 April 2024 and #LEREETE  WHNTEERERES:
are signed on its behalf by:

Cheng Ting Kong Yeung So Mui
BT B BES
Director Director

5= 5=
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

2023 2022
—ECZ-= —F-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B & TR FTAET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& EBMNEAELHRE
Loss before tax B 7% B &S 18 (122,859) (180,605)
Adjustments for: 4R R
Net fair value losses on investment properties BREWMERAALBEERFRE 515 534
Depreciation and amortisation mEXE#E 38,158 48,666
Finance costs RN 16,793 12,203
Interest income AFSR N (30) (53)
Equity-settled share-based payments A B 4 45 &30 DA B {0
RERNAR 6,274 56,075
Impairment loss of receivables, net of reversal B RERBE
(K& mE) 7,417 1,159
Impairment loss of non-financial assets, net of FEeRMEEREESE
reversal (B E) 33,458 43,963
Write off of deposits, other receivables and MiEZe  HtEERER
prepayments B FIA - 3,786
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and HEME BERREZ
equipment B8/ () 27 (20)
Loss on write off of intangible assets WEBVEE BB 6,056 2,494
Gain on remeasurement of lease EFFEEEZHE (96) (105)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR MR (20,969) =
Operating loss before working capital changes BEBSEYNCKEERE (35,256) (11,903)
Decrease/(increase) in cryptocurrencies MEEERD,/ (M) 256 (624)
Increase in cryptocurrency deposits and receivables % &R 4 & EW N &%
0 (3,172) (2,140)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL/ (8 1,306 (332)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FE 4 B 5 B8R ZOR (38 ) 13,007 4,776)
(Increase)/decrease in loan receivables and interest  J& 4 & 7 K & W 7| &
receivables (), m (973) 880
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, other receivables &4 ~ E {th & Uz 18 |
and prepayments BAZRER D/ GE ) 10,101 (7,504)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B SR O A),/ 10 (5,321) 4,818
(Decrease)/increase in cryptocurrency payables R MEEECRD),/m (1,041) 942
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accruals £ fth JE {5078 K FE 5118 B
OR ),/ (28,298) 5,666
Decrease in contract liabilities EHEERD (1,457) (7,377)
Decrease in contract costs & H AR 171 7
Cash used in operations KEFMAMNRE (50,677) (22,343)
Income taxes paid BB - (373)
Interest on lease liabilities HEARMNE (750) (1,205)
Net cash used in operating activities KETFEMAMNE 58 (51,427) (23,921)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HERERNER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
2023 2022
—ECZ-= —F-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B & THET THET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEHNELRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWX BMEREH (186) (3,302)
Acquisition of intangible assets WHEEVEE = (38,567)
Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiaries HEMNBARZRERL F5HE (5,271) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEME BEREHEZ
equipment FT 15 538 - 1,074
Interest received B U F 8 30 53
Net cash used in investing activities REGTHMANBEEFE (5,427) (40,742)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES Rt EZEBNEELRE
Borrowings raised MEEE 30,000 80,000
Principal elements of lease payments HENRzAEHS (6,293) (8,873)
Interest paid B A A (60) (48)
Acquisition from non-controlling interest BIFERE R B = (7,701)
Net cash generated from financing activities BMETHEEMNR S FE 23,647 63,378
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH REeRACEENHLFE
EQUIVALENTS (33,207) (1,285)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE ExgmHsyE
CHANGES 632 1,023
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—BA—-BzEERELZEEY
1 JANUARY 42,764 43,026
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RTZA=+—-HZzEER
31 DECEMBER ReEEY 10,189 42,764




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Imperium Technology Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands. The address of its
principal place of business is Room 02, 26/F, One Harbour
Square, No. 181 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Diamond
State Holdings Limited (“Diamond State”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, is the immediate
parent and Mr. Cheng Ting Kong (“Mr. Cheng”) is the
ultimate controlling party of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency
of the Company. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in the nearest (HK$’000), unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosure required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“the Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The Group incurred a net loss and operating cash outflow
of approximately HK$123,449,000 (2022: HK$180,351,000)
and HK$51,427,000 (2022: HK$23,921,000) respectively
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that
date, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities
of approximately HK$208,024,000 (2022: HK$71,295,000)
and HK$252,815,000 (2022: HK$128,312,000) respectively.

Further, as at 31 December 2023, the Group had loans
from related parties with a total principal amount of
approximately HK$310,000,000 due to Mr. Cheng and
related companies, which are beneficially owned and
controlled by Mr. Cheng, of which HK$210,000,000
will mature in 2024 while the Group recorded cash and
bank balances of approximately HK$10,189,000 as at 31
December 2023.

The conditions described above cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In
view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group and its available sources
of financing in assessing whether the Group will be able
to finance its future working capital and fulfill its financial
obligations and continue as a going concern. Certain
plans and measures are being or will be taken to manage
its liquidity needs and to improve its financial position,
which include, but are not limited to, the following:

(i) The Group will continuously adopt a monitoring
process on the repayment status of trade
receivables in order to seek to achieve timely
collection and improve its operating cash flows and
financial position;

(i) The Group will continuously take measures to
tighten cost control over various costs in order to
seek to achieve profit and operating cash inflows
and seek to implement various strategies to
enhance the Group’s revenue; and

(iii) The Group will continue negotiations with its
creditors for extension of its debts when they
fall due and seek alternative debt and/or equity
financing to meet cash flow requirements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The directors of the Company had reviewed the Group’s
cash flow forecast for a period of not less than twelve
months from the date of the approval and authorisation
to issue of the consolidated financial statements and are
of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient cash
resources to finance its working capital requirements and
financial obligations during the forecast period, taking
into account and assuming the above-mentioned plans
and measures will enable the Group’s operations to attain
profitable and positive cash flows from operations and
result in successful negotiation with the Group’s creditors
to extend the repayment date or obtain sufficient new
financing. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 on a going concern basis.

However, the eventual outcome of these matters cannot
be estimated with reasonable certainty, hence there exists
material uncertainty related to the conditions described
above which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge
its liabilities in the normal course of business. Should
the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the assumption that the Group will
continue as a going concern.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L —=F+ - A=+—H It FE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(@) New and amendments to HKFRSs that
are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1
January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to

Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 17)

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Disclosure of Accounting
Practice Statement 2 Polices
(Amendments)

HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model

Rules

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

The application of the new and amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

1 14 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

ERHIEEMBREEAN(ER

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(a)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that
are mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application
of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF”)
(“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong

— Long Service Payment

In June 2022, the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“Government”)
gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (“Amendment
Ordinance”), which will come into effect from 1
May 2025 (“Transition Date”). Once the Amendment
Ordinance takes effect, an employer can no longer
use any of the accrued benefits derived from its
mandatory contributions to mandatory provident fund
(“MPF”) scheme to reduce the long service payment
(“LSP”) in respect of an employee’s service from
the Transition Date (the abolition of the “offsetting
mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect of the
service before the Transition Date will be calculated
based on the employee’s monthly salary immediately
before the Transition Date and the years of service up
to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published the captioned
accounting guidance relating to the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism. In particular, the guidance
indicates that entities may account for the accrued
benefits derived from mandatory MPF contributions
that are expected to be used to reduce the LSP
payable to an employee as deemed contributions by
that employee towards the LSP.

To better reflect the substance of the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism, the Group has applied the
above HKICPA guidance and changed its accounting
policy in connection with its LSP liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(a)

1 16 Imperium Technology Group Limited

New and amendments to HKFRSs that
are mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments narrow the
scope of the recognition exemption of deferred tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15
and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no longer
applies to transactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

In accordance with the transition provision:

(i) the Group has applied the new amendments
on temporary differences for transactions
related to leases as at 1 January 2022;

(if) the Group also, as at 1 January 2022,
recognised a deferred tax asset (to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary difference associated with
right-of-use-assets and lease liabilities.

The change in accounting policies in the current year

had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but (b)
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective:

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  Sale or Contribution
(Amendments) of Assets between
an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture?®
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback’
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of
Liabilities as Current
or Non-current!
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants!
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance
(Amendments) Arrangements’

HKAS 21 (Amendments) Lack of Exchangeability?

Hong Kong Interpretations Presentation of Financial
5 (Revised) Statements —
Classification by the
Borrower of a Term
Loan that contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause!

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all amendments to HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis, except for investment
properties which have been measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies below.

In addition, certain comparative figures have been
reclassified to conform to current year’s presentation.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For investment properties which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 = —F - =F +—_A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value

measurements are categorised into Level 1,

2 or 3

based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value

measurements are observable and the significance of the

inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are

described as follows:

(a)

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.

(a)

1 20 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient
to give it power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings
of the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other
vote holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Group has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4., EARETFTHEFER )

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting
policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Change in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.

(b)

(c)

1 22 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Change in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners
of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit
or any of the cash-generating unit within the group
of cash-generating units, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash- generating unit within a group of cash-
generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed
of is measured on the basis of the relative values of
the operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed
of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the
group of cash-generating units) retained.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost,
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B TS ER AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L - =F + - A=+ —HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

e

4.

(d)

1 24 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position
except for those that are classified and accounted for
as investment properties under the fair value model.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are recognised in profit or loss during the period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives
on a straight-line basis. The principal estimated useful
lives are as follows:

Properties 50 years
Leasehold improvement 2-5 years
Plant and machinery 3-10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 2-5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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EXRHHEER®

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. These include
land held for a currently undetermined future use and
property that is being constructed or developed for
future use as investment property.

Investment property are stated at fair value, unless
they are still in the course of construction or
development at the end of the reporting period and
their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that
time.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. For contracts entered into or modified
on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS
16 or arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed. As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis
when the Group reasonably expects that the effects
on the consolidated financial statements would not
differ materially from individual leases within the
portfolio.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L - =F + - A=+ —HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

e

4.

(f)

1 26 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(f)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the

Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in the
“property, plant and equipment”, the same line item
within which the corresponding underlying assets
would be presented if they were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & &

TR+ - A=t+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(f) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group

recognises and measures the lease liability at the

present value of lease

payments that are unpaid at

that date. In calculating the present value of lease

payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the

index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if

the lease term reflects the Group exercising an

option.

1 28 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4., EARETFTHEFER )

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(f)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-alone
price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.

(f)

1 30 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability, less any lease incentives receivable, based on
the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains one or more
additional lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component. The associated
non-lease components are included in the respective
lease components.

The Group as a lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset,
and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value
model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments from
lessees.

Annual Report 2023

4.

EAGTHEER (B

() HE@®
KEFIEEZRHBA(E)
HEBRE (&)

AARERBLIEEARNESER
mME AKRBERBEEERETE
MHA B EERT R KR EEBA]
MENRZEEITHENERERN
AEHERROREAELREEE®
) e

AEEERHAMEREEEFD
HERAE U ERBENEN
BEARK -

EREBIANEE —EAXZ EEIN
HEAXREDI R AEEREEE
AR A BLER  BEE
RENHMRESEEEEHEEANK
BB o B ERE AR E 2 Al
AZENHEAKIED F -

rEBERLBEA

REMBENHSWAENEBEE
HANEREIERRBER - EAR
THREMHERMEENTRE
BERARANBEEEENRAS
B ZERAERY AN ERERE
RERAX ERALEEAGFEN
BREWMEEIN

AEEAFXBBARTELENES
WA25 AW -

AREMHE R T

BHTRERE RS HREE B
BREEAEIRABLNSRAR
it R MSHANZANEAE
WA AKERBAZBIMEERE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4., EARETFTHEFER )

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(9)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Game intellectual properties and licences, game
software, rights on esports team and trademark
acquired separately are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 2 to 5 years.

The intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line
basis over the following period:

Game intellectual properties and 1-2 years
licenses

Game software 3 years

Rights on esports team 5 years

Trademark 5 years

Intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition
of an intangible asset, measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognized.

(9)

BRVEE

EBUBEAGBERVTERFHN
| & B AR A RAE [ 1R REHR
BEEBEIER

ERRBNEBANBERERER -
BEET RETHERBEZERZR
BEERANRRFHE R REEBR
5Bk o #EEH IR HoOE5F N At Al (2
RERABEZETE -

BRVEENBEREEATHIR#H:

BT 5 N 2 A R 1-24F
e 5 B 3%
REFHEEB 2R 54
GRS 5%

BREENHEXNBEHREAILE
N EE AR R R AR B B 25 B AR L TE R ©
RIBRBTLEEMEEZKER
ERENZEENHEMSRIAFHE
HEREC ZBAE  YRNZEE
RIEFERBENBaEPRER -

FERNEEBERAA 2023 Fif

131



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(h)

1 32 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Annual Report 2023

EXRHHEER®

(h)

ME- BERKE £HEE
EREVEE(FERKRMNRE

RBEESHMR AEEEREDE
BELSERE ERAEEERAAR
ERFHNETLEENKREME " N
BRERRAEMBRBLRIZEEE
HER B E B8 o fin 3R AE [ B B R
R A HEHBEEENATRE S -
NEEREBRMANEE - &
BEREAFHOETLEE K H KA
ERNEFNEENRLBFETR
BRARX—RXR RERREFRBETE
E R B BB E R ETRERH -

ME BEARE ERABEEER
BREEMBAEAIKRE S - W
EXERNBFAATREESE  AAE
Bt EEMBRESELEMA
YWl ER -

HESELBMETRENRE -
HMEEAE BN OREE  QF
BESEIREEZNMAREELEN
BRIEHEEG T REARESE
—HROoREENBREELBUZN
Bl - T EeBEARNEENB
MReELBEUNBRELEMAE
PlEE TRABBESELEFEMNK
ReELABMARNNRAELR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4., EARETTHEERH)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(h)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset
(or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at
a revalued amount under another standard, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease under that standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(h)

(i)

1 34 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Cryptocurrency assets
Cryptocurrencies

Cryptocurrency, a form of Crypto assets, with all
the characteristics that (i) it is a digital or virtual
currency recorded on a distributed ledger that uses
cryptography for security; (ii) it is not issued by a
jurisdictional authority or other party; and (iii) it does
not give rise to a contract between the holder and
another party.

The Group receive cryptocurrency as consideration
in its cloud computing and online game operations.
It is engaged in cryptocurrency mining and rental of
machines to lessees to engage in cryptocurrency
mining. The Group received cryptocurrencies from the
operations of its cryptocurrency mining equipment,
lease of mining machines and sale of non-fungible
token (the “NFT”) and other virtual tokens. The
cryptocurrencies on hand at the end of the reporting
period can be bought and sold, do not qualify for
recognition as cash and cash equivalents or financial
assets, and are similar to intangible assets in nature.
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4., EARETTHEERH)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(i)

Cryptocurrency assets (Continued)
Cryptocurrencies (Continued)

The Group’s business model for holding
cryptocurrencies received from its operations are
held for sale in the ordinary course of business.
Accordingly, the cryptocurrencies are accounted for
as similar to inventories based on the requirements of

HKAS 2.

Cryptocurrencies are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost represents the fair value at
the date when a cryptocurrency is generated from
cryptocurrency mining and historical purchase cost
is calculated using weighted-average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Cryptocurrency deposits and receivables

Certain cryptocurrencies are transferred to
cryptocurrency deposits for the Group to engage in
cryptocurrency mining. Cryptocurrency receivables
are due from lessees as rental receivables for leasing
of mining machines. The cryptocurrency deposits and
receivables are measured at cost less accumulated
impairment. The carrying amounts of cryptocurrency
deposits and receivables are reviewed at each
reporting date for indications of impairment. The
details of impairment of non-financial assets are set
out in Note 4(h).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.

)]

(k)

1 36 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average basis. The cost of finished goods
and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of all production
overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4., EARETTHEERH)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(k)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest income
and interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.

(k)

1 38 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, loan receivables, deposits
and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents)
which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Annual Report 2023

4.

EAGTHEER (B
(k) £€®IAE
SHEEE)

EHEEZ S BEREETE(E)

B A R BB YA
PRHRRBHEHRAAEZSREE
ERERMEEERNB WA - F
BRAEBECRHEERDAER
RERMEMAE  EERKBE
EREZEMEERINETX -
REERKREEREZEREEM
FEOANBRAZEBHEMEERT
—HEHECBENAERER
MEFUER -HEBERESBRT
AZRRRBRNE NASBAE
TEEEEERE  FEKRAER
HERMEEREETEETBREESR
ERERZHRE NG EREKEE
BERBERMNET AR -

WRIEE BRI T ERIFEINBIER
B 14 2 & /& E B 1E

AEENEHREEBR(EHREER
BREDRA  BREEZEEMBEHRS
ERFORAEREFTENEREE
(BRERESER BRER &
EREMERTRBIARRES MR
FEER)ETRER M - BEIEEEE
TERNERESAHEN > URBRE
IR ER AR ERERES
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(k)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting

the relevant instrument.

date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast
of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B TS ER AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L - =F + - A=+ —HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

e

4.

(k)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

1 40 Imperium Technology Group Limited

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost

or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

. significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4., EARETTHEERH)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(k)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant

adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment
of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

EZE_=FF+A=+—HILEE

=

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Contin

ued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

(Continued)

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii) Definition of default

(ii)

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full. lrrespective of the above, the
Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

142 1Imperium Technology Group Limited

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the

borrower will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(k)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix
taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.

(k)

144 1mperium Technology Group Limited

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes
into consideration the following characteristics
when formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(k)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities including trade payables, lease
liabilities, loan from related parties and other payables
and accruals are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.

(k)

1 46 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability
are modified, the Group assess whether the revised
terms result in a substantial modification from
original terms taking into account all relevant facts
and circumstances including qualitative factors. If
qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group
considers that the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms, including any fees paid net
of any fees received, and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent
different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted
for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred
are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. The exchange or modification is
considered as non-substantial modification when
such difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities
that do not result in derecognition, the carrying
amount of the relevant financial liabilities will be
calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying
amount of the modified financial liabilities and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment
to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4. EREFHERER(®)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(1)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the

consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@)

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments rather than for investment
or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of

cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash

and cash equivalents as defined above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4.
INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Revenue and other income

EXERBERER @)

(m) WzmKkEAMLKA

1 48 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the Group
is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the manufacturing and
sales of household products

Revenue from the manufacturing and sales of
stainless steel furnishings products is recognised
when control of the goods has transferred, being
when the goods have been shipped to the customers’
specific location (delivery). Following delivery, the
customers have full discretion over the manner of
distribution and price to sell the goods, has the
primary responsibility when on selling the goods and
bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to
the goods. A receivable is recognised by the Group
when the goods are delivered to the customers as
this represents the point in time at which the right
to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.

Annual Report 2023

Yo 25 1E BE am Bk AR 5 12 il R K R
EHAERERNAOERESR(TE
BERERFZJTUBNZESR)EE
TEFPRER Wa T EHEIEER
SEMEEDN WM BEFNES
e

LERFEREEmZ Kz

ETRMEAERNEHEEEE
BNE mB B X BT P 5 E i 3 (R AY)
B BRERMNEERHEE RS -
RfE BEPFAUEEBNBREEM
MOWT A RHEEBR  UAES
ERmZIBZEELBMmMmENIE
RZRAB AEEREVXNTE
FEERABRKZIE REZKER
MR EFTHFREER mE
VRN TEPZESWERAKE 2%
) B 7 4B {1 FO B [ 2B o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from online games business

@

Game publishing service revenue

The Group is a publisher of online games
developed by third-party game developers.
The Group licenses online games from game
developers and earns game publishing service
revenue by making a localized version of
the licensed games and publishing them
to the game players through distribution
platforms, include online application stores
(such as Google Play installed in mobile
telecommunications devices), web-based and
mobile game portals in certain countries and
regions (collectively referred to as “Platforms”),
including the Group’s websites.

The games licensed to the Group are operated
under a free-to-play model whereby game
players can play the games free of charge
and are charged for the purchase of virtual
tokens or other virtual items via payment
channels, such as the various mobile carriers
and third-party internet payment systems
(collectively referred to as “payment channels”).

(i) Principal — agent consideration

Proceeds earned from selling virtual
tokens and other virtual items are
shared between the Group and game
developers, with the amount paid to
game developers generally calculated
based on face value of virtual tokens
or other virtual items determined by
game developers, after deducting
certain deductible fees, multiplied
by a predetermined percentage for
each game. The deductible fees are
predetermined and negotiated game
by game, including the fees paid to the
payment channels and the Platforms, as
well as the credit allowable for deduction
for each game.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & &
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from online games business

(Continued)

@)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(i)

Principal agent consideration (Continued)

1 50 Imperium Technology Group Limited

There were game license arrangements
under which the Group takes primary
responsibilities of game operation,
including determining Platforms and
payment channels, providing customer
services, hosting game servers, if
needed and controlling game and
services specifications and pricing
during the license period. Under this
type of game license arrangement, the
Group considered itself as a principal
in this arrangement. Accordingly, the
Group records the online game revenue
from these third-party licensed game
on a gross basis. Commission fees paid
to Platforms and payment channels
and amortisation of license fees paid to
third-party game developer are recorded
as cost of revenues.

When the Group acts as an agent,
it recognises revenue on a net basis
when the services are provided to the
respective players.
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4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4.

(m) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from online games business

(Continued)

(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(ii) Timing of revenue recognition

For the purposes of determining when

services have been provided to the

respective players, the Group has

distinguished between consumable

virtual items and durable virtual items:

consumable virtual items

represent items that are
extinguished after consumption
in the form of fixed charges
levied on each round of games
played. The paying players will
not continue to benefit from the
virtual items thereafter. Revenue
is recognised at the point in time

when the items are consumed.

Durable virtual items represent
items that are accessible and
beneficial to paying players over
an extended period of time.
Revenue is recognised ratably
over time by the average life
of durable virtual items for the
applicable game, which the
Group makes best estimates
to be average playing period
of paying players (“Player
Relationship Period”).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & &
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from online games business

(Continued)

(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(i) Timing

of revenue

recognition

(Continued)

The Group estimates the Player

Relationship Period on a game-by-game

basis and reassesses such periods

semi-annually. If there is insufficient data

to determine the Player Relationship

Period, such as in the case of a newly

launched game, it estimates the Player

Relationship Period based on other

similar types of games developed by
the Group or by third-party developers
until the new game establishes its

own patterns and history. The Group
considers the games profile, target
audience, and its appeal to players

of different demographics groups in

estimating the Player Relationship

Period.

If the Group does not have the ability

to differentiate revenue attributable to

durable virtual items from consumable

virtual items for a specific game, the

Group recognises revenue from both

durable and consumable virtual items

for that game ratably over the Player

Relationship Period.

1 52 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from online games business
(Continued)

®)

()

Royalty income

The Group receives royalty income from
third-party licensee in exchange for the
exclusive operation of the Group’s licensed
games in certain region. The royalty fee
includes a monthly minimum fee and an
additional fee during the contracted license
period, which is determined based on an
agreed percentage of sales of the licensee
when it exceeds the monthly minimum fee
in that month. The monthly minimum fee is
recognised ratably over time by the contracted
license period. The additional fee is recognised
when the actual agreed percentage of sales
of the licensee exceeds the agreed monthly
minimum fee in that month.

Contract liabilities and contract costs

For game publishing service revenues, contract
liabilities primarily consist of the unamortised
revenue from sales of virtual tokens and virtual
items for web-based games and mobile games,
where there is still an implied obligation to be
provided by the Group and will be recognised
as revenue when all of the revenue recognition
criteria are met.

4. EREFHERER(®)

(m)

W 2 K H At WA ()

X E R LB E TSR W ()

®)

()

HFEEKA

AEEEREES =7 HKNE
MEEWA - ABERRE T
BEERELASENRELE
B-ENEEEREARKE
ERRAKNBEEYBREONERIN
ER HEREABBEAR
EER ABIERARERE
MAAZHEBENHEED L
BT BAREERARAHNR
T HA 0 B B ) o BB I L ) BE
R BONBERAURESFAA
ZHEBNERBEAD LR
EABBHESARKEBE
FER -

BHEEREHKAK

RERBETRBELEMS
BHRABRTIERRERAHER
B R T 2 B
R ESRY M2 R
MAKEEESRDARS
EERHZEYm BEX

Fra Uz i RIZ &R & w
WRAEWZE -
FERNEEBERAA 2023 Fif

153



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Revenue and other income (Continued)

4.

Revenue from online games business
(Continued)

()

Contract liabilities and contract costs
(Continued)

Contract costs are mainly related to contract
acquisition costs, which primarily consist of
unamortised commission costs charged by
distribution platforms. The Group recognises
contract costs in relation to commission
charged by distribution platforms, which
meet contract acquisition cost criteria as an
incremental cost of acquiring a customer
contract. They are capitalised as contract
acquisition costs and amortised over their
respective Player Relationship Periods, which
is consistent with the pattern of recognition of
the associated revenue.

Revenue from esports business

@)

®)

1 54 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Merit awards for esports competitions

The payments to merit awards for esports
competitions based on final position and
performance are variable consideration as
they are contingent on achieving certain
performance goals. Such merit payments are
recognised over time over the season at an
amount that is highly probable of not being
reversed when the uncertainty is resolved.

Live streaming

Live streaming revenue are recognised on a
straight-line basis over the contractual term of
the agreement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(m) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from cloud computing and data
storage

@)

®)

Cryptocurrency mining

The Group is engaged in the provision
of transaction verification services within
cryptocurrency networks, commonly termed
“cryptocurrency mining”. As consideration for
these services, the Group receives non-cash
consideration in the form of cryptocurrency
from each specific network in which the Group
participates and from the customers of the
Group. Revenue is measured based on the
fair value of the cryptocurrencies earned. The
fair value is determined using the spot price
of the cryptocurrencies on the date of earned.
A cryptocurrency is considered earned at the
point in time on the completion and addition
of a block to the blockchain, at which time
the economic benefit is received and can be
reliably measured.

Leasing of machines to customers to engage in
cryptocurrency mining

The Group is engaged in the leasing of
machines to customers to engage in
cryptocurrency mining. The Group receives
non-cash consideration in the form of
cryptocurrency consideration calculated
as certain agreed percentage of the
cryptocurrency earned by the customers
through their cryptocurrency mining activities
using these leased machines during the lease
period. These variable lease payments are
recognised as income in the accounting period
in which they are earned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.

(n)

1 56 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined.
When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in
profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive
income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4., EARETTHEERH)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(n)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the
date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of foreign currency translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement
or an associate that includes a foreign operation of
which the retained interest becomes a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.

(o)

Employee benefits

(i)

1 58 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the
cost of providing benefits is determined using
the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations being carried out at the end of each
annual reporting period. In determining the
present value of the Group’s defined benefit
obligations and the related current service cost
and, where applicable, past service cost, the
Group attributes benefit to periods of service
under the plan’s benefit formula. However, if
an employee’s service in later years will lead to
a materially higher level of benefit than earlier
years, the Group attributes the benefit on a
straight-line basis from:

(@) the date when service by the employee
first leads to benefits under the plan
(whether or not the benefits are
conditional on further service) until

(b) the date when further service by the
employee will lead to no material amount
of further benefits under the plan, other
than from further salary increases.

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains
and losses, the effect of the changes to the
asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on
plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected
immediately in the consolidated statement
of financial position with a charge or credit
recognised in other comprehensive income in
the period in which they occur. Remeasurement
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reflected immediately in retained earnings and
will not be reclassified to profit or loss.

Annual Report 2023

4.

EXSHHEER®
(o) EERF
(i) BIKEF LXK

A 57 7€ 3 BB K 48 A &t 81 A
EZERREERERBEM
FRESEBHAKERS
FASZ

SAERMENRE B (B
FEERBHRABTZRBR
BE)ME - 3= HEF KRR
BEEMEEEEE IR
EFERSHRETRHKER
B REEAKERERT
BE 2B E R 8RB H AR 7%
AR R (fish @8 ) 38 1 AR 7% A
A AEBRIEF SR
NI R R B IR A o
AR - B B R RRBEFZ R
BRERABRSRENFE
Z AR - Bl AR5 B R A
THRBEMNREREIRE

@ EBERHEZRBERS
K EIR T Z 8 (T
ke N R A

RBRIGEMH 2B EE

() EEBEHBRETEENR
it T EKEINE
MOEE—ZMEFRIN Z
E o

EFERRGBERE &
ELrREH T EWER)
L8l EERENE) 2B
HoNEHE S HE R AR
EUBARBEBRRR X H
FEAREMEE K S HER -
REMEEKREMERZE
Mt BN IRE R R
THIrEeEHRLDEEES -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(0) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Past service cost is recognised in profit or
loss in the period of a plan amendment or
curtailment and a gain or loss on settlement
is recognised when settlement occurs. When
determining past service cost, or a gain or
loss on settlement, an entity shall remeasure
the net defined benefit liability or asset using
the current fair value of plan assets and
current actuarial assumptions, reflecting the
benefits offered under the plan and the plan
assets before and after the plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement, without considering
the effect of asset ceiling (i.e. the present value
of any economic benefits available in the form
of refunds from the plan or reductions in future
contributions to the plan).

Net interest is calculated by applying the
discount rate at the beginning of the period
to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
However, if the Group remeasures the net
defined benefit liability or asset before plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement, the
Group determines net interest for the remainder
of the annual reporting period after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement using
the benefits offered under the plan and the plan
assets after the plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement and the discount rate used to
remeasure such net defined benefit liability or
asset, taking into account any changes in the
net defined benefit liability or asset during the
period resulting from contributions or benefit
payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EXRGFHXER®
INFORMATION (Continued)
(o) Employee benefits (Continued) (o) EER®HAHE)
(i)  Retirement benefit costs (Continued) (i) ZBUKBBAEKE)
Defined benefit costs are categorised as RERBHNKADERAT
follows:
. service cost (including current service . Rk 75 B 7R (8 45 3R B AR

cost, past service cost, as well as
gains and losses on curtailments and
settlements);

o net interest expense or income; and

C remeasurement.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the actual deficit or surplus in the
Group’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus
resulting from this calculation is limited to
the present value of any economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plans
or reductions in future contributions to the
plans.

Discretionary contributions made by employees
or third parties reduce service cost upon
payment of these contributions to the plan.

When the formal terms of the plans specify
that there will be contributions from employees
or third parties, the accounting depends on
whether the contributions are linked to service,
as follows:

° If the contributions are not linked to
services (for example contributions
are required to reduce a deficit arising
from losses on plan assets or from
actuarial losses), they are reflected in
the remeasurement of the net defined
benefit liability or asset.

1 60 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4. EREFHERER(®)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(o)
(i)

(i)

(iii)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

o If contributions are linked to services,
they reduce service costs. For the
amount of contribution that is dependent
on the number of years of service,
the Group reduces service cost by
attributing the contributions to periods
of service using the attribution method
required by HKAS 19 paragraph 70 for
the gross benefits. For the amount of
contribution that is independent of the
number of years of service, the Group
reduces service cost in the period in
which the related service is rendered.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised
at the earlier of when the Group entity can no
longer withdraw the offer of the termination
benefit and when it recognises any related
restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term
employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing
to employees (such as wages and salaries,
annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

(o)
(i)

(i)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.

(o)

(p)

1 62 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Short-term and other long-term
employee benefits (Continued)

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-
term employee benefits are measured at the
present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group
in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from
service cost, interest and remeasurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Shares/Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share-based
payments reserve). At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest based on
assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share-based payments reserve. For shares/share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the shares/share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

Annual Report 2023

4.

EAGTHEER (B
(0) EERANE
(iii) EHREMEREIESEF
(4)

(p)

HE MR B E & RN R
BERAKENREEEER
& B HE AR AR 75 TR HR S
EH B ARERREREZ
BEFE - ARBAA - FE
REHGAEMELEZABER
EEMNEAZESHRIBEDRER
WM m —BE BRI RS E
AR ES A HZERE®
ABERAKRAER®

IR 65 E e

UEmEA X URGBERL
e

[E SR LERG,HERIE

MEEREHEUREZ HAL
f b 2 B 25 5 B3 DA BR 13 0 B T
MR RES B RRATAZ A
RERH -

RELHEHAEE AR A EYL AR
MAERONR 22X REQEESR
FEFMERBIEMN  REAKE
B ERAKERBZRATANE
AN BB X HEmEM
J& 38 00 (LA B 47 A5 B BE B (S SR I ) ©
RERERR AEERBHMA
HEEMEFBGRME 2 FBETHE
EHEBcRATIAHE 2fhat-
EIZREGAZEZEWA) ER
ZAER BERFHAIRREE
FIfE AT - Y H AR D A B A K
FEIFHERE SRR REBBEHT
MEB ik BRERMS MK
B/ BREAABIENRESER
X8 e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

Shares/Share options granted to employees
(Continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payments
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payments

reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under other income.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.

(s)

1 64 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss)
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.
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e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(s)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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4.

1 66 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(t) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow
is remote.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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EZEEMHERMATFTABRERZ

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(a)

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the
directors of the Company have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Principal versus agent consideration for
online game business

Pursuant to game publishing and operation
arrangements signed between the Group and the
third-party game developers or Platforms, the
Group’s responsibilities in publishing and operating
the licensed games vary for each game. The
determination of whether to record these revenues
using gross or net basis is based on an assessment
of various factors, including but not limited to whether
the Group (i) is the primary obligor to the game
developers and game players in the arrangements; (ii)
has latitude in establishing the selling price of virtual
items; (iii) changes the products or performs part of
the services; (iv) has involvement in the determination
of product and service specifications; and (v) has the
right to determine secondary Platforms.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b)

1 68 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets other
than goodwill

Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets other than goodwill are stated at costs less
accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group
has to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the
case of value in use, the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the
assets belong, including allocation of corporate assets
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, otherwise recoverable amount is
determined at the smallest group of cash generating
units, for which the relevant corporate assets have
been allocated. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the recoverable amounts.
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EZEEMHERMATFTABRERZ

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
other than goodwill subject to impairment assessment
were approximately HK$16,120,000 and HK$7,114,000
(2022: HK$36,007,000 and HK$65,185,000)
respectively, after taking into account the impairment
losses of approximately HK$Nil and HK$34,460,000
(2022: HK$20,389,000 and HK$NIl) respectively
in respect of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets other than goodwill that have been
recognised. Details of the impairment of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets other
than goodwill are disclosed in Notes 18 and 21
respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated. The value
in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than the expected,
or changes in facts and circumstances which result
in downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or
further impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount
of goodwill was HK$Nil (2022: approximately
HK$2,982,000). Details of the impairment loss
calculation are provided in Note 20.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b)

1 70 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional
valuers to assess the fair value of the investment
properties. The determination of the fair value involves
certain assumptions of market conditions that are set
out in Note 7.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions.

Whilst the Group considers valuations of the Group’s
investment properties are the best estimates, change
in assumptions would result in changes in the fair
values of the Group’s investment properties and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of
gain or losses reported in the consolidated financial
statements.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at

31 December 2023 was approximately HK$19,169,000
(2022: HK$20,496,000).
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EZEEMHERMAGTAABRERZ

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group makes loss allowances on trade
receivables based on various factors including the
past due status of the receivables, past default
experience, qualitative creditworthiness, collateral
values and forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios
and economic inputs. The assessment of ECL
on receivables involves high degree of estimation
uncertainty and is sensitive to changes in estimates.
Where the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the carrying
amounts of receivables and the allowance for credit
losses on receivables recognised in the years in which
such estimates have been changed.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in
estimating ECL on certain trade receivables which
are not assessed individually using a provision
matrix. The provision rates are based on aging of
debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into
consideration the Group’s historical default rates
and forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

Further information is disclosed in Note 6.3(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES

The Group operates in six major business segments in which
cloud computing and data storage and online game carry
distinct risks related to its business model and correlation
with the macroeconomic environment since cryptocurrency
transactions and blockchain technology are involved.

6.1 Business development and the
associated risks

The Group has tapped into the blockchain games and
metaverse sector since 2022 and continue to invest
resources to further explore the blockchain game
and metaverse market. A large-scale universe park
with various theme planets — Metasens is built which
will include the feature of NFTs market place and
blockchain wallet.

Management considers the risks and uncertainties
associated with cryptocurrency and blockchain
technology largely related to information technology,
safe keeping of cryptocurrency, fluctuation of
cryptocurrency prices, compliance, and the
ever-evolving nature of the markets. As the industry
continues to grow, the Group has been implementing
an operational infrastructure to support business
development and growth. These initiatives include
expanding IT infrastructure and hiring additional
management personnel with an emphasis on
experience in legal, regulatory, compliance, risk,
financial reporting, operation and technology
development.

6.2 Risk management of business
segments involving cryptocurrency and
blockchain technology

(i)  Regulatory risk in relevant
jurisdictions

With the Group continuing to expedite the
development of Metasens actively, the
operation may require the Group or its
subsidiaries to apply for and hold further
regulatory licenses, authorisation or permits
due to potential regulation for virtual asset
trading platform in Hong Kong.

1 72 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.2 Risk management of business
segments involving cryptocurrency and
blockchain technology (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Regulatory risk in relevant
jurisdictions (Continued)

To manage the enhanced risks and potential
compliance frameworks associated
with licensing, the Group has expended
substantial resources to build a strong team
of experienced legal, risk and compliance
professionals, who are responsible for oversight
of all business activities with respect prevailing
and potential regulatory frameworks applicable
to the Group.

Risk related to safekeeping of asset

The Group maintains cryptocurrency in both
“hot” (connected to the internet) and “cold”
(not connected to the internet) wallets. “Hot”
wallets are more susceptible to cyber-attacks
or potential theft due to the fact they are
connected to the public internet.

To mitigate such risks, the Group has
implemented guidelines and risk control
protocols to adjust the level of cryptocurrency
maintained in “hot” wallets required to facilitate
settlement. The Group has developed a
proprietary cryptocurrency wallets solution
with comprehensive security controls and
risk mitigation processes in place. Control
procedures cover wallet generation, day-to-day
wallet management and security, as well as
monitoring and safeguarding of the Group’s
“hot” and “cold” wallets and public and private
keys.
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. REFEEE
6.2 Risk management of business 6.2 FRMEEHRE R A

segments involving cryptocurrency and XKoo EREE(E)

blockchain technology (Continued)

(iii) Risks related to source of funds and (iii) BBEZRXREFHANRAZEEH
anti-money laundering H) 2 fE
Cryptocurrencies are exchangeable directly mzEBAlLERBATESR
between parties through decentralised RPGBERFVEPRBESHZ
networks that allow anonymous transactions, MEERKR ZERHEH
such transactions create complex technical FIEHBE T MEEMBRESK
challenges with respect to issues such as Rt BERAER -
identification of parties involved and asset
ownership.
To mitigate such risks, the Group has RTREZERR AEED
implemented policies and procedures for BEHREBENMTRESFNRK
AML and Know-Your-Client (“KYC”) that KRR ZFBEM TR
are initiated during the client acceptance EREFPEZARERRE - WA
process and are applied by way of continuous FEEEMREMNFAER -
monitoring and reporting. In enhancing these BIEZEBRRMIEART - &
policies and procedures, we have considered MEZETEREEE %8
industry best-practice, respective regulatory MNEBEEX UEHMITEEE
requirements, and Financial Action Task Force BRESE®MITEERN TE
(“FATF”) recommendations and guidance as the HHEZENIESE -
industry moves towards regulation.

(iv) Technology leakage risk (iv) # il & a2 B

174 mperium Technology Group Limited

The Group’s developing metaverse platform
lies in its blockchain-related technology IP and
trade secrets. Should its IP and trade secret
be compromised, the Group could face risks in
its ability to remain competitive and execute its
strategy.

Technology leakage risks are mitigated by
controls of information, ability to defend
against intrusion into the Group’s technology
infrastructure, protection and prevention of
leakage of sensitive data.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.2 Risk management of business
segments involving cryptocurrency and
blockchain technology (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Information security risk

Both the Group and client information are
maintained on proprietary data infrastructure
in conjunction with cloud service providers,
such infrastructure is connected to the public
internet and therefore subject to potential
cyber-attacks.

To mitigate such risks, the Group’s has
implemented security controls including but
not limited to multi-factor authentication, data
and network segregation, system redundancy
and encrypted backups, segregation of duties,
least privilege principal, event monitoring and
incident response.

New product risk

Prior to the deployment and release of new
products and businesses to the Group’s clients,
every such new activity phase through a
rigorous review process. The board of directors
reviews each proposal against business
capability, impact on financial performance
as well as analyses the suite of risks that are
typically inherent in such activities; particular
attention is paid to operational risk, legal risk,
regulatory risk, market, credit and liquidity risk.
Approval to proceed with a proposed business
or product will only be forthcoming once the
board of directors is satisfied that all necessary
controls and support function processes are
fully implemented.

6. ERRHEE

BRINE LR R E 5K
E)

6.2

v)

(vi)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.2 Risk management of business
segments involving cryptocurrency and
blockchain technology (Continued)

6.

(vii)

(viii)

1 76 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Credit risk

In connection with the operation of leasing
of machines to customers to engage in
cryptocurrency mining, the Group enters
into lease agreement with clients, which may
expose the Group to credit risk. Credit risk
in this context is the risk of non-payment,
non-repayment or default by a counterparty
in respect of its obligations to the Group
in relation to the relevant cryptocurrency
transactions.

To mitigate or reduce such credit risks, the
exposure of credit risks and transactions with
clients are monitored by the board of directors
regularly.

Operational risk

Operational risk covers a spectrum of potential
incidents and actions that can affect both the
Group and its counterparties and that may
cause financial loss, reputational damage,
regulatory sanctions or loss of business
capability. Such losses may arise from process
weakness, lack of staff training, technology
failures, honest errors or malicious actions by
internal or external factors.

The Group’s management is the central
oversight and management function for all
operational risk actions and related control
activities including regularly performance
review and business evaluation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 = —F - =F +—_A=+—HIFE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of

financial risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk,

liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s

overall risk management programme focuses on the

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk
primarily through sales that are denominated in
a currency different from domestic currencies
used to fund the operations of the relevant
group companies. The currency giving rise to
this risk is mainly United States dollar (“‘US$”)
and these subsidiaries do not have significant
monetary assets or liabilities denominated in
currencies other than their respective functional
currencies. Accordingly, the management
considered the foreign currency risk was
significantly reduced.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should

exchange hedge policy. However,

the need arise.

6. EPRKE@

6.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

6.

(b)

1 78 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Credit risk and impairment
assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, loan
receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risks

associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment
for financial assets and other items under
ECL model. Information about the Group's
credit risk management, maximum credit
risk exposures and the related impairment
assessment, if applicable, are summarised as
below:

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each
business unit subject to the Group’s
established policy, procedures and control
relating to customer credit risk management.
Individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days
from the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

6. RERBRKREWE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk
as 70% (2022: 46%) and 85% (2022: 66%)
of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively within the
esports segment and household products
segment. In order to minimise the credit risk,
the management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for the determination of credit
limits and credit approvals.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL.

6.3
(b)

FENREEARAR

B % B B B B (48)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. REFEEE
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 MEEKREEE
(b) Credit risk and impairment (b) 1=/ = B R B E G (E)
assessment (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued) JEW B Z AR5 (&)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss EHEEXRERERLR
experience. These rates are adjusted to reflect FE o WELERTIMAHE -
differences between economic conditions URBEEEBTHBEFEDN
during the year over which the historic data KEMRA BRI EAEE
have been collected, current conditions and HEWZFBEBHATERNL
the Group’s view of economic conditions over BERAZERZANER -
the expected lives of the receivables. As at R2023F12A31H - EWE 5
31 December 2022, the credit risk on trade EXMEARREZRAR
receivables mainly contributed from household EEMDBMEFHREDEL
product segment and esports segment are [ & B R
limited.
Ther trade receivables contributed from esports BEFHEBEERREEmD HH
and household segment are within credit EWE SEREFHEIREERA -
terms with no default history and neither past = B R 8% e WP IE B dm B ok
due nor impaired. Based on the management BE- BRIEHBEBHEEESR
assessment on expected credit loss, the loss MNEEEFGH BEBGBH
allowance is considered to be insignificant. REWLTEKX -
Gross
Loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
BEE KREHLAE BEBRE
% HK’000 HK’000
% FET THER
0-30 days 0E30X 5.6 5,995 338
31-60 days 31E60K 6.5 2,295 149
61-90 days 61E90K 6.6 1,433 95
91-120 days 91E120K 5.8 4,092 239
121-150 days 1212150k 141 2,078 293
151-365 days 1512 365K 15.7 4,015 629
Over 1 year B d1F 100 1,083 1,083
20,991 2,826
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2028 E —E - =F+ - A=+—HBILFE
6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. HERBREEGwE
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 HXERBRERE

(b) Credit risk and impairment (b) 1=/ 5 B R B & FF A5 ()
assessment (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued) JEW B Z AR5 (&)
Movement in the loss allowance for trade FA - EWE SRR EE R
receivables during the year is as follows: wHEEOT
2023 2022
—EBE_o=5F —E=- =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
At 1 January Rn—A—H - 5,047
ECL recognised/(reversed), net R (BE)ZEREE
EEFE 2,841 (2,246)
Amounts written off 5 < %8 - (2,547)
Exchange differences & N =% (15) (254)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 2,826 =
sENEEEERAT 22 4% 181



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L - =F + - A=+ —HILtFE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b)

1 82 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Loan receivables and interest receivables

The Group manage the credit risk by assessing
the credit quality of the customers, taking into
account its financial position, past experience
and other factors.

The Group assesses allowance for credit
losses on loan receivables individually based
on historical credit loss experience of the
customers as well as fair value of the collateral
pledged by the customers and adjusted
for forward-looking information. As at 31
December 2023, the gross amount of loan
receivables were approximately HK$7,042,000
(2022: HK$15,178,000).
allowance for credit losses (credit-impaired) are
disclosed in below table.

Movements in

The loan receivables and interest receivables
was due from one (2022: three) customer for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

6. RBERHEEE
6.3 MHEEEEH)
(b) 15/ B2 R e 1B 5T 15 ()

JE W B R JE T8

AEEEBFIBHEFPNEE
%Eﬂﬁ%)ﬁ?ﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁ#iﬁ~ 25
ERBREREZREERFEER

IZI/\
74N

T
ZoN

AEBEREFAANEE
BRELBRURERPE R E
HRARE YEKERD
EEEEREETERNTM -
W HEATHE B RHEL A&

RZBEZ=F+=-A=+—8 -
FEE R 4R 58 4 £7,042,000
BT (ZF = — 9 :15178,000
;‘%y‘z) :./\Eﬁaﬁéﬁ(:i‘f/

REBEEZTE-_=FR=-F=-—
FH+ZA=+—HLFE
WER R ERFEHRE — %
(ZZ==F:=ZR)EF -

HK$’000

FE T

At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—_F—H—H 9,109

ECL recognised ERRBHPEEERE 2,466
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZTBEZZF+=ZA=+—HK

—Z2-=%—H—H 11,575

ECL recognised EHREHEEEE 4,576

Amounts written off B2l 38 © B8 (9,109)

At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=%+=-H=+—H 7,042

Changes in loss allowance during the year
ended 31 December 2023 were mainly due
to the written-off of loan receivables which
were fully impaired in prior years and the full
allowance of ECL for defaulted unsecured loan
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLI

DATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, the
management makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits
and other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. For the year ended 31 December
2028 and 2022, the Group assessed the
ECL for other receivables and deposits are

6. RBERHEEE
6.3 MHEEEEH)
(b) 15/ m B R 6 B 5T 15 (4E)

2 R B M fEW I E

Nige R EMERKRIESE
EREESERNBELEELH
BAEKBUAKBRAENSE
WAEEEEREMEER
EH 8 1R & & H o & W R IE
® AT Yz B 15 s 1T MR B RT A e
B E2023F 2022412 H31
HIEFE BRIXFAEEREES
BEEBEREBEN K&
EEHEMERRERES

insignificant, except for the amount of credit- WIESMEEBERYTERX

impaired loss allowance made below, and thus I 37 oK W 5R1218 B T B {5
no 12m ECL allowance is recognised. EEE -

Credit-

impaired

EE8RE

HK$’000

FTEx

At 1 January 2022 RZTEZ=ZF—H—H 4,195

ECL recognised EHREHEEEE 939

At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and
31 December 2023

Cash and cash equivalents

Credit risk on cash and bank balances and
cash held on behalf of customers are limited
because the counterparties are reputable
banks with high credit ratings assigned by
credit agencies and the ECL on bank balances
are considered to be insignificant.

R-ZBE-_—_F+-A=+—H"
- =F—AF—AKk_ZT_=F
+=—A=+—H 5,134

HeRELFEY

BehRTERARRER
RAEZRENERRRER -
REARRZHFH/EERI
AEGERAREBETRERT
MW7 WIRITHEBOTA
HEEEBRERA/LTEKX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L —=F+ - A=+—H It FE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. HERBREEGwE
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 MEEKREEE
(c) Liquidity risk (c) HmEBEZLREE
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor AEBOWHRKATEHEER
current and expected liquidity requirements to AINTEHREE € B3R - LA
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of RE#FTERS@HE N
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the MEHEBHERBNAEHE
short and longer term. THFE -
The following table sets out the remaining VAT B 2= & 51 70 3R 45 HA 4% R I
contractual maturities at the end of the AEBITESHREABERTH
reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative AHEIEEE Wt R ARTE
financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash ReREEEBEAEHF =L
flows (including interest payments computed (I ZEBERBTESHER
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on g A RS E A B X)) R
rates current at the end of the reporting period) AEEFEINHEERM -
and the earliest date the Group can be required
to pay.
2023
Maturity Analysis — Undiscounted cash outflows
ZECZzZf
AN - AFERER
More than More than Total
On demand 1yearbut 2 years but undiscounted
or within less than less than More than cash
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years outflows
RERY -EHE MEL L KERE
-EUR  BOREE EIREE RENE HLAE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THx T T THn THr
Trade payables ERESER 4,859 - - - 4,859
Lease liabilities MEERE 3,837 1,774 - - 5,611
Loan from related parties ~ REBE 2 ER 218,500 101,600 = = 320,100
Other payables and accruals Eft B {3 5078 R B+ R E 41,340 - = = 41,340
268,536 103,374 - - 371,910
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6.

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

e MR HRR A

ECE =+ -_A=+—HILEE

2 B 4% B (40
B % B B B B (48)

6.3

(c)

REBELEEE)

2022

Maturity Analysis — Undiscounted cash outflows
—E-CF
HEAAN — RFERER

More than More than Total
On demand 1 year but 2 years but undiscounted
or within less than less than More than cash
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years outflows
BERK —EHE L AERS
—F0A BIRAE  BSRLE AFHNE MmitEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TET TEL TEL THT
Trade payables EREHER 10,180 - - - 10,180
Lease liabilities HERR 7,051 3,104 1,106 - 11,261
Loan from related parties ~ REEE 7 2 ER 81,500 206,750 - = 288,250
Other payables and accruals £t T 5078 [t [E51 78 B 78,171 - - - 73,171
171,902 209,854 1,106 - 382,862

Interest rate risk (d) FIZEREE

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or

future cash flows of a financial instrument will

fluctuate because of changes in market interest

rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate
risk primarily relates to its bank deposits, loan
receivables, loan from related parties and other

payables that are interest bearing.

The Group’s bank deposits bear interests at

variable rates that vary with the then prevailing

market condition.

FENREEARAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B TS ER AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L - =F + - A=+ —HILtFE

e

6.

RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. HEMBKEE
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 MEEKREEE
(d) Interest rate risk (Continued) (d) FIEREE)
The Group’s loan receivables, loans from REBZEKENR - REBE
related parties and other payables bear FZER R EMENKIER
interests at fixed rates and therefore are BEFMEGFE  WAKEEAE
subject to fair value interest rate risk. R EFERE R
At 31 December 2023, if interest rates had R-ZB_=F+_A=+—8H"
been 100 basis points higher/lower with all i ) Ktﬂ/TEﬂOOTI%Eﬁ'
other variables held constant, consolidated HM B & 1% B &
loss for the year would have been decrease/ W 4R & BB R D1 4
increase by approximately HK$102,000 102,000/%75(_i_ —F: g
(2022: increase/decrease by approximately hn,/ @ 49181,00078 7T) ©
HK$181,000).
(e) Categories of financial instruments (el RI+T-—A=+—-—Hzz#
at 31 December TEDHE
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial assets: ERMEE:
Financial assets measured REERNTGTEZ
at amortised cost TMEE 32,038 103,094
Financial liabilities: cRMEeE:
Financial liabilities measured at REENATEZ
amortised cost cRBE 352,101 360,096
(f)  Fair values (f) 2726
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial REBGAGZEEHBNRRE
assets and financial liabilities included in the NemEENERABEZR
consolidated statement of financial position are AEEEZER=-TE-_=ZFK

1 86 Imperium Technology Group Limited

approximately to their respective fair values as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. AREFE
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an ARBEAMG2EERFERMHETZE
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction FREPHEEEMBN S EEZEEX
between market participants at the measurement date. FZE% o
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and AEBENBRRERDRERZEB ZEHHM
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the AEREHEEBRE=EAZRPOEM
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. —EEROBAREL -
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value (@ 2AEBEEBHRKFHEE
hierarchy:
At 31 December 2023 R=FB==F+=A=+—H
Fair value measurements using: Total
AREFEFANER: st
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023
BEE F1BR F2BR $I/HR —B==
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER
Recurring fair value REMHAABTE:
measurements:
Investment properties REME
Office units — Malaysia PAEMN — BRAD - - 19,169 19,169

At 31 December 2022

RZE-__F+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurements using: Total
AREFERANER: Bt
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
R F1ER F2ER FIEM/ —T-F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET FET FET

Recurring fair value measurements: & EME AL E &

Investment properties REME

Office units — Malaysia WABA — FRADR - - 20,496 20,496

FERNKEEERAR 2023 % 187



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L - =F + - A=+ —HILtFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AREFTEE
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at (b) BREEIERRAALEBTEN

fair value based on level 3: EEYHK:
Investment
Description Properties
HH REME
HK$’000
TR
At 1 January 2022 R-T-—F—HF—H 22,201
Net fair value loss recognised in profit or loss EREERRAZANEEBFE (534)
Exchange difference N =58 (1,171)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZBZZF+=ZA=+—HEK

—T_=%—H—H 20,496
Net fair value loss recognised in profit or loss B RIEFERZANBERIEEE (515)
Exchange difference & & =5 (812)
At 31 December 2023 R-EBE-_=%+=-A=+—H 19,169

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by (c) XEEMEANGBERRFRA

the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting purposes, including
level 3 fair value measurements. The financial
controller reports directly to the board of directors
for these fair value measurements. Discussions of

REFEFRRANMGERINR
SHHE:

AEENPBEERERTBERS
ETHBNEERBBZANER
EBREFIERANENE)  BHK
RENZEANEFEEERNES
SER MHKREREETEEFE
PR wmGEERTFREBER

valuation processes and results are held between the
financial controller and the board of directors at least
twice a year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements:
(Continued)

Details of valuation techniques used and key inputs
to valuation on investment properties which are
categorised as Level 3 fair value measurement at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

/_\A{E—l_i =)

(c) AXEEFREANGEERFRD
REFEFRRANMGERINR

ZENWIRE . (&)
RIBEEBR HOEREIRBALA

B EZREVMEFETHERAA
MAEERMTREEZZ2HFHBOT:

Level 3 fair value measurements FIERL L EGE
Fair value
DRE
Significant
2023 2022 Valuation technique unobservable input Range
—EZCF CRCCF RERH EXTTEESY &E
Investment properties
— Commercial building 19,169 20,496  Income approach (1) Reversionary yield 6.5% (2022: 6.5%)

located in Malaysia L ONGA

RENE - MRNERER
PAEIN

Reversionary vyield is the rate taking into account
the capitalisation of potential rental income, nature
of the property and prevailing market conditions.
Monthly market rent per square foot is the market
rent taking into account the direct comparable market
transactions to the related properties.

The fair value measurements are negatively correlated
to the reversionary yield, while positively correlated to
the market rent per square foot.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current
use.

There was no transfer into or out of Level 3 fair value
measurement during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

(B EHER 6.5% (ZZ=ZF :6.5%)

(2) Monthly market rent per sq. ft. RM3.0 (2022: RM3.1)
QEFFHREAMTERE 305 (ZE==fF:31%%)

ERRBEXDAREERSRAE
e -MEMERERFTRELZ
- BFYTRZTEHEHEE IR
HEANEZTSAHEELRRS
"HzmEEE -

HERKSERREL
RZm%fﬂé ARG IE L ©

REAVERIRER  WEHNKS
EEERER/ERBRE

:‘i’*EIJJ:EE ’ %SEZ\\ﬁ@E-I'%
MEEREARES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

8. REVENUE 8. W=
Disaggregation of revenue W 3= BA 4
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by AEERFIEERARBREODZEFRA
major products or service line for the year is as follows: B EBAEET
2023 2022
—E=-=£ —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with BB HREERE155
customers within the scope of HEAZEFEH R
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products or service REFEERRBERE D2
lines BA 4
— Household products — XEER 18,292 32,424
— Online game — R A 20,796 29,083
— Cloud computing and data storage — B ERBERFT 2,999 4,192
— Esports — BB 24,860 57,017
66,947 122,716
Revenue from other sources H fth 2R U &=
Rental income from investment properties KREWMEZHEES WA 1,642 1,332
Interest income from money lending business & % 7% 2 F B g A 1,673 798
Rental income from cloud computing and EERBEBRTHREZ
data storage machines e WA 2,295 8,255
Total 45+ 72,557 133,101
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZF+_A=Z+—HIEFE

= — & —

T =
OTHER INCOME 9. Hg A
2023 2022
—E—-= —E=-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Bank interest income RITH B U A 30 53
Government grants (Note) AT 2 B (B 5E) 160 680
Gain on remeasurement of lease EEEEE 2 KE 96 105
Gain on disposal of esports players HEEFHREEF 2N 334 3,926
Others H 785 1,110
1,405 5,874

Note:  During the year, subsidy received from the PRC local government Mgk : FR - BT BT 6P Bt AN K B 8 & A 4R

authority for the achievements of the Group of approximately
HK$24,000 (2022: HK$168,000). During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group recognised government grants of
approximately HK$512,000 in respect of COVID-19 related subsidies
which were related to Employment Support Scheme provided by the
Hong Kong government.

#t 89 7 B) #724,0007% 7T (ZF = =4 : 168,000
BIT) BE_ZT-—F+-_A=t+—HILtFE -
AEEBERATE RS Z B8 E 0BT
#)512,0008 70 - ZS WP HEBF BB TFRHH

R EABER -

FENREEARAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
10.

B TS ER AR MY RE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has six major reportable and operating segments,
as follows:

Online game — marketing and operation of mobile
games and computer games and
sale of NFTs and other digital token
Cloud computing — to engage in cryptocurrency and
data storage mining and rental of
machines to customers to engage
in cryptocurrency mining

Esports — participating in esports
competitions, streaming and
marketing event, and merchandise
sales

manufacture and sale of stainless
steel furnishings and home
products

Household products —

rental income from investment
properties

Property investment

Money lending — interest income from money

lending business

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not
include unallocated finance cost and unallocated corporate
income and expenses. Segment assets do not include
unallocated deposits, other receivables and prepayments,
unallocated cash and bank balances and unallocated other
corporate assets.

10.

o EHER

REBZANEEETRFREEDBHOT

mEWE — HEEREEFRERKESE
PEBE B HENFTR & =
R

EHER — ARNEEBRREFHED

HERT FER N2 B B 1 4 25

BT — Z2NEFHRELE 2ERK
MGHEETSNEREE

REEmM — HERHEETHMEER
e

MERE — REWEZHESKRA

& - REXHZHMEHEA

AEBZARFY HBRHRESRE®RRR
B2 R %E%%@Moﬁ%R“W$E

R e ™5 B R - RS A BRRDH
B BLERE -

REDMz e RREGZEE WM RKRME
AFTILEMRE - B HEALTEERDE
BMEXAARKRKDEEERARAS > D
MEEXTERANREZS - HBUYRK
BRENFKE A ERE RIRITERNA
RRDEHEMEREE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2028 E —E - =F+ - A=+—HBILFE
10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. o HER @)
Information about operating segment profit or loss and EHREDHBEEREEZER:
assets:
Cloud
computing
Online  and data Household  Property Money
game storage Esports  products investment lending Total
EHER
REER HERE ETRH  ZBER  MERE HeE h)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THRL THR THR THR THERL THR THR
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-B-ZE1Zf
St-BLEE
Revenue from external customers RENPEF 2 Mg 20,796 5,204 24,860 18,292 1,642 1,673 72,557
Segment loss FHEE (71,649) (20,439) (13,352) 23,959 (95) (2,903) (84,479)
Bank interest income RITHEMA 13 2 9 4 - - 2
Interest expense HERR 86 38 209 - - - 333
Depreciation and amortisation nEREH 14,202 14,425 7,348 59 65 - 36,009
Other material non-cash items: R EAERLER:
Impairment loss of receivables, EYFERESE
net of reversal (A &) 970 - 1814 57 - 4,576 147
Impairment loss of non-financial assets, FERAEREER
net of reversal (MkEE) 36,425 (5,483) 2,516 - - - 33,458
Loss on write off of intangible assets HEENEERE 6,056 - - - - = 6,056
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENBAANE - - - 20,969 = = 20,969
Net fair value loss on investment properties REMEAAEEEFE - - - - 515 - 515
Additions to segment non-current assets ~ FE A BFRHEE 1 38 2,129 = = = 2,178
As 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=E+ZA=1-H
Segment assets HHEE 11,033 24,286 34,781 4,825 19,575 718 95,218
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fRe R M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 7 EWBEHR (B
Cloud
computing
Online and data Household Property Money
game storage Esports products  investment lending Total
EHER
RLBE  BBEEF  ITER  REEm  NERE Mt @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT FiEn ThT ThTL Tin ThT ThTL
Year ended 31 December 2022 HEZE-ZETZR=1-H
%34
Revenue from external customers RENBERP LN E 29,083 12,447 57,017 32,424 1,332 798 133,101
Segment profit/{oss) AHEH /(BB (48,148 (51,626) 1,604 309) 798 (1,684 (99.365)
Bank interest income RITHERA 8 4 2 14 - - 53
Interest expense HERR (306) (531) (1,827) - - - (2,664)
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH (16,581) 21639) (7,506 (77) = ) (45,807)
Other material non-cash items: EbEAFREER:
Impairment loss of receivables, EUFERERE
net of reversal (&) (1,307) - - - - 2,466 1,159
Impairment loss of non-financial assets, FERAERESER
net of reversal (M ER) = 37,442 = = = = 37,442
Loss on write off of intangible assets WEavEE BR 2,494 = = = = = 2,494
Nt fair value loss on investment properties R ENEAAEERFE - - = = 534 = 534
Additions to segment non-current assets ~ AEA BERDEE 45,076 587 3913 693 - - 50,269
As 31 December 2022 RZEZZE+ZR=1-H
Segment assets AHEE 79,661 30,042 58,823 31,682 20497 453 205430
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

10. 2 EE B (&)

2023 2022
—E_=F —EF_- =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Profit or loss B
Total loss of reportable segments Al AR 5 & 2 425518 (84,479) (99,365)
Unallocated finance costs RO EE KK (16,460) (9,539)
Unallocated corporate income RAOEEERA 69 256
Unallocated corporate expenses AOEEERET (22,579) (71,703)
Consolidated loss for the year FARNEZEEEE (123,449) (180,351)
Reconciliations of segment assets: THEEHR:
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AERRD Bz BEE 95,218 225,430
Unallocated deposits, other receivables and RAOMIEE - EMERKRIE R
prepayments AN 947 960
Unallocated cash and bank balances RAOMIRE RIBRITHE & 2,575 15,639
Unallocated other corporate assets AOEHEMOEEE 2,189 4,393
Consolidated total assets IREREE 100,929 246,422
FEREEEERAE 2023 F 1}
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. o HPE R H)
Geographical information: & & R

AEBEREFPHHBEOREBINBELZI
mARBREEMHEIDIERDEEZER

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of
customers and information about its non-current assets by

location of assets are detailed below: EAR U
Revenue Non-current assets
W 2% ERBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E_-= —EF-= —E_-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET FE& T FATT
Hong Kong B 19,414 33,141 10,848 46,187
PRC excluding Hong Kong FE (T BEERE) 44,223 87,565 9,184 31,795
East and South East Asia RERRMIE 8,920 10,519 22,371 46,688
Others Hih — 1,876 - =
Consolidated total B Fr 72,557 133,101 42,403 124,670
Note:  Non-current assets exclude financial instruments. HeE: ERBEETBESBIA-
Revenue from major customer: REXEFFZzWE:
Revenue from customer of the corresponding years BEFTFELMASEERANKZEBIONNEF
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as W BRAmT -
follows:
2023 2022
—ZE== —E=-=
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FE T FET
Esport segment BEFHEE D E
Customer A EFEA 19,558 26,436
Household products segment K IEEmD 3
Customer B =FB 18,292 A3 A
Online game segment B EREES
Customer C =ZFEC 8,109 A3 A

! The correspond revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total

revenue of the Group.

1 96 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Annual Report 2023

B U 28 3 S A SR B AR R E10% A £ o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE
11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 11. EERAMX
2023 2022
—g—-= —E- =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHE T
Staff costs (including director’s EIRT(BEEEH2)
emoluments)
Employee benefits expense (including BRERIAZ(BREESEHS)
directors’ emoluments) (Note 12) (P 7%12)
Fees e 406 396
Salaries, bonus prize distribution and e EARS DR KEERM
allowances
Included in cost of sales FE A E KA 10,494 38,394
Included in administrative expenses s AITER X 31,732 28,560
Equity-settled share-based payments AR EE W ARG A ERD
i 5K 6,274 56,075
Retirement benefits costs RIKRTE F 58I AR A 3,689 1,690
52,595 125,115
Five highest paid individuals hEBESFMAL

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included 3 (2022: 3) directors whose emoluments

FAXGELEESFMALRE=R(C
T _FZREF WEZHESERW

are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 12. The F12FT5 2 A - BT MB(ZE==
emoluments of the remaining 2 (2022: 2) individuals are set MEAT)RBMEHT 0T :
out below:
2023 2022
—=E=-= —F- =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Basic salaries and allowances HAR#H & FOoRRL 1,310 1,610
Retirement benefits costs B ORAE F 5T 8 A 18 18
Equity-settled share-based payments LA BR # 45 & 30 DARR t0 & EL
KRS 734 6,483
2,062 8,111
FEREEEERAE 2023 F 1}



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & &

TR+ - A=t+—HItFE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Continued) 11. EERABAZ®E
Five highest paid individuals (Continued) TEESHFEMAL(E
The emoluments of the 2 (2022: 2) individuals (who are not ERFHMARE(CEF - WB)GER
directors of the Company) with the highest emoluments are PEIEB)NMESN T T EHE R :
within the following bands:
Number of individuals
A
2023 2022
—E-=F T
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 7T £1,000,0007% 7T 1 —
HK$1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7t £1,500,0007% 7T 1 —
HK$2,500,001 to 3,000,000 2,500,001 7T £ 3,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$5,000,001 to 5,500,000 5,000,001 7T 25,500,000 7T — 1
12. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12. EEXEEAMKER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE=EM=
The remuneration of every director is set out below: BRESZ2HMNOAT :
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s
services as a director, whether of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking
REAEREES (FRAZATAZHNEATRE
BEEAREKHNE
Estimated
money value  Employer’s
of other  retirement
benefits benefits
Fees Salaries (Note i) costs Total
Ht 7l &% ExH
fErEMEE BARERGE
ne 2 (B &Ei) Z A @
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FEx TER FEx TET
Name of director Espsg
Executive directors HITES
— Mr. Cheng - 8%4% - 120 - 6 126
— Ms. Yeung So Mui - GRBLL - 120 - 6 126
— Mr. Lin Jun Wai - MEERE - 480 182 18 680
— Mr. Yau Chak Fung (Note ii) — BB & 5 A (I &) - 320 1,824 12 2,156
— Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry — BRREE - 480 3,534 18 4,032
Independent non-executive BUERTES
directors
— Mr. Tse Ting Kwan — WEHEE 132 - - - 132
— Mr. Fung Tze Wa - BFELE 132 - - - 132
— Mr. Ting Wong Kacee - TE%4& 132 300 - - 432
— Mr. Hui Ka Lung (Note i — FFEE % (W L) 10 - - - 10
Total for 2023 —E-=FHE 406 1,820 5,540 60 7,826
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

12. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12. EEEARER(®E)
(Continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEM=(H)

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors FA - BERRTHRABHREME
waived any emoluments during the year (2022: ERETAHES(CE_—F: T8
HK$Nil). JL) °

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a
director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

FEAREEE(THATLAREMELARB) BHCAIELRME

Estimated
money value of Employer’s
other benefits retirement
Fees Salaries (Note i) benefits costs Total
i ¥ Ex5
A EBEE BEEHNGE
e e (B 3E0) ZRA @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TR THL TR TR
Name of director EEfa
Executive directors HTES
— Mr. Cheng -B%5 - 120 - 6 126
— Ms. Yeung So Mui - BEELT - 120 - 6 126
— Mr. Lin Jun Wai - HEREE - 580 1,615 18 2213
— Mr. Yau Chak Fung - BEREEE - 580 22,044 18 22,642
— Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry - BRELE - 561 31,826 18 32,405
Independent non-executive directors B FHTEE
— Mr. Tse Ting Kwan - WEHEE 132 - - - 132
— Mr. Fung Tze Wa - BTELE 132 - - - 132
— Mr. Ting Wong Kacee -TER%AE 132 300 - - 432
Total for 2022 T FH® 396 2,261 55,485 66 58,208
Notes: B 2
(i) Estimated money values of other benefits include rent paid, (i) Htfl=HrE%EEeRed e -
share options, etc. EARES -
(ii) Resigned on 29 August 2023. (i) REZZEZ=FNA=ZTHLBEE-
(iii) Appointed on 1 December 2023. (iii) RZTEZ=F+=-RA—HEZE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L —=F+ - A=+—H It FE

12. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12. EEGEA k&&= (&)

(Continued)

(b) Directors’ material interests in (b)
transactions, arrangements or
contracts

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, no other significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of both
years or at any time during both years.

EERXE  ZHASHHTH
ERER

BRZERAMBRREME DA
BREEIN AKREHMENEXBF
NARBBEFITNIRARRES
REZMREATEERHEERERE
REaGMRMEFELERERNM
B FEARERERDAFENEM
ERXRD - ZHREHD -

13. FINANCE COSTS 13. BE KK

2023 2022

—_E_-= —_=EF_- =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAT
Interest on loans from related parties KEBE 2 ERHE 15,983 10,949
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFNE 750 1,205
Interest on royalty payable ENEFEEF B 60 49
16,793 12,203
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

14. FIEHAX (E%)

2023 2022
—EB-=5F —EF_-_ =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax BUEARIIE — AR EMER
Provision for the year NEE BB - 49
(Over)/under-provision in prior years BAEFE(BEEE),
BETR (3) 441
(3) 490
Deferred tax EEF B 593 (744)
590 (254)

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity established
in Hong Kong will be taxed at 8.25% and profits above that
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits
of the group entitles not qualifying for the two-tiered Profit
Tax rate regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%
for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
Enterprise Income Tax tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries has
been provided at a rate of 25% on the estimated assessable
profit for both years.

Malaysia Corporate Tax has been provided at a rate of 24%
on the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

BEMBEFSEREERGE  EFBKL
A ENEB T EH2,000,000% 7T B R
i A # 128.25% 2 Bt R U B IH - i B A
R B A 216.5% 2 B R TR E o
THEMAFFNESHBEEHEER ZER
BB 2 a A A M F 19 # B 1216.5% 2 B K
B HiIE -

BEBEFRECEMGHETREMREBED
REEMEBREABERED  FEHERF
REEFERNDERSER IR ER
S5 I B R 25% 1B B -

RREFE SREZEERBDRMEE
AR08 A B 249 1E 5 o
Ho A 3t [ B SR B s A 2 BRIR R ST D R A AN

SEREMEBRFXEMBERERTNHM
BROAD - 2EREGEE -

FENREERRLQF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B TS ER AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L - =F + - A=+ —HILtFE

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued) 14. FIBHBAX (FER)E)
The reconciliation is as follows: HERWMTE:
2023 2022
—E_=F —E- =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Loss before tax Br £ B &S 18 (122,859) (180,605)
Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate 2 7P B 1 3 AT 18 5% Bt R 25%
of 25% (2022: 25%) (ZEZZF:25%) uﬁﬁ (30,715) (45,151)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BERMMANT B E (5,250) (3,840)
Tax effect of expenses that are not NAIMBATRE T2
deductible 14,857 8,819
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries M BRI TREH XN E 2,720 19,595
Over provision in previous years BAEFEBEEE (3) (303)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses AERARBEBEENR S E 19,280 20,924
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not R LRI AR IAEE®
previously recognised MG (288) (282)
Tax effect of temporary differences not AERLREENT B E
recognised (11) (16)
Income tax expense/(credit) FrieE®ipx(ER) 590 (254)
15. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 15. FRAEE
(a) Other gains and losses () HbzmREE
The amount is stated after charging/(crediting) the LEIEMER/ GEA) KT & B85
followings: 5 :
2023 2022
—E-=E -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAT
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant HEME BMELLKEZ
and equipment B () 27 (20)
Loss on written off of intangible assets MEEFLEE 2 KB 6,056 2,494
Exchange (gain)/loss, net BN (k) BB FE (1,254) 1,310
Net fair value loss on investment properties % & ¥ % A 7t {8 & 18 )% 58 515 534
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEN B AR W= (20,969) =
Others H A (489) —
(16,114) 4,318
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

15. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) 15. FREERE)
(b) Other items (b) HAMEH
The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/ AEEZFRNBEIENR,(GTA)
(crediting) the following: T 5 &IEYER
2023 2022
—E== —ET=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAT
Auditors’ remuneration 1% BX B = B 1,600 1,550
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses R &R X 217 & K A& 18,801 32,398
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#HH
Included in cost of sales ST & B AR 2,721 6,604
Included in administrative expenses SFATEAE X 14,209 10,298
16,930 16,902
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BWERZREITE
equipment
Included in cost of sales A E KA 12,496 18,892
Included in administrative expenses AT X 8,732 12,872
21,228 31,764
Equity-settled share-based payments LA % 48 45 B 30 DA AR 1 75 E A
(included in administrative expenses) B R (G AT 2) 6,274 56,075
Impairment loss of receivables, JE W 3k TR R 1B B 1B
net of reversal (FFr#EE)
— Trade receivables — BERESHER 2,841 (2,246)
— Loan receivables — EREK 4,576 2,466
— Deposit and other receivables — e Rk EMERKIE - 939
7,417 1,159
Impairment loss of non-financial assets, FemEEREBE
net of reversal (N Fr#E @)
— Property, plant and equipment — V- BEREZE - 20,389
— Cryptocurrencies — NEEE (2,758) 16,972
— Cryptocurrency deposits and - MEEBZRER
receivables FEW N & * (2,725) 6,602
— Goodwill —EE 2,982 —
— Intangible assets —EBREE 34,460 —
— Prepayments — B RIE 1,499 =
33,458 43,963
Write off of deposits, other receivables and #ifl #53% & £ fth & U 3K 8 K&
prepayments AN - 3,786
Gross rental income from investment KEMENHE S WA REE
properties (1,642) (1,332)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

16. DIVIDEND 16. K E
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company FAARAYERFKERBKB(ZE
during the year (2022: HK$NIil). ZZFEHIL) e
17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is ElREARREEREDRE T ARRQRE
based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company BAEBGEEBERL RO INELSEGE
and weighted-average number of ordinary shares, as follows:
2023 2022
—E== —ZT=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHE T FHET
Loss =]
Loss attributable to owners of the Company ARGTESREERR
for the purpose of calculating basic BEEENAQNT
and diluted loss per share A AREEEE (127,733) (180,884)
2023 2022
—E=-= —ZE=-=
Number of shares v - §E|
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AR EESRERKR
for the purpose of calculating basic and MEBERE2ERAR
diluted loss per share IEEFEHE 311,036,000 | 311,036,000

As the Company’s share options during the years ended 31 HRERE-_S _=FEk_E-__F+=A
December 2023 and 2022 do not give rise to any dilutive =+ —BLFE ARA 2 ERELEY
effect to the loss per share, diluted loss per share was the EREETREMNBELZE  HREBEZ
T_=FR-B__F+_A=+—HIL*F
E -BREEEEESREALNEEMAR -

same as the basic loss per share for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mRE MR
For the year ended 31 December 2023 i Z T —_=F +_A=+—HILFE
18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ BMEKRXE
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
Properties improvement ~ machinery  equipment vehicles Total
B RER
nx HEXE BERER R Bf @it

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TR TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL

Cost ﬁM

At 1 January 2022 R-E-—%-A-H 25,762 10,715 83,598 7,390 911 128,376
Addition HE 10,985 234 1,182 1,886 - 14,287
Disposal e - - (9,820) (3,340) - (13,160)
Write off 38 (6,725) ) - ) = (6,733)
Remeasurement of lease EFHERE (6,862) = = = = (6,862)
Exchange differences ERER (1,259) (654) (528) (233) (72) (2,646)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2028 WMZEZZF+-A=+-Bk

“E-=f-A-H 21,901 10,391 74,432 5,699 839 113,262
Addition RE 1,992 = 36 150 - 2,178
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAT (2,557) (957) - (145) (802) (4,461)
Disposal e - - - (59) - (59)
Write off 38 (7,158) - - - - (7,158)
Remeasurement of lease ENitElE (3173 - - = = (3,179)
Exchange differences ERZER (108) (152) (16) 219 (37) (%4
At 31 December 2023 AT+ A=1-H 10,897 9,282 74,452 5,864 - 100,49
Accumulated depreciation and EHFERAEER

impairment losses

At 1 January 2022 \-2-—F-F-H 8,983 8,790 24,320 4732 820 47,645
Charge for the year Epxi 10,107 1,557 18,727 1,373 — 31,764
Disposal i3 - - 8,771) (3,336) = (12,107)
Impairment HE = = 20,389 = = 20,389
Write off 38 (6,725) ) - ) - (6,733)
Remeasurement of lease EXirelg (2,479) - - - = (2,479
Exchange differences ERZER (639) (524) (450) (40) (66) (1,719)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 ~ RZE-—#+-f=1+-HE

“Z-=F-f-H 9,247 9,819 54,215 2,125 754 76,760
Charge for the year ERF 5,693 186 13,642 1,407 - 21,228
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT (2,557) (957) - (33 (748) (4,295)
Disposal i3 = = = (32) = (32)
Write off s (7,158) - - - - (7,158)
Remeasurement of lease EXirERg 2,480) - - - = 2,480)
Exchange differences ELZE (33) (171) ) 243 6) 2
At 31 December 2023 WZFZ=E+ZA=1-H 2712 9,177 67,856 4,310 - 84,055
Net carrying amount BEFHE
At 31 December 2023 RZEZZ%5+-A=1-H 8,185 105 6,596 1,554 - 16,440
At 31 December 2022 A\E-—F+-B=1-H 12,654 572 20,217 2,974 85 36,502
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. WX  BERRZHE®E)
(Continued)

The Group as a lessee rEBEERAEBEA

Right-of-use assets (included in the property,

plant and equipment)

RAEEE (GTAYE  BERRE)

Leased Plant and
properties machinery Total
HEWE BB R st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FA T FAT
Cost K Z<
At 1 January 2022 RZE-__—_F—HF—H 22,235 14,650 36,885
Addition =T 10,985 — 10,985
Elimination I 38 (6,725) — (6,725)
Modification on leases MEBAT (121) — (121)
Early termination of lease REKRIEHEE (6,862) — (6,862)
Exchange differences e H =5 (998) — (998)
At 31 December 2022 and RZE-_—_F+=-_A=+—H
1 January 2023 ;r—Z-_=%—H—H 18,514 14,650 33,164
Addition NE 1,992 — 1,992
Elimination 1 85 (7,158) — (7,158)
Early termination of lease RERIEHEE (3,173) - (3,173)
Exchange differences fEHE5 26 — 26
At 31 December 2023 R-ZTE_=F+-_A=+—H 10,201 14,650 24,851
Accumulated depreciation Z:iIFEREEEE
and impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 RZE-__—_F—HF—H 8,315 3,300 11,615
Charge for the year FAZH 9,969 2,442 12,411
Elimination 1 55 (6,725) — (6,725)
Impairment B — 8,908 8,908
Modification on leases HEEE] (29) — (29)
Early termination of lease RERIEHEE (2,077) — (2,077)
Exchange differences fEHZ5 457) — (457)
At 31 December 2022 and RZE-——F+=-A=+—H
1 January 2023 rEZZE-=%—HF—H 8,996 14,650 23,646
Charge for the year FAZ WM 5,525 = 5,525
Elimination Hihr 58 (7,158) = (7,158)
Early termination of lease REKIEHEE (2,656) — (2,656)
Exchange differences PE W =% (267) — (267)
At 31 December 2023 R-TE_=F+_-_HA=+—H 4,440 14,650 19,090
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2023 RZZBE_=F+"_H=+—H 5,761 — 5,761
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H 9,518 — 9,518
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18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$5,135,000 (2022:
HK$10,122,000) are recognised with related right-of-use
assets of HK$5,761,000 (2022: HK$9,518,000) as at 31
December 2023. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

All the plant and machinery are leased out under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period 3 years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which
time all terms are renegotiated. All the leases includes
variable lease payments.

18.

Y% - BERKRE G

RZEZ_Z—_F+_HA=+—H0 BB
A # & E 495,135,000 T (—Z & = —
10,122,000/ 7t) 2 # R 1 & & 155,761,000
BIT(ZE = 4% :9,518,000/8 L) - B A
fﬂAﬁﬁ%%ﬁEéE#}ﬁﬁ% soN - HE
ETERIENRE HEEETHE
RIEMRMEENER -

2HBMELERORELEELE  -HE
E’U%ﬂﬁé,ﬁﬁﬁﬁL%z%:i’EAEQEIHJ%G:Tk
BEE ERNSEFBEMBGER - 28
HEAFARTZEHEEMK -

2023
—_E_=F
HK$’000
T T

2022
—EF-=

HK$’000
TAET

Expenses relating to short-term leases

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
approximately HK$1,992,000 (2022: HK$10,985,000). This
amount included the capitalised lease payments payable
under new tenancy agreements.

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is set out in Note 29.

HEHEEEMEIAX

2,143 1,078

REN - i A& EL I %1,992,0007% 7T
(ZZE = =% :10,985,000/6 7T) - 2 & % &
EHHEHRZEETENNERNMCBENRK -

HEBENIIHB M NME29 -

FENREERRLQF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B TS ER AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

18.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Other properties leased for own use

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, and factories
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for a fixed
term of 2 to 3 years (2022: 2 to 3 years). Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Other leases

The Group leases plant and machinery under leases expiring
in 3 years. Some leases include an option to renew the lease
when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes
variable lease payments.

Impairment assessment

Due to the developments in the cryptocurrencies market and
the recent plunge of the market price of Filecoin and Chia
during the year ended 31 December 2022, the management
of the Group concluded there was indication for impairment
and conducted impairment assessment on cryptocurrencies
mining equipment included in property, plant and equipment.

The Group assessed the recoverable amounts of those
cryptocurrencies mining equipment. As a result the carrying
amounts of these assets were written down to their
recoverable amounts. An impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$20,389,000 recognised
respectively in profit or loss within the cloud computing and
date storage segment to which these assets relate during the
year ended 31 December 2022. The estimates of recoverable
amounts were based on the equipments’ fair values less
costs of disposal, using market comparable approach by
reference to market evidence of recent transactions for
similar equipment by an independent professional valuer,
Greater China Appraisal Limited. The fair value on which the
recoverable amount is based on is categorized as level 3
measurement. The key assumption on which management
has based its determination of fair value less costs of
disposal is that the condition of comparable equipment is
considered similar and the costs of disposal are assumed to
be 3% of the fair market value of the equipment.

18.

Y% - BERKRE G

HttEREEME

AEERARERERLE BEELKEBEAR
BE - -HEARMBEEHRAME=F(=
T ME=ZF) - BHHYLZMENEE
R YEeZBRIAE 2GR RGN - &
BERMEFGETIAIRERARE  AKH
KRAEMESR  LHEESARBRGIAITH
HR -

HibHE

AEERBE=FINHNEOHEHERE R¥
oo BT HEA I E EH 5P A GRS
EENEE -FAHESTBENEEE
R

B 7L
HRANEEBTSENERAERBE=S
Z—F+=ZRB=+—H8 L F EFilecoin X &
TENTMSEREROIRYR A5EEETEE
REFERETR  HFAADE  BE
REBOINZ EERRREETRENG -

AREBFEZENTEERRZHEHTK
Bl Al ZFEENREDEEME
ZHARESE VE BERREOR
B 518 41 520,389,000 . * REEZ-Z
—ZF+- A+ RALFEREEZFE
ERENZFEREERES BANEE
PR -AEOSENGTERAREBENA
REREEERA  RAWMBAILE I
SEBUBEMGBMEETERBRAA &
MEURERSIMBER - J B £ 58
BN ARBEEDEA=RFTE - 12
BEETAAERLDEXNAMERANEER
BA UAKEBRIHEAORRIEZESTER
BHEKNRNRBZBET SR AERSY% o
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19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Impairment assessment (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no impairment
was made in respect of the cryptocurrencies mining
equipment.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out certain offices under operating leases
with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an
initial period of 1 to 2 years (2022: 1 to 3 years). Majority
of the lease contracts contain market review clauses in the
event the lessee exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of

18.

19.

Y% - BERKRE G

w5 BY b ()

REBE_TZ_=F+_A=+—BLEFE "
YERMEZEEZERETIRAERE -

REWME

AEFEULERENFAEAETHAE -
HeEFAZMN HENYRERBE R —
EMF(CEZF:—E=F) - MEBA
TEEHNE AAZHEEEEGRHBEET
SEERN o

HRAEHEANSEEESANNER
BB #AKBEITERBEELRHMmMAR
SRR - HEARTEIRERERRES
FAEATREREREBEZDENR
e

lease term.

2023 2022
—E-=E —EF-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TH&T
At 1 January R—H—H 20,496 22,201
Net fair value loss recognised in profit or loss R IB X HER A 0 E K518 % 5 (515) (534)
Exchange differences E W ZE%R (812) (1,171)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 19,169 20,496

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair value of the
Group’s investment properties were arrived at on the basis
of valuations conducted by Jones Lang LaSelle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited and Greater China Appraisal
Limited respectively, independent firms of chartered
surveyors not connected to the Group.

RoBE-—=FR-_ZFE-——F+—-A=+—A8
REBEREMEZAARBIIRIE S A HE
AEBYEBENBLEXENEMP 258
TEETBRRBZRABERAAREETES
RAGIETHEESRL -

FENREEARAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L - =F + - A=+ —HILtFE
19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 19.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no
change in valuation techniques used for the fair value
measurement of the Group’s investment properties as
compared to last year.

Details of valuation techniques and inputs used are set out in

REWE @)

BE_ZT-_=-Ft_A=t—HLLFE I
EFRE BARAKEERENEZA 1
At 8 o {4 (B ST 3 & (L ] 2

ERBERMEMABBABEZFBHR

Note 7(c). BisE7(c) °
20. GOODWILL 20. BE
2023 2022
—_=2_= —_=__
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T THET
Cost 24N
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BE+=ZA=+—H 16,482 16,482
Accumulated impairment losses 2t REE B
At 1 January HN—H—H 13,500 13,500
Impairment loss BB R 2,982 =
At 31 December R+=ZHA=+—H 16,482 13,500
Net carrying amount REFEE
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H - 2,982

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the cash generating unit (“CGU”) that is

EXBEHTRBZAERKRBREIET
BEHERZEGEHTEaNRSELE

expected to benefit from that business combination. The U(BReEELEEN]) - AENEREES L
carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated as follows: (I
2023 2022
—E-=£K —_F-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THER T T
Online games: R EER
Cubinet Interactive (MSC) Sdn. Bhd. and Cubinet Interactive (MSC)
its subsidiaries (the “Cubinet Group”) Sdn. Bhd. & E K &8 2 A
([Cubinet & B 1) — 2,982
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

GOODWILL (Continued)

The recoverable amount of cash-generating unit has been
determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group covering
the following five years with a discount rate of 16.2% (2022:
20.7%) as at 31 December 2023. The cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using 0% (2022: 2.50%)
growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculated is the turnover and budgeted gross margin, which
are determined based on the CGU’s past performance and
management expectations for the market development.

Due to the delay in plan of publishing mobile games, the
Group has revised its cash flow forecast for this CGU. As at
31 December 2023, this goodwill has no recoverable amount
and impairment loss of approximately HK$2,982,000 was
recognised on goodwill during the year ended 31 December
2023.

20.

& (50

REeELEEN 2N SBEERFERER
FEET 2 EERERASEEEE
HENEETFHUKEEENRERETE
B R—_E-_=F+-_A=+—HHWHER
R AE162% (ZFE - —F:207%)° BB R
FHEMNREREDEAERERR (ZF
ZZF:250%)HE cFEFREAENE
HmEARBREALEEBREHAENE - AR
BReEAEMNNATREREREES M
IGERRMNTEHET -

R FHRERBITTEEE AEEEE
AR eELAEUMNBREERERAN - B
ZE-Z=F+-A=+t—H ZEELTE
AlEeE MREBEE_ZTE_=F+=A4
“t+—HBLEFE BB ERRAREESE
#92,982,000/% 7T °

FENREEARAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GAMBREMT
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. BREE
Game
intellectual
properties and Game Rights on Money lending
licenses software  esports team Trademark license Total
BRASEER AET
it 4 EHEA  BHEBZER HE HEER @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TAT THTL L AL AL TAT
Cost A
1 January 2022 R-E-—&-f-H 63,814 5,083 19,592 7,300 500 96,289
Additions AE 40,387 - - - - 40,387
Write off 5 (15,901) - - - - (15,901)
Exchange differences ELZE (2219 - (1,542) - = (3815)
At 31 December 2022 and RZE-ZE+ZfA=+-A
1 January 2023 R=F==£-A-H 86,027 5,083 18,050 7,300 500 116,960
Write off s (51,666) (5,083) - - - (66,749)
Exchange differences ERZE (918) = (510) = = (1,428)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=f§+-A=1-H 33,443 - 17,540 7,300 500 58,783
Accumulated amortisationand ZiBERAEFE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 R-E-—F-f-H 36,922 5,083 5,551 2,312 - 49,868
Amortisation B 11,716 - 3,726 1,460 - 16,902
Eliminated on write off IR (13,407) - - - - (13,407)
Exchange differences ELZE (1,085) - (559) - = (1,588
At 31 December 2022 and R-E-_#+-A=1-A
1 January 2023 R=ZFZ=£-A-H 34,196 5,083 8,724 3,772 - 51,775
Amortisation 2 11,933 - 3,587 1,460 - 16,930
Impairment A 33,443 - 1017 - - 34,460
Eliminated on write off HOR 5 (45,610) (5,083) - - - (50,699)
Exchange differences EREE (519) - (284) - - (803)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZE+ZA=+-H 33,443 - 12,994 5,232 - 51,669
Net carrying amount Eﬁmgfﬁ
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZA=1-H - - 4,546 2,068 500 7114
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F+-F=+-H 51,831 - 9,326 3,528 500 65,185
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group’s money lending license of approximately
HK$500,000 (2022: HK$500,000) at 31 December 2023 was
assessed as having indefinite useful life because the license
has a limited term of 1 year but would be able to be renewed
annually at minimal cost. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the Group would renew the money
lending license continuously and any conditions necessary
to obtain renewal would be satisfied. The money lending
license will not be amortised until its useful life is determined
to be finite.

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount
of its game intellectual properties and licenses classified as
intangible assets at the end of each reporting period, having
regard to the market conditions of the Group’s products.
These assets are used in the Group’s online game segment.

Game A

As at 31 December 2023, the Game A has carrying amount
of HK$Nil (2022: approximately HK$16,645,000).

Impairment loss of approximately HK$16,645,000 (2022:
HK$NIl) for Game A’s intellectual properties was recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Due to the adverse
market condition in gaming industry and management’s
expectation for market development and the cash flow
positions of the Group which delayed the development plan
of the game, management carried impairment assessment
and compared the carrying amount to its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount of HK$Nil (2022:
approximately HK$16,585,000) for the relevant assets has
been determined on the bases of their value in use (“VIU”)
using discounted cash flow method with reference to the
valuation conducted by an independent professional valuer.

21.

BIEEE#®

RZE_=F+-_A=+—H XrEEHNH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B TS ER AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

21.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Game B

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the operation
of Game B was terminated. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the Group will no longer be able
to generate future economic benefits from the use or
disposal of the Game B intellectual properties and licenses.
Therefore, such game intellectual properties and licenses of
HK$1,500,000 were written off during the year.

Metasens

As at 31 December 2023, the Metasens has carrying amount
of HK$NIl (2022: approximately HK$33,117,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, three (2022: two)
of the projects included in Metasens were suspended. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
will no longer be able to generate future economic benefits
from the use or disposal of these projects. Therefore,
intellectual properties related to these projects with a
carrying value of HK$6,056,000 (2022: HK$994,000) were
written off during the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, an impairment
loss of approximately HK$16,798,000 (2022: HK$NIl) was
recognised in relation to Metasens. Due to the adverse
market condition in gaming industry and management’s
expectation for market development and the cash flow
positions of the Group which delayed the development of
the game. management carried impairment assessment and
compared the carrying amount to its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of HK$Nil (2022: approximately
HK$41,000,000) for the relevant assets has been determined
based on its VIU using discounted cash flow method with
reference to the valuation conducted by an independent
professional valuer.

21.

BRXEE W)
% BB
BE_Z__F+t_A=+—HLEEE" B

TEELHEEB ARAEERAE  A%H
EEZAGCHAIEHEEBBZ ARERE K
b 8 T BE AR R R AS B M 2% o B Ut - 1k &
2 M EE RE N W 1,500,000 T E R F A

Metasens

R-ZZTE-_=F+=-H=+—H ' MetasensHy
BEEEAZEB T(ZTE - —F : 433,117,000
/%TE)"

REBEE_ZF_=F+_A=+—HLFE"

Metasens &) —1I(’%::¢ : N {E) I8 B
TiZ - ARREERE AEEBEEZERE
FRxkEE EZ%IEEﬁﬁEEﬁEXZ%@ﬂ

Hit BZEHERBONZER KRR
{86,056,0005%8 Jt (= T = — 4F : 994,000;8
TERBEZZT-_=F+-"A=+—HIE
FEME -

REBEE-ZE-_=F+-A=+—HLFE "
B2 5t Metasens f 32 J5 {8 /& 18 £916,798,000
B ZEZZF B L) AR BB
ETFHMBERAREEEEMBERD
FANUNERAEENREME MR NS &
BHRBEHEE TEEETREINIA L

REBERATKESEETLR - HBE
ENARESERTAET(CE-__F: 4

41,000,000 7T) r HIRBEEFREE &
RN RE LA EB Y EEEERM
ETHHEEMESE -
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 21. BREEE @)
Rights on esport team 5 E Bz ER
The management carried out impairment assessment on the EREFALYHEAERAKEDEE  H
rights on esport team by comparing the carrying amount to EHBERK A ETRAENG - T kE S
the recoverable amount. Recoverable amount was estimated BDEREGCABERARREREEGHE
based on its VIU using discounted cash flow method. The S - FHEEFTERANRESRERAA
cash flow projection adopted in the VIU calculation was DARERF RS BEE RELE
based on the approved budget covering a period of five WEHALHAI7T0% 2R E - Al - HEZ
years and a discount rate of approximately 17.0% was E-=F+-_A=+—HLEFER ERE
adopted. Accordingly, an impairment loss of approximately = A FE R R B B 18 491,017,00078 7T - A #5
HK$1,017,000 was recognised in the profit or loss during the ERZE - =F+_A=+—HXNEHAEH
year ended 31 December 2023 to impaired its carrying value B Z Al UK 6] & B8 494,546,000 7T ©
to its recoverable amount of approximately HK$4,546,000 as
at 31 December 2023.
INVENTORIES 22. FH
2023 2022
—E=-= —ZE=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHE T FHET
Raw material R4 - 2
Work in progress £ 8o - 1,145
Finished goods BRI BK i 202 361
202 1,508

FENREEARAR
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23. LOAN RECEIVABLES AND INTEREST 23. EWERKREWR E
RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FE T FAT
Loan receivables, net of loss allowance W E RN BEEE) - 3,354
Interest receivables JE WA B - 249
- 3,603
Details of the loss allowance for the loan receivables and EHREWREZRRLREKANE Z BB EBETS
interests receivables is set out in Note 6.3(b). A MY 5E6.3(b) °
The maturity profile of loan receivables and interest RBEHHERKEZR REKHNEIRGETH
receivables at the reporting date is analysed by the remaining HEHEAABHZHEHBE RN T -
periods to their contractual maturity dates as follows:
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
HK$°000 HK$’'000
T % T FAT
Within one year —F R - 3,603
The carrying amounts of the loan receivables and interest FEUWE R N R B 2 BREE 518 % T3
receivables are denominated in HK$. F o
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, all loan receivables are R-E_=FF_F-_—F+-_A=+—H "
unsecured, bear interest at fixed rates and are repayable FTERWBERAEERR  HETEFERFTE
with fixed terms agreed with the customers. RizBEEFPHERETEHRES -
24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24, EWE SR
2023 2022
—EB-=5F —_EF_-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F % T FET
Trade receivables U E 5Bk K 20,991 33,998
Allowance for ECL EHEEEERE (2,826) =
18,165 33,998

FHRBWESEFR cBEBEFBEHNN
5£6.3(b) °

Details of the loss allowance for the trade receivables is set
out in Note 6.3(b).
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 24.

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally range from 30 to 90 days.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by directors. The
aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, based on
the invoice date, and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

W B 5 BR K (50

AEBIZUEEGRFREREFPETRS -
EEH RN FI0E0KX - EFF HAimat
BHES AKERKESRFIZERA
HRMRERRERZRESTNOT

2023 2022

—_E_=F —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T FET
0-30 days 0E 30X 5,657 14,072
31-60 days 31E60XK 2,146 3,402
61-90 days 61E90K 1,338 1,878
Over 90 days 90K A F 9,024 14,646
18,165 33,998

DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS

25. % HtEWRBARENSRE

2023 2022
—E-=E —EF-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Deposit Z& 2,431 14,605
Prepayments SEENE QL] 9,660 8,917
Other receivables H h fE Ug FRI8 1,253 7,951
13,344 31,473

Analysis for reporting purposes as: HMEBEN DT A:
Current VioE2) 5,549 18,775
Non-current JFERE 7,795 12,698
13,344 31,473

FENREEARAR
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26. CRYPTOCURRENCY ASSETS

a.

21 8 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Cryptocurrencies

26. MEEWEE

a. mMEE

Note HK$’000
B 2 FHET
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-__F—H—H 22,670
Additions =
Cryptocurrencies mined BERFENZ T 8 4,192
Cryptocurrencies received B EINE E &
Received from cryptocurrency receivables B U ER B Y hn = B 26(b) 8,696
Received from the sale of NFTs and HENFTR H i TR &
other digital tokens Fr S #38 1,152
Total additions RNE R 14,040
Transferred to cryptocurrency deposits HBANRE®ZS 26(b) (2,582)
Cryptocurrencies sold BEN=EE K (590)
Cryptocurrencies paid BT INEE (10,243)
Impairment loss recognised during the year R # R R EE 18 (16,972)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZEZ=ZF+=-H=+—H
—E-=F—H—H 6,323
Additions NE
Cryptocurrencies mined BERFENE T 2,755
Cryptocurrencies received BB INE ' %
Received from cryptocurrency receivables B UER fE Y hn = B 26(b) 2,456
Received from sale of NFTs and other HENFTR H 2 7R
digital tokens Ffr 15 218 485
Total additions N 5,696
Transferred to cryptocurrency deposits EANEE®IES 26(b) (3,220)
Cryptocurrencies sold EEMEEK (2,049)
Cryptocurrencies paid B NEES (683)
Reversal of impairment loss during the year 4 (A J8 & J&5 18 # [@1 2,758
At 31 December 2023 RZEBE-_=F+-_H=+—H 8,825
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26. CRYPTOCURRENCY ASSETS (Continued)

a.
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Cryptocurrencies (Continued)

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the breakdown of

cryptocurrencies are as follows:

a.

26. MEEWEEMH)

Ik JC)

RZBE_=ZFR=_F-_—_F+=A
=t—HB G NEEENREMNT

Coins/tokens HK$’000

HBEEE KK F#& T

UsSDT TEM 34,946 273

Ethereum Ethereum 11 109

BNB oo 122 217

Filecoin Filecoin 114,261 5,361

Chia ook 9,498 2,865
At 31 December 2023 RZZE—=

+=-—RA=+—H 8,825

Coins/tokens HK$’000

L TH&T

UsSDT By e 72,343 565

Ethereum Ethereum 248 2,320

BNB o e 77 148

Filecoin Filecoin 76,149 1,791

Chia ook 6,966 1,499
At 31 December 2022 R-T__—

+=—A=+—8” 6,323

FENREEARAR

2023 % 219



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

26. CRYPTOCURRENCY ASSETS (Continued)

b.

220 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Cryptocurrency deposits and
receivables

26. MBEWEEE)
b. MEEEEREREUNEER

Cryptocurrency Cryptocurrency

deposits receivables Total
nEE¥Ze: EBANZBER mEt
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt & FHL FAL FAT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZZE-—%—H—H 5,737 603 6,340
Additions NE
Transferred from BINEEEEA
cryptocurrencies 26(a) 2,582 — 2,582
Rental income earned from A& AR IR
leases of machines to N & W 2%
lessees to engage in el ERA
cryptocurrency mining 8 — 8,255 8,255
Received from the customers B &P UE 26(a) - (8,696) (8,696)
Impairment loss recognised FRERRBEEE
during the year 15 (6,549) (63) (6,602)
At 31 December 2022 and iy
1 January 2023 =f+—8k
—“ZE-=%F—fF—H 1,770 109 1,879
Additions WE
Transferred from BNEEEEA
cryptocurrencies 26(a) 3,220 — 3,220
Income receivable from rental REME R FTiR MR
and services provided %z EREA — 2,408 2,408
Received from the customers B &P UE 26(a) - (2,456) (2,456)
Reversal of impairment loss F R E BB ED
during the year 15 2,680 45 2,725
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=4%
+=A=+—H 7,670 106 7,776

The directors of the Company carried out impairment
assessment at the end of each reporting period by
comparing the carrying amount to its recoverable
amount. Recoverable amount was estimated
based on fair value less cost of disposal by using
market approach. Reversal of impairment loss of
approximately HK$2,758,000 and HK$2,725,000
(2022: impairment of HK$16,971,000 and
HK$6,602,000) respectively were recognised in
respect of cryptocurrencies and cryptocurrency
deposits and receivables for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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RAARESERNESREHRETRE
A A EAERAEREBERTIK
Ee8 e JlkEeEIIRAALER
HEXAFERAMBEMESD - &
BT =F+ZA=+—HLEFE"
ERxMEESZERERMNE S
T SR (B 5 1B B 5 Bl 492,758,000
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1B 416,971,000/ 7t 16,602,000
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CASH AND BANK BALANCES 27. ReRhBITHEE
Cash and bank balances include demand deposits and RERBTEBEPREPEARAETER
short-term deposits for the purposes of meeting the Group’s SERHREAEMRORBFER DK
short term cash commitments, which carry interest at market N F0.01%E0.2% 2 T IHHMEFE -
rates range from 0.01% to 0.2%.
As at 31 December 2023, the cash and bank balances of RZZEZ=F+ZA=1+—8 x&5EBMNUA
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately R¥ 5B 21 & & IR1T4 # 4 £3,163,000
HK$3,163,000 (2022: HK$16,796,000). Conversion of B (ZE = ZF 16,796,000/ L) - A R
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s B W M R NS B B 1R P B A BE B IR (6 1 A
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration REEE EERMNESERTE
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.
TRADE PAYABLES 28. ENEZERR
2023 2022
—=s-= —ZT=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET
Trade payables FET B SR 4,859 10,180

The Group normally obtains credit terms ranging from 30 to
90 days from its suppliers.

At the end of reporting period, the aging analysis of trade
payables, based on the invoice date is as follows:

HEF—RETAEEB0EI0RNEEH -

RBERAR ENESERRERAHZ
BRI T

2023 2022

2= = —
HK$’000 HK$’000
F& T FET
0-30 days 0E30K 552 720
31-60 days 31E60K 314 2,926
61-90 days 61290K 379 1,812
Over 90 days 90 KM F 3,614 4,722
4,859 10,180

FENKERERAR 2023 £ 221
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29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HEERE

Minimum Present value of minimum
lease payments lease payments
BRERAEMR BEHENRNERE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= —E-CF —Eg-= -
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FTET TER TET
Within one year —FR 3,837 7,051 3,449 6,260
Within a period of more than one  —F A FER BB M F 2 BfE
year but not exceeding two years 1,774 3,104 1,686 2,802
Within a period of more thantwo ~ MEMN FEFBBAEZ HH
years but not exceeding five years - 1,106 - 1,060
5,611 11,261 5,135 10,122
Less: Future finance charges B RRBEE A N/A
(476) (1,139) N/A TE A
Present value of lease obligations B EET 2R E 5,135 10,122 5,135 10122
Less: Amount due for settlement  B: t—AAREZLEEME
within 12 months (shown under GIRTEBEERT)
current liabilities) (3,449) (6,260)
Amount due for settlement after T_ARREHENES
12 months 1,686 3,862

AR EaGE 2 EBEEEM=ENT1.55%
F0045% 2 B(ZE = —F: ) F1.55% &
14.02% 2 f) °

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities
range from 1.55% to 20.45%. (2022: from 1.55% to 14.02%).
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LOANS FROM RELATED PARTIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group received loans from Mr.
Cheng (2022: Mr. Cheng and Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry)
and related companies, which are companies beneficially
owned and controlled by Mr. Cheng, with aggregate principal
amount of HK$310,000,000 (2022: HK$280,000,000). These
loans were unsecured, interest bearing from 0% to 2%
(2022: from 0% to 2%) per annum and repayable within 1 to
2 years. The fair value of these loans were estimated at the
prevailing market interest rates for equivalent loans which
ranged from 3.98% to 8.75% (2022: 5% to 5.625%) per
annum on initial recognition.

The carrying amounts of the loans from related parties are
repayable:

30.

REBEBLT ZER

RZZE-_ZF+-_A=+—H A£EMHZH
EE(CTEZZF BAERBREXNEE) R
HBEEESHRBRZEHNEE A RES
B A& 4% 5310,000,000 T (= &
— — % : 280,000,000 TC) - ZEE R A E
HH - IREBO%E2% (ZZE - —F: 0% %
2%) st B R AR — ﬂﬂiﬁqfé‘%o.&%%
RZRAARETIRREEXE RV A EREZ
IR 17 ™ % F H) ﬁ¥398%1875%(_
T F 5% %E5.625%) 2 B G st o

KEBMH cEXNEEERMAOT :

2023 2022
—=E== —E=-=
HK$°000 HK$’'000
F & FAT
Within one year —FR 208,563 78,270
Within a period of more than one year but not — & LA _E B8 i@ /@ 4 2 Hi [

exceeding two years 92,204 188,353
300,767 266,623

Less: Amounts due within one year shown BoOmBAEET —F AR
under current liabilities ® % (208,563) (78,270)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilites JERE)BEIE TN A TR & 58 92,204 188,353

FEREEEERAE 2023 F 1}
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31.

TR+ - A=t+—HItFE

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 31. HtENREREFIEE

2023 2022
—EB-=5F —EF_-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Deposits received Bl & 754 385
Accruals FEETIE R 9,214 29,112
Receipt in advance T8 W R I8 - 9,442
Loan from a third party (Note a) KEE=F2ER(HFa) - 5,391
Royalty payable (Note b) ERERMEE (WD) 2,087 2,833
Retirement benefits costs (Note ¢) RARAR K A (M 5Ee) 399 338
Other payables (Note d) H th & 1 I8 (B 5Ed) 29,285 35,450
41,739 82,951
Analyses for reporting purposes BHRERABRDWTA

Current B 41,397 82,669
Non-current FE 7T B 342 282
41,739 82,951

Notes:

224 mperium Technology Group Limited

As at 31 December 2022, the balance represented loan from an
independent third party. The loan was unsecured, bear interest at
3% per annum and repayable within one year.

The balance represented non-cancellable minimum royalty payable
to a game developer under an online game license agreement.

The amount represented defined benefit obligations arising from a
Thailand subsidiary. Under labour laws in Thailand, all employees
with more than 120 days of service are entitled to Legal Severance
Payment benefits ranging from 30 to 300 days of final salary upon
termination of service, including forced termination or retrenchment,
or in the event of retirement. The plan is unfunded and therefore
there is no plan asset.

Included in the amount was interest payable of approximately
HK$4,500,000 (2022: HK$3,750,000) as at 31 December 2023.

Annual Report 2023

ot &

MR2022F12A31A  BHIEREABLIE=H 2
BER - ZERAEER RFES3%TERA
R—FRNEE -

EHRERBRLBEBERELFEN —2ER
RBEBZTAREREEFNES -

ZELRE—RREMNBRARZERAETRBAEME -
BREFRBEZ2STE LIERI0BZHAEE
SR IEEE A (B 1898 Bl 42 L R B R K) 18
BERERTERERAM - EAERI0E300H
ZEREEHM o ZEETRES WA EAE
BAE -

FARZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—HHEMF &
#74,500,000/ T(= & — — % : 3,750,000/
JT) °
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES 32. EWERE
2023 2022
—E-=£F —_F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Contract liabilities as a result of billing in AEAERBBEREFIRAGEN
advance of cloud computing and data EEANARE
storage 439 —
Contract liabilities as a result of billing in 12 M E R 31T AR S TR IR
advance of game publishing service mMEEXEHNERE - 1,896
439 1,896

For the revenue from cloud computing and data storage, the
Group received 25% of mining reward from cryptocurrency
mining at the beginning which give rise to a contract liability.

For revenue from mobile game business, contract liabilities
arose from sales of durable virtual items in the online game
where the Group act as a principal.

The revenue recognised related to the carried-forward
contract liabilities are as follows:

KBS ERBEBRRETFEFR 2 WEME
AEBRFRRNE S 15 % 525% 2 7
KRR AMELGHAR -

RREFREBES 2Rams BEE
REBEBR(BEASBETEZEA)AZMHA
BERYRMELSGNAR -

PEHEEANARERRENT

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T T
Revenue recognised in the year from the REABENINAEHDEER
amounts included in the contract liabilities IB W R W A
at the beginning of the year 1,896 7,378
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RE MR MG
For the year ended 31 December 20283 Bl Z T —_=F + A =+—HILFE
33. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 33. EZEBIEBEBEE
The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by AEERRNECHEABROT
the Group:
Fair value Undistributed Deferred
adjustments earnings tax on Right-of-use
on assets of PRC  investment assets/lease
acquired subsidiaries  properties liabilities Total
FRBEE +ENBAR RENE: FAREE/
ZARBHAE ZRkAWMEF BEEDE HEARE @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL TAEL FTAEL FTAEL AL
At 1 January 2022 RZE-__%—F—H 916 1,716 - — 2,632
Credited to profit or loss FAER (744) - - - (744)
At 31 December 2022 and ngiiﬁ‘l'_ﬂ =f+—H
1 January 2023 —Fz ¢ A—H 172 1,716 — - 1,888
Disposal of subsidiaries & ’% DI - (1,716) = = (1,716)
(Credited)/debited to profit or (3 A),/ 1% E B
loss ) — 577 18 593
Exchange differences [ 5 =4 = = (8) = 8)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F+-RA=+—H 170 - 569 18 757

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$332,801,000 (2022:
HK$255,473,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$15,709,000 (2022: HK$10,648,000) that will expire on
or before 2033 (2022: expire on or before 2032). Other tax

losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has aggregate
amount of deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$4,283,000 (2022: HK$4,216,000). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

RBEHR ASEERDATEBEEIRELD
332,801,000/% 7t (==& = — 4 : 255,473,000
BT A AEE SR A E B o B R R & F
MR TR MY EERAELCRIBEEE °
%ﬁﬁwufﬂkﬁﬁaﬁ%%ﬂ_;::ﬁéﬁzz
B (—= T ZERE=ZFH RSz
#715,709,000/% 7T (Z £ = — 4 : 10,648,000
BIL)EBE c AMBIIAEEA MR AL -

)‘Na EHR AEEZANMRE K E5E

& FH 4 54,283,000 T(ZE = ZF: 4
4216000,%75) 2210 N I/ N
B MW EBRELEHBEEE -
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34. SHARE CAPITAL

34. BAE

Ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each

SREEIEBTZEER
Number of
shares Par value
K12 8B HE
HK$'000
TET
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares, R
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, WZTE-__F—HF—H-
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 - —#%#+-fA=+—H"
“Z-=f-H-BAk
—E_=%+-A=+—H 500,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR:
Ordinary shares, TR
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, p—F——&#—F—Q -
1 January 2023 and 31 December —E-——F#+-—HF=+—H
2023 —E=F—HA—HBK
—E_=%+-_HA=+—H 311,036,000 3,110

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to
risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new
shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing
debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as
net debt divided by adjusted capital. Total debt comprises
borrowings. Adjusted capital comprises all components of
equity (i.e. share capital, share premium, accumulated losses
and other reserves) except for non-controlling interests.

AEBEERRANENEEREAEEN
FERKERN LT EBELEHEREL
EEBRRERZFKOHE -

AEEKZERLEIEETEATE A%
ERELERREDNEBEENRARS
MEERNBABELAGRE REFKARE

AR AEEYISHBRERE - BT
i mERD  HIEEYE BOBRBRE

BRHEEENARDER °

AEENEBHERABEEA L R /RELE
TERN - ZLEXNEHBFERAECHEER
AEFE - EREEABERARK - KRAE
BERNBEMARERD - BIRA - RinEE -
Rt BB R EAMEE R GRS -
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34.

228 Imperium Technology Group Limited

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 the
Group’s strategy, was to maintain the debt-to-adjusted
capital ratio as low as feasible. In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to
reduce debt.

No debt-to-adjusted capital ratio is assessed as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 because the Group is in a net
liabilities position as of these dates.

The externally imposed capital requirement for the Group is
in order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has
to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars
monthly on substantial share interests showing the non-
public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with
the 25% limit throughout the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

Deemed disposal of BLE BV IR&EBR QD
7 (“Taiwan Subsidiary”)

On 1 January 2023, the Group deemed disposed
100% of the issued share capital of the Taiwan
Subsidiary because the Group did not renew
the contractual arrangements with the Taiwan
Subsidiary. Management assessed the implications
of the non-renewal of the contractual arrangements
and concluded that, based on the facts and
circumstances, the ability of the Group to use its
power to direct the relevant activities that would most
significantly affect the returns of the Taiwan Subsidiary
was ceased. By 1 January 2023, it was no longer
practical for the Group to make relevant decisions in
order to obtain significant variable returns from the
Taiwan Subsidiary. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company assessed that the Group ceased to have its
control over the Taiwan Subsidiary and therefore the
carrying amounts related to the assets and liabilities
of the Taiwan Subsidiary was deconsolidated from the
consolidated financial statements as of 31 December
2023.

Net assets at the date of deemed disposal were as
follows:

35. HEKHBLQF

(a)

RFHEREBNVRERTRA

A(AEMHMB LT

RZE_=F—FA—H AXEERME
TEAEBNBEARE D EHITIRA
FERAEEY & HEEEKE QA

EREANLTH - EEEEFMBTE
BENTHZYE URABERSE
EREANBRL AEETHEBEER
HEHBNETEHAENBARE R
E5 AMEBEEY BHE-_T==
F—A—B AEECEXIELIEMA
RERNERRESENBRAAMNE
AAEER - Bt - NATESFE -
rEBEHaEWBARETHASR
ZHlE mMeaE2MBRAREERSE
ENEEAEETBEHABE-_S ==
F+_A=+—BNZREMBERE -

REEHERMZEEREBELT:

HK$’000
FAT
Property, plant and equipment Y2 BENRZE 86
Other receivables H b fE R IE 195
Bank and cash balances RITRIR e &8 159
Other payables H & 3018 (30)
Net assets disposed of HE&ZEFR 410
Release of foreign currency translation reserve %% 5 # & £ 1 (272)
Loss on deemed disposal RIEHEEE 138
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEELE RS ML T8
Cash consideration received BHFEERE —
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERSERESEEY (159)
Net cash outflow BERHFE (159)

FENREERRLQF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & & — & —

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (&)

(b) Disposal of JF Household Furnishings (b)
(Asia) Limited and its subsidiaries (the

“JF Asia Group”)

ZEF+TZA=+—HIEFE

35. HEWBQT @)

On 30 June 2023, the Group disposed 100% of the
issued share capital of JF Asia Group for a total

consideration of HK$1.

Net liabilities at the date of disposal were as follows:

HEREXERAR(EMN BIR
RAREMBAT ([ LM
g8

RZZE_=FR"A=1TH ~&EIA
BRE1BETHERETNERZE
BEITHRA -

REERRZAEFENT:

HK$’000
FET
Property, plant and equipment Y2 BENRZE 80
Other receivables H fth pE U 3k 18 5,713
Bank and cash balances WITRRESEHR 5,112
Current tax assets BNEATR I8 & &= 19
Other payables H b BT RIR (13,638)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFHIBAEE (1,716)
Net liabilities disposed of HEBEFE (4,430)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve 2 p i 3 & % 1 (16,677)
Gain on disposal i I 2 (21,107)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEELE RS ML
Cash consideration received BUREKE —*
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERECRREEEY (5,112)
Net cash outflow e mEFE (5,112)

* amount less than HK$1,000
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36.

37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

EQUITY TRANSACTION WITH
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Acquisition of additional interest in a
subsidiary

On 28 July 2022, Deluxe Trading (HK) Limited (the
“Purchaser”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the agreements with the vendors,
pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed to purchase,
and the vendors agreed to sell, the sale equity interests,
representing in aggregate 30% of the equity interests in the
Wanhui (Suzhou) Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (& & (& M)
FIS R B R A F]), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, at an aggregate consideration of RMB6,300,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$7,701,000).

The Company recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests and a decrease in accumulated losses of
approximately HK$7,037,000 and HK$664,000 respectively.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share option scheme
(i) Existing Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the ordinary written resolution passed in
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
on 26 November 2008, the share option scheme
(“Existing Share Option Scheme”) was approved
and adopted by the Company to comply with the
requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;
and the pre-IPO share option scheme and post-IPO
share option scheme were terminated accordingly.

The purpose of the Existing Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Company to recognise the
contributions of any employees (including directors
of the Company), consultants and/or advisers who in
the sole discretion of the directors of the Company
have contributed or will contribute to the Group
(“Participants”) and to motivate the Participants to
continuously work to the benefit of the Group by
offering to the Participants an opportunity to have
personal interest in the share capital of the Company.

36.

37.
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(FRE R #7,701,0005% 7T) °

AR HERIEFE I A )k R AT 1B 2 Bl
4 #)7,037,0007% T %664,0007% T °

BB 49 3% 49 BB
AR 5 50 0 AR R B
() BEBEMHD

BREBEARAR-_ZFZENFE+ —HA
“TARBETHERRENIAS LA
BNEEEBRRBER RABKRE
AE(REEEREFIDEEARR
AR ERTRG  AFELEHRAUE
TEENRE MBERXRFEBRA
BREFIRERRABRKEEBR
BT AIAR AL -

REBREAIEELEARAAR
EARFRIEZZRBNBEARBELEX
HEsAREFELRERNEAREE (8
BARRESR) FAALE /B
RM2EE)HAEENTR - X #
EE2EEERENARARAF
BREBAERZ BB2EEEER
AEBONBME S -

FENREEARAR

2023 5% 231



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

232 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Existing Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The overall limit on the number of shares of the
Company which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Existing Share Option Scheme and other
share option scheme of the Group must not exceed
30% of the shares of the Company in issue from
time to time. Upon acceptance of the option, the
Grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant.

Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the ordinary written resolution passed
in the annual general meeting of the Company on
29 June 2018, the share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) was approved and adopted by the
Company to comply with the requirements under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
enable the Company to provide an incentive or a
reward to eligible persons for their contribution to
the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit
and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group.
The eligible participants include any directors or
employees, consultants and/or advisers, the eligible
participants also include any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives,
suppliers, producers or licensors, licensees (including
sub-licensee) or distributors, of the Group or any
person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has
contributed or may contribute to the Group.

Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

37. LRHBXMAREE)

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

(ii)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The overall limit on the number of shares of the
Company which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and other share
option scheme of the Group must not exceed 30% of
the shares of the Company in issue from time to time.
Upon acceptance of the option, the Grantee shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for
the grant.

The subscription price for share(s) under the Share
Option Scheme will be a price as the board of
directors in its absolute discretion shall determine
and notify to each Participant and shall not be less
than the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the option (which must
be a business day), (i) the average closing prices
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option
and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of
grant of the option. The date of grant is the date on
which the option is offered.

An option under the share option scheme may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during the period to be
determined and notified by the board of directors of
the Company to each grantee which period of time
shall commence on the date of grant of the option
and expire on such date as determined by the board
of directors of the Company provided that the option
may not be exercised after the expiration of 10 years
from the date of grant of the option.

URESENBRESE (8

(i)

BRETEE)

ATEREEREASILASER
it B B 4 51 &) A7 X BB 18 R & 1T {2
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B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L - =F + - A=+ —HILtFE
37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 37. UBRHBZAREE
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) DEREEENBERESTS (B
(ii) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) BREZ(E)
The Share Option Scheme does not require a ERETHSTERENLNERFTERER
minimum period for which an option must be held W2 R S IERERETEA
nor a performance target which must be achieved WEREINRBERZF HEARARES
before an option can be exercised, unless the board EEEAEERRBEEBERET®E
of directors of the Company otherwise determined AR B E BR AN o
and stated in the offer of the grant of options to the
grantee.
Details of the specific categories of options granted to RTEEREBE CERERTEEA
the directors and employees are as follows: ZEEBWR
Exercise
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period price Note
e l=p HEAH T THEE M
HK$
BT
2022A 18 January 2022 28 September 2022 28 September 2022 to 1714 i
17 January 2032
—E-F—-A+N\H “E-_FAAZTNH “E-_FNAZFNHE
ZE=—f—-A++H
2022B 18 January 2022 28 March 2023 28 March 2023 to 1714 i
17 January 2032
—E-F—-A+N\H ZE-=F=A=1+N\H —T-Z#ZR-t)\HZ
ZE=—f—-A++H
2021A 28 September 2021 28 September 2022 28 September 2022 to 11.04 i
27 September 2031
B -FNnA=+NH “E-_FAAZTNH “E-_FNAZTNHE
:gz_ijlﬂ_+tﬁ
2021B 28 September 2021 28 March 2023 28 March 2023 to 11.04 i
27 September 2031
—E-FNRAZTNH —E-=F=A=+/\R —“Z-=F=ZfA-t+N\BE
“E=—FNA=T+tH
If the options remain unexercised after a period of WMERERRLEBHET TEE M
10 years from the date of grant, the options expire. KITHE - BIBERESEER - WiE
Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group. BRFAAEE - BIEREBH LK -
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e MR HRR A

EE_=FF+A=+—HILEE

=

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 37. URGOZNAREE
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) UREZEENBRE S (8
(ii) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) BREZ(E)
Details of the movement of share options during the FABKREZESH 2FHOT
year are as follows:
2023 2022
—EZ=fF —E_—
Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of share exercise of share exercise
options price options price
mEE ¥ NHEFEH
BEREZE TEE | BREHE 111018
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Outstanding at the beginning 74 4] 4 K 17 1
of the year 7,842,792 13.46 4,732,432 11.04

Granted during the year FAEL - - 3,110,360 17.14

Forfeited during the year 5 & P02 4z (Fff 5E1)

(note i) (3,110,360) 17.14 — —

Outstanding at the end R E R M RITE

of the year 4,732,432 11.04 7,842,792 13.46

Exercisable at the end RERAITE

of the year 4,732,432 11.04 3,921,396 13.46

Note: B =%

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2023, 3,110,360 share (i) BE-_ZT-=F+-A=t+—HLLFE
options were forfeited upon Yau Chak Fung’s resignation as 3,110,36017 f& A # B BB )2 & 70 &F A &F
the director of the Company during the year. AERRBEEZ MBI ©

(ii) The options outstanding at the year ended 31 December (ii) #H E2022F12A318 L FE K M KR 1T
2022 have a weighted average remaining contractual ERERENMETORGENFHR
life of 9.1 years and the exercise prices is HK$17.14. The 91%F » ITEEABI7TI4E T - BRER
estimated fair value of the options on the date of grant is & B 8 &l 5t A R B A35,360,821
HK$35,360,821. BT e

(iii) The options outstanding at the year ended 31 December (iii) H =2022F12A318 LE FE H 4 K 1T

2022 have a weighted average remaining contractual life
of 8.7 years and the exercise prices is HK$11.04. The
estimated fair value of the options on the date of grant is

HK$34,456,254.

FENREEARAR

EREREOMET RS ENFE R8T
FTEEBARN.045T - BREART
B B/ 5 5F A 2 (B A34,456,2547%
775 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L - =F + - A=+ —HILtFE

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 37. UBRHBZAREE
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) UREZEENBRE S (8
(ii) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) BREZ(E)

These fair values were calculated using the Polynomial ZEANLEFERAZEABRETE

option price model. The inputs into the model are as RAGE - AZERLNREMT

follows:

Share options Share options

grant date grant date

18 January 28 September

2022 2021

RHEBHA REAEA

—E=-= —E-—4F

—A+NA HAZ+NB

Y B8 B #E B B AR 1

Weighted average share price I R E HK$17.14 HK$11.04

17.14% 11.04% 7T

Weighted average exercise price MEFHITEE HK$17.14 HK$11.04

17148 11.048 7T

Expected volatility SERCh 81.16% 78.61%

Expected life TEHAE AFR 10 years 10 years

105 104F

Risk free rate 12 3 B ) 2 1.61% 1.43%

Expected dividend yield T8 HA AR B 0.00% 0.00%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over

the previous 10 years. The expected life used in the

model has been adjusted, based on the Group’s best

estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise

restrictions and behavioural considerations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

38. BMEEHEL2EEHER

TRFLAEERETHELE CAEE
ERESMNFRECEY  WETIMEL
Zﬁ{f%iﬂ1%$‘ilﬁ*\é}fﬁ$ﬁ§%

DERBERPNAETREZESRER
RARREME °

Loan from
Lease related Interest
liabilities parties payable Total
REBHRZ

HEAE EX EfHE &5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT AT AT AT

At 1 January 2022 RZZT-_—&—R4 13,535 194,527 3,750 211,812

Financing cash flows BEHERE (10,078) 80,000 = 69,923

Remeasurement of lease BN ERE (4,982) - = (4,982)

Interest expenses FEHEZ 1,205 10,949 = 12,154

Effect of initial recognition NEBRACTE 10,985 (18,550) = (7,565)

Exchange difference X ER (543) (303) = (847)

At 31 December 2022 and RZEZ_F

1 January 2023 +=ZR=+-8k

—Z-=%-A—H 10,122 266,623 3,750 280,495

Financing cash flows BERENE (7,043) 30,000 - 22,957

Remeasurement of lease ENFERE (614) - - (614)

Interest expenses FERX 750 15,983 = 16,733

Effect of initial recognition NEBRACTE 1,992 (11,089) = (9,097
Transfer (to)/from interest BEZ /GEMHE

payable — (750) 750 -

Exchange difference BN EE (72) = - (72)

At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=%+=-A=+-H 5,135 300,767 4,500 310,402

FENHEMERA T 2023 £ 237



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39. RAARZHMBMRRARFEESE X
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) EATBZHBERRE
Company
As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+-—H
2023 2022
—_E_= —_=EF=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FAT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets REBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WEREE 85 512
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RAR 2 E - 3,566
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 2,106 3,881
2,191 7,959
Current assets REBEE
Due from subsidiaries JE UR B B 2 B 5k I8 - 54,789
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments 24& - H b FE Uk 28 &
TE I 5K I8 946 960
946 55,749
Current liabilities REAE
Lease liabilities HEARFE 1,447 1,606
Other payables and accruals Hth f& I 3RIB X AT IR E 7,629 12,308
Loan from related parties REBE T 2ER 170,051 49,149
Due to subsidiaries NGRS 2,810 24,038
181,937 87,101
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAEEEH (180,991) (31,352)
Non-current liabilities kEFRBARE
Loan from related parties REBE T 2 ER 64,604 161,143
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,060 2,740
65,664 163,883
NET LIABILITIES BEFEH (244,464) (187,276)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXARREE
Share capital fi& A 3,110 3,110
Reserves B (247,574) (190,386)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCIES BEARE A (244,464) (187,276)

MR EFEN _F_-_MOFMN
A=+HAftERRELAE XHAT

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30

April 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: EEREES:
Cheng Ting Kong Yeung So Mui
BT B BEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(b)

Reserves movements of the Company

39. ATz MM K FHEE B R G

(b)

KRR z@EEEBR

Share-based

40. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

Shares  Contributed payments Other  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserves losses Total
(Note 40(5)()) ~ (Note 40(0)i) (Note 40(5)vi)
NRBRERY
RiRE PN e Bt 2t ER aE
(R stao(o)) (P 3E40(0)i) (Bt sE40(b)vii)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tan TAT THT THT THL THL
At 1 January 2022 W-E-—f-f—-H 294,884 42,967 7,467 15,059 (488,585) (128,208)
Loss for the year FREE - - - = (133,014) (133,014)
Capital contribution iE - - - 14,761 - 14,761
Share-based payments MRHBEBE - - 56,075 = = 56,075
At 31 December 2022 and RZZ-—F+-A=t-HK
1 January 2023 W-E-=#-f-H 294,884 42,967 63,542 29,820 (621,599) (190,386)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (71,707) (71,707)
Capital contribution EE = = = 8,245 = 8,245
Share-based payments PR BERE 3 - - 6,274 = = 6,274
Forfeiture of share options R ERE - = (22,948) = 22,948 =
At 31 December 2023 W-B-=£+-A=+-8 294,884 42,967 46,868 38,065 (670,358) (047 574)
40. #1E
Group (@) =%
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements AEB R ESEREEHEHIN
therein are presented in the consolidated statement meEmkEMEENERNAKE
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and EEREHEK -
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Nature and purpose of reserves (b) EZMERAZRE
(i)  Share premium (i) KREGEE

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is
available for paying distributions or dividends
to shareholders subject to the provisions of
its Memorandum and Articles of Association
and provided that immediately following the
distribution or dividend the Company is able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

REFERSRADE  ARQT
B B 10 )4 (B A AR 3R AN 2 ) Ay
MBERRALANETE -
FA A 1R B R AR H 9 R 3OK
BB EARRERRE D KK
R IR SR IDARRE I NE
BEXBBRETIHENE
& o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{Z — L —=F+ - A=+—H It FE

40. RESERVES (Continued)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

240 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company arose
as a result of the Corporate Reorganisation and
represents the excess of the then combined
net assets of the subsidiaries acquired, over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share
capital issued by the Company in exchange
for the nominal value of the share capital and
share premium of its subsidiaries arising from
group reorganisation on 8 September 2005
(“Corporate Reorganisation”).

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in Note 4(n) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

40. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

v)

(vi)

Capital reserve

This represents the transfer from retained
profits to capital reserve as a result of the
write off of certain trade payables by ZE&
ZXEAMBRAAE JUF ACR. Equipment
Supplies (Ningbo) Co., Ltd.) (“JF Ningbo”), a
subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) accounting
principles and financial regulations, any gains
arising from debt restructuring which represent
the difference between the final settlement
and the carrying value of the debt concerned
are directly reflected in capital reserve and
therefore not distributable. Accordingly, a
transfer has been made from retained profits to
capital reserve. The capital reserve can only be
used to increase capital of this subsidiary.

General reserve

The general reserve is set up by way of
appropriation from the profit after tax
in accordance with the relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC. The rate of
appropriation to the general reserve is subject
to the decision of the board of directors of PRC
subsidiaries, but the minimum appropriation
rate is 10% of the profit after tax for each
year, until when the accumulated balance
reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
subsidiaries. Pursuant to the relevant laws
and regulations of the PRC, if approvals
are obtained from the relevant government
authorities, the general reserve can be used in
setting off accumulated losses or to increase
the capital of the subsidiaries.
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40. RESERVES (Continued) 40. @%@

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (b) REZIMERABZR®E
(Continued)
(vii) Other reserves (vii) EHftf# i

242 mperium Technology Group Limited

The Group received loans from related parties.
These loans were unsecured, interest bearing
from 0% to 2% per annum and repayable
according to the terms of the loan agreements.
The fair value of these loans were estimated
at the prevailing market interest rates for
equivalent loans ranged from 3.98% to 8.75%
(2022: 5% to 5.625%) on initial recognition.

As one of the substantial shareholder of the
Company has beneficial interests in the related
parties, the difference between the principal
amount and the fair value of the loans on
initial recognition were considered as capital
contribution and recognised in the other
reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting

period are set out below:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

41.

Attributable

RMBARAZRE

MEARNREHRNFBHINT:

Nominal value of issued
and paid-up ordinary

Name and operation interest shares /registered capital Principal activities
gEMEL/ ERTRBREER
£ BYREE L EihEsz HAMEAHE TEXH
JF Household Furnishings (Asia) Ltd.  British Virgin Islands N/A 300 ordinary shares of US$1 Investment holding
(Note 1) each
BERXERM(EMERRAR(MZ) KEERRES THEB SORBREEIZETHLTEAR REZER
Seven Senses Game Company Hong Kong 100% 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$1 Design, development and
Limited each operation of online
games
tRRBEBERLA BE 10,000/ &R EE17E TTH Rit FAEREER L
TREERERAA Taiwan 100% 18,000,000 ordinary shares of ~ Design, development and
TWD1 each operation of online
games
=) 18,000,000 BREEIT ol Rt FABREERL
5 A g
BRHARLERNF Taiwan N/A 3,000,000 ordinary share of Design, development and
(Note 2) (§1:#2) TWD1 each operation of online
games
=) @M 3000000 BRAEIHNAY Rt REREERKL
LB R B
HINEEEBRBEERAT PRC 100%  Registered capital of Design, development and
RMB30,000,000 operation of online
games
HE i EARARK30,000,000 WA AEREESE
Cubinet Interactive Holdings Sdn. Malaysia 100% 200,000 ordinary share of Property investment
Bhd. MYRO.7 each
HRAE 200,000 BREEC7TLEN WERE
EREl
Seven Elements Interactive Digital Hong Kong 100% 1,000 ordinary shares of Cloud computing and
Technology Limited HK$1 each data storage
tTEHHBHEERRA Bk 1,000 & R E E178 T EHEREEBRE
R
Otey Technology Pte Limited Singapore 100% 2 ordinary share of SGD 2 Cloud computing and
each data storage
N 2% 5 AR T {27 A1 3% 7T &) RitEREERRE

L



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z — T - =€+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

41. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 41.

Place of
incorporation/

Nominal value of issued

RMBARZ®RE (®)

establishment Attributable and paid-up ordinary
Name and operation interest shares /registered capital  Principal activities
S ERTRBREER
L B R AR B EihiEz HMELHEE TEXK
Wanhui (Suzhou) Digital Technology ~ PRC 100%  Registered capital of Esports operation
Co., Ltd. RMB20,000,000
EBHMN BBMRERAA HE M EARARK20,000000T BFHEEE
Ningbo JF Metal Products Co., Ltd PRC 100%  Registered capital of Manufacturing and
US$140,000 processing of stainless
steel rods and other
accessories
ERREEBHMARRT g 1t & 140,000% 7T HERNMIAFHERA
1t B 4
Notes B =
il The Group had disposed its issued share capital during the year 1. AEBR-_E-_=F+=—_B=+—HIEFEBE
ended 31 December 2023. Details are disclosed in Note 35(b). HEHBBEITRA - 150 M E350)FHE -
2 The Group deemed disposed its share capital during the year ended 2. AREBRBE-—_E-_=#F#+-A=+—-HIt&E
31 December 2023. Details are disclosed in Note 35(a). EWHBAE HEHRA o 515 R M 535@)h &
= o

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE — T =+ _A=+—H It FE

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 42. EREIE
Significant capital commitments contracted for at the end of RBERARNBITNERNRERBECE
the reporting period but not yet recognised as liabilities is as RNERELEWNT :
follows:
2023 2022
—EC-=F S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTE T FHET
Game intellectual properties and % [Bk A0 5k = M A
licenses - 2,192
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 43. REHELH
The Group as lessor AEBEERERAA

KeHERAKEHEBRA—E=6MWE4A
BREMEARBE R EE(TAIEH) BRE
ERAAYERERHHERSBEEZDE
MR Z=AE -

Operating leases relate to investment property and plant and
machinery owned by the Group with lease terms of 1 to 3
years, with no extension. The lessee does not have an option
to purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: HENKERKREERENAT

2023 2022
—E=-= —F-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Within year 1 —FR 416 535
In the second year $ 11 =
Total et 427 535
The following table presents the amounts reported in profit TRENNEBZRBBRNS R
or loss:
2023 2022
—E=-= —F- =
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FTHET FAT
Rental income on operating leases KrEHENEEKRA 1,643 1,332

FENHEMERA T 2023 £ 245
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to those related party transactions and

ZEF+TZA=+—HIEFE

44. BABH RS
(@) BEEAEUBRREMIBOAKE

balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following

transactions with its related parties during the year:

MBS RS RERIN  RER A
SEREBEBITETUTRS:

2023 2022
—=-= —T=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET THET
Interest expense paid to RIATRAZNHEHE
— Imperium Credit Limited - FREEHBERAR (3,110) (2,364)
— Sun International Group Limited - REEBEEEERAA (7,347) (5,912)
— Imperium Group (Holdings) Limited - FEERZER)BRAH (2,596) (1,674)
— Mr. Cheng Ting Kong - BTHEAE (2,856) (121)
— Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry - BRKEE (275) (713)
Rental income from REUTEANHEERA
— Mr. Cheng Ting Kong —BTHEEAE 439 1,332
License fee charged by AT AR B 3T B
— Imperium Interactive Entertainment Limited - FRFEEHARADA (26) (82)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the key management personnel compensation paid by
the Group including amounts paid to the Company’s
director as disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements and the highest paid employees
as disclosed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR HRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 2 — T =%+ _A=+—HItFE

Balance with related parties

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had the
following balances with related parties:

44. BRI R 5 (&)

B2 BB T Y 45 BR

RZE_=ZFR_ZFE_—_F+=A

=t—H AKERBHSE TINE

%
2023 2022
—E-= —F-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FHET
Loans from related parties and KEBB R ZER R
related interest payable FERT AR T B
— Imperium Credit Limited — FEEEYBERAA (52,742) (50,211)
— Sun International Group Limited — K5EREE AR A A (126,640) (120,436)
— Imperium Group (Holdings) — FREEFER)ER
Limited AT (68,129) (49,399)
— Cheng Ting Kong — BT AEE (57,156) (29,121)
— Yeung Tong Seng Terry — BRERKEE (600) (19,416)
Amounts due from related parties ~ JEUT 5 5 2 T 1B
— Imperium Interactive — TREBEEHER AR
Entertainment Limited 570 532
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45.

46.

47.

48.

248 Imperium Technology Group Limited

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for
all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. Under the scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs
to the Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The Group has defined benefit obligations arising from one
of its subsidiaries, Cubinet (Thailand) Co. Ltd. Under labour
laws in Thailand, all employees with more than 120 days of
service are entitled to Legal Severance Payment benefits
ranging from 30 to 300 days of final salary upon termination
of service, including forced termination or retrenchment, or in
the event of retirement. The plan is unfunded and therefore
there is no plan asset.

COMPARATIVES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to be
consistent with the current year’s presentation.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Company entered into a co-publishing agreement
(“Co-Publishing Right”) dated 19 January 2024 with Imperium
Interactive Entertainment Limited (“Imperium Interactive”),
a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
and was indirectly owned as to 85% by the substantial
shareholder of the Company, pursuant to which Imperium
Interactive agreed to grant to the Company the co-publishing
right and a non-exclusive licence to allow the Group to use,
apply or exploit the intellectual property rights and goodwill
in respect of the game entitled Myth Of Empires. Further
details are disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 19 January 2024 and 5 February 2024.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 April
2024.
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H5% @ Bt E{E EAETE -

AEECERTEHS — K E 2R A Cubinet
(Thailand) Co. Ltd 2 @M B - IREFE 2
BTk AI{E@mi120BZFiEREERKILE
ER(BEEHKRIEIABRKER ET=E
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